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PART1 <L

:

In addition to historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 2 I E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The forward-
looking statements arée not historical facts but rather are based on current expectations, estimates and
projections about our-business and industry, and our beliefs and assumptions. Words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “expects,” “intend,” “plan,” “will" and variations of these-words and similar
expressions identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and .
are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, are difficult to
predict and could cause actual resulis to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward- |
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described in Item 1A “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this report. Forward-looking statements that were believed to be true at the time
made may ultimately prove 10 be incorrect or false. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the
results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. ' - oo
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

. Kana Software, Inc. (the “Company” or “KANA") offers an innovative approach to customer service with
cost-effective solutions that enhance the quality of customer interactions. Built on open standards for a high
degree of adaptability and integration, KANA solutions intelligently automate the processes needed to
successfully serve our clients’ customers, so that our clients can deliver higher value service at lower cost.
KANA provides an integrated solution which enables organizations to deliver consistent, managed service across
all channels, including email, chat, call centers, and Web self-service, ensuring a consistent service experience
across communication channels, We are headquartered in Menlo Park, California, with offices in Japan, Hong
Kong and,t_hroughout the United States and Europe.

We were incorporated in July 1996 in Callfomla and rcmcorporated in Delaware in September 1999.
References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “we,” “our” and “us’ collectwely refer to KANA, our
predecessor and our subsidiaries and its predecessors. Our principal executive offices are located at 181
Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, California 94025 and our telephone number is (650) 614-8300. Our Internet
website is located at http://www kana.com. We make available free of charge on,our website our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or fumlshed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act ’), as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it
to, the Securities and Exchanige Commission (“SEC”). All such filings are also available at the SEC Public
Reference Room at 100F.Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549, Information regarding the Public Reference Room
may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-(800)-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet site that contains
reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC which can be found at http://www.sec.gov.

)
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Our Strategy . - . . '

Deliver world class products that focus on improving customer satisfaction, mcreasmg corporate revenue
and reducmg the cost to prowde service. We beliéve that a significant perc¢entage of an enterprise’s cost of
providing service to its customers resides in resolving individual customer questions and problems, or cases.
These cases must be received, routed, racked and resolved by customer service agents. While many enterprises
possess technology capable of routing and tracking cases, the actual resolution of customer issues is largely
unautomated, and therefore is particularly costly. Our product portfolio, addresses this largely underserved
customer service resolution market. Our knowledge-powered customer service solutions focus on automating the




service resolution process across multiple channels. The majority of our license revenues are for applications that
are used by our customers’ agents (Assisted Service), or directly by their customers (Web Self-Service),
empowering them with knowledge and information to resolve their issues.

Parmer with the world’s leading system integrators. Our strategy is to focus our efforts on the sale of
software and support and to enter into strategic relationships with leading systems integrators in order to provide
our customers with a wide range of implementation, systems integration and consulting services. Qur
professional services organization augments the systems integrator partners’ resources with subject matter
expertise on our applications. Qur customers can benefit from the integrators’ deep KANA expertise of our
products, as well as their outstanding industry knowledge and proven integration success. In addition, these
integrators employ larger sales forces than we do, and we generally coordinate our sales efforts with them.

Deliver industry-specific applications. Some industries, such as banking, telecommunications and
healthcare, have exceptionally high volumes of customer interactions, and providing consistent and accurate
feedback to customers of companies in these industries has become increasingly difficult as the products and
offerings of such companies have become increasingly complicated. We continue to expand our portfolio of
applications to address the unique needs of our customers through a series of industry starter kits.

Products

KANA provides a suite of customer service software. Around the world, KANA’s multi-channel customer
service solutions are helping Global 2000 companies provide more intelligent, effective interactions with
customers, helping them build loyal and lasting customer relationships while reducing costs in the contact center.

KANA’s suite of multi-channel solutions is built on open standards for a high degree of adaptability and
flexibility. KANA solutions provide a critical link between contact centers and marketing departments, allowing
organizations to have effective, efficient interactions with customers across points of contact (including web,
telephone and e-mail) and throughout the enterprise. KANA employs robust reporting tools across its entire
product family to allow companies to continually analyze and improve their customer and partner relationships.
These features enable Global 2000 companies and other enterprises to reduce the cost of information access for
their employees, customers and partners while creating profitable customer relationships. '

. _ ) )

Our customers can deploy KANA's multi-channel solutions as a complete suite or as separate applications.

Qur solutions include the following products:

» KANA IQ—Bringing together a self-service application for customers along with an assisted-service
solution for contact center agents, KANA IQ is a sophisticated knowledge base that enables customers
and agents alike to quickly and accurately locate the information they need.

» KANA Response—KANA Response is a high-performance email management system that enables
agent-assisted service with fast, high-volume, intelligent, automated e-mail, Web and instant
messaging request managerment. ‘

+  KANA ResponselQ—KANA ResponselQ is a tightly-integrated combination of KANA 1Q and
KANA Response that enables companies to better manage e-mail responses to customer inguiries by
accessing a common knowledge base that routes requests through appropriate communications
channels. ResponselQ either automatically responds to customers’ requests with answers to their
questions or, when an automatic answer is unavailable or the customer indicates that the automatic
answer is not sufficient, forwards requests to the most qualified agents based on the rules set by the
organization. ‘

+  KANA Contact Center—KANA Contact Center is 2 mulii-channel customer service application for
contact centers that provides request management, solution publishing, self-service capabilities, and
extranet workflow.




* KANA Connect—KANA Connect automates the preparation and delivery of penmssmn-based
proactive messages throughout the customer llfecycle o
. . 1;, v, . LI . . . i .

Our apphcauons are des:gned to easily integrate with other enterprise software and lcgacy systems. They
can be installed on systems running Solaris, AIX, Linux or Windows operating systems, and provide customers
with capabilities for personalization, customer profile management, inquiry management, universal business
rules, knowledge management, and extranet workflow. They can be linked with customers’ legacy systems -
allowing customers to design their systemsto preserve previous investments. Our service orientated architecture
uses data modeling to make data located in external systems available in our:application without requiring the
data to be moved or replicated. KANA’s apphcanons are built on a single web-architected platform, which we
refer to as KANA's Enterprise Application Framework This service-oriented framework pr0v1des KANA's -
customers with full access to our applications using a standard web browser and without requiring them to install
additional software on their individual computers. We also offer our applications on a hosted basis, through our
OnDemand service offering, for a subscription fee. The OnDemand service offering delivers enterprise-class
security, reliability and performance needed for hlgh-volume customer service operations, as well as a “Software
as a Service” solution, > : :

Alliances N .

We enter into strategic relationships with leading systems integrators that have developed significant
expertise with our web-architected applications and aré able to provide customers with a wide range of
consulting, implementation and systems integration services. Our systems integrator partners are involved in
most customer engagements and, in 2001, we sxgmﬁcamly reduced the size of our professional services team and
narrowed the scope of our proféssional services program in part to ensure that we did not compete with these key
partners for professional services ‘engagements: In addition, many of these systems integrators act as resellers for
our products, and we rely on them for assistance in‘driving our sales efforts. We believe that support for our
products by these systems integrators is increasingly important in influencing new customers’ decisions to
license our products. Our systems mtegrator partners include Accenture, BearingPoint, and International
Business Machines (“IBM™) Business Consulting Services. These integrators have been integral to KANA's -
success in selling its products to large-organizations such as Advanced Micro Devices, Blue Cross and Blue
Shield of Minnesota, Dell Computer Corp., eBay, nghmark 02, Sony Electronics, Inc., Sprint, Wachovia and
Yahoo! et

! | L I

Services and Support

Customer Support. Qur customer sitpport group uses KANA’s own applications to provide muiti-chnne!
global support for our customers and’ partners, incluidi'ng phone and e-mail support and self-service solutions via
our KANA Customer and KANA Partner ctstomer support portals. :

e

Professional Services. Our worldwide consulting and education services group provides business and ’
technical expertise to support our alliance partners and customers. Qur consulting services group works closely
with systems integrators during implementations to lend technical experience and functional product expertise
and to assist the integrators in providing our customers with high-quality, successful, enterprise-wide !
implementations. Education services provides'a full set of training programs and materials for our ¢ustomers and
partners, including a comprehensive set of coursés for'end users, business consultants and developers, whlch are
available through instructor-led, web-based and on-site classes. :

. . L

Each of our service groups provide up-to-date information to our customers and partners through quarterly *

newsletters, as well as real time updates to our customer and partner facing knowledge base. i

[k




Sales

Our sales strategy is to focus on Global 2000 companies through a combination of strategic alliances and
our direct sales force. We maintain direct sales personnel across the United States and internationaltly throughout
Europe, Asia-Pacific and Canada. In 2006, we added an Inside Sales Organization that is focused on the small,
medium business (SMB) marketplace. '

Customers

Our customers range from Global 2000 companies to growing comparies pursuing. an e-business strategy.
The following is a list of customers that we believe are representative of our overall ¢

Financial Services

.

Ameritrade

Axa

Bank of America

Bank Leumi

Capital One

Citizens Bank

Citigroup

Create Services (Lloyds TSB)
JP Morgan Chase
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sumitomo Mitsui Card Company
TD Waterhouse

Wachovia

Washington Mutual

Health Care

Allergan .

Blue Cross Blue Shield Minnesota
Cigna

Highmark

Kaiser Permanente

High Technology

Amadeus

BEA Systems
Combots

Dell Computer Corp.
Earthlink

eBay

CAP GEMINI
Hewlett-Packard
IBM

Linkedin

Malam Information Technologies
NEC

Palm

Siemens

Texas Instruments
Yahoo!

Communications

AT&T

BellCanada

BellSouth

CarPhone Warehouse
Cingular Wireless
Comcast

Eircom

Hutchison 3G

02 .

SBC

Sprint

Telstra

TRACFone Wireless, Inc.
Verizon Communications
Vernizon Wircless
Wanadoo Nerderland B.V.

Government/Education

‘Open University
State of California
State of Ohio

ustomer base:

]

Her Majesty Revenues & Customs (HMRC)

Transportation/Hospitality

America West Airlines
Best Western International
British Airways

Delta Airlines

Disney

Jet Blue Airways

KLM

Northwest Airtines
Priceline.com

Travelocity




Manufacturing/Consumer Goods - Retail v . . < .

ADC ' R 1-800 Flowers © + ' - ¢ L

Canon o C o © Avon.com ot

Creative Labs B T Barnes & Noble.com - g
Daimler-Chrysler - ' eBay '

Nissan Hermeés

Polycom Home Depot

Sony Electronics, Inc. S ' Staples.com - ' '
Taylor Made e ' ' Target =~

Xerox oo " TheGap =~ ¢ - C

Williams-Sonoma

.
K . ] [— 4. oot R 7 . f

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues in 2006. One customér, TBM, who resells our
software to its customers, accounted for 11% ‘of our total revenues in both 2005 and 2004 A'substantial portion
of our license and service revenues in any given quarter has been, and we expect will continue tG be, generated
from a limiited number of customers. Our chief ‘operating decision maker reviews financial information presented
on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues by géographic region for
purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Accordingly, we consider ourselves
to be in a single industry segment: specifically the licensing and support of our software applications. Révenue
classification is based upon customer location. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Itemn 8
for geographic'information on revénue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and our long-
lived assets (Property and Equipment, net, and Other Assets), at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

PR S P . . . S

Research'and Development, . . = ., . . . -

We believe that strong product development capabilities are essential to our strategy of enhancing our core
technology, developing additional applications incorporating that technology and maintaining the
competitiveness of our product and service offerings. We have invested significant time and resources in creating
a structured process for undertaking all product development. In the first quarter of 2003, we began
implementing an outsourcing strategy, which involves subcontracting a significant portion of our software
programming, quality assurance and téchnical documentation activities to HCL, Accenturé, [BM and -
BearingPoint with staffing in India and China. A sibstantial’ afourit of outsourcing resources was devoted to
developing a new version of our solutions on a J2EE architecture, which was released in December 2004. We
began to significantly reduce the scope of our outsourced development activities in early 2005 to better align our
costs with our revenues and in 2006 we began to move all development back on-shore (6 our offices in Menlo -
Park, California and Manchester, New Hampshire. This reduces our cost and dependency on outside firms.

Our success significantly depends on our ability to enhance our existing customer service solutions and to
develop new services, functionality and technology that address the increasingly sophisticited and varied needs
of our existing and prospective customers. The challenges of developing new products and enhancements require
us to commit a substantial amount of resources, and we might not be able to develop or introduce new products
on a tlmely or cost-effective basis, or at all, Wthh could lead. exlstmg and potermal customers to choose a
compentor s products. o : R - '

. C, . .

" Qur research and development expenses were $10 8 mllhon ‘$13.2 million; and $19. 6 mllllon n 2006 2005,

and 2004 respecuvely oo : S SR
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Competition . ‘ . S . |

C e v

The market for our products and services is intensely competitive, evolving and subject to rapid
technological change. We currently face competition for our products from software designed by our customers’
in-house development teams and by third parties. We expect that these competing software applications will

5




continue to be a major source of competition for the foreseeable future. Our primary competitors for customer
relationship management software platforms are larger, more established companies such as Oracle. We also face
competition from Chordiant Software, ATG, Amdocs, Knova (a subsidiary of Consona Corporation), Talisma,
eGain, RightNow, Instranet and Pegasystems with respect to several specific applications we offer. We may face
increased competition upon introduction of new products or upgrades from competitors, especially knowledge-
powered products.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our industry include having a signiﬁcaht base of
cusiomers recommending our products, the breadth and depth of a given sotution, product cost, product quality
and performance, customer service, product scalability and reliability, product features, ability to implement
solutions, and perception of financial position. We believe that our products currently compete favorably with
respect to many of these factors, and, in particular, that our web-based architecture provides us with a
competitive advantage because it allows for greater product scalability and rapid implementation. However, we
may not be able to maintain our competitive position against current and potential competitors, especially those
with greater financial, marketing, service, support, technical and other resources, and who may, for example, be
able to add features or functionality to their competing products more quickly or decide to sell their products to
their existing customer bases for other products. ,

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing and other resources, significantly greater name recognition and a larger installed base of customers
than we have, In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our current and
potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our industry. We may lose potential customers to
competitors for various reasons, including the possible introduction by competitors of new software hosting
technologies, which could be more scalable, easier to implement and cheaper than the current technologies, and
the ability or willingness of competitors to offer lower prices and other incentives that we cannot match: It is
possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market
share. We also expect that competition will increase as a result of industry consolidations.

Intetlectual Property

We rely upon a combination of patent, copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, and contractual
restrictions, such as confidentiality agreements and licenses, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. We
currently have six issued U.S. patents, four of which expire in 2018 and two of which expire in 2020,.and a
number of U.S. patent applications pending. Qur pending applications, if allowed, in conjunction with our issued
patents, would cover a significant portion of the technelogy underlying our products and services. We have also
filed international patent applications corresponding to some of our U.S. applications. In addition, we have
several trademarks that are registered or pending registration in the U.S. and abroad. Although we rely on patent,
copyright, trade secret and trademark law to protect our technology, we believe that factors such as the
technological and creative skills of our personnel, new product development, frequent product enhancements and
reliable product maintenance are more essential to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position,

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise
obtain and use our products or technology or to develop products with the same functionality as our products,
Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult. Also, the laws of other countries in which we market our
products may offer little or no effective protection of pur proprictary technology. Furthermore, our competitors
could independently develop technologies equivalent to ours, and our intellectual property rights may not be
broad enough for us to prevent such competitors from selling products incorporating those technologies. Reverse
engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprictary technology could enable third
parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it, which would significantly harm our business.

Substantial litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in our industry. We expect that software in
our industry may be increasingly subject to third-party infringement-claims as. the number of competitors grows
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and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps. Some of our competitors in the market
for customer communications software may have filed or may intend to file patent applications covering aspects
of their technology that they may claim our technology infringes. Such competitors could make a claim of
infringement against us with respect to our products and technology.' Third parties may currently have, or may
eventually be issued, patents upon which our current or future products or technology infringe. Any of these third
parties might make a claim of infringement against us. See Itern 1A “Risk Factors”—"We may become involved
in litigation over proprietary rights, which could be costly and time consuming.”

Backlog

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 we had $18.7 million and $17.9 million, respectively, in backlog, which
relates to firm orders, with $523,000 and $516,000, respectively, not expected to be recognized within one year
due to the timing of obligations in the underlying agreement. The substantial majority of these firm orders relates
to annual support contracts, and was invoiced and recorded as deferred revenue as of December 31, 2006 and
2005.

Employees

As of Decembcr 31 2006 we had 181 full-time employees, compared to 125 full-time employees as of
December 31 .2005. Of the 181 employees at December 31, 2006, 48 were in our servmes and support group, 65
were in sales and marketing, 37 were in research and development, and 31 were in ﬁnance legal, information
tcchnology (“IT”) and adminjstration,

et




ITEM ]A,RISK FACTORS,

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing business environment that involves substantial risks and
uncertainty, including but not limited to the specific risks identified below. The risks described below are not the
only ones facing our company. Additional risks not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial,
may become important factors that impair our business operations. Any of these risks could cause, or contribute
to causing, our actual results to differ materially from expectations. Prospective and existing investors are
strongly urged to carefully consider the various cautionary statements and risks set forth in this report and our
other public filings.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of losses and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and maintain
profitability. .

Since we began operations in 1997, our revenues have not been sufficient to support our operations, and we
have incurred substantial operating losses every year. As of December 31, 2006, our accumulated deficit was
approximately $4.3 billion, which includes approximately $2.7 billion related to goodwill impairment charges.
Our stockholders’ deficit at December 31, 2006 was $3.1 million. We continue to commit a substantial
investment of resources to sales, product marketing, and developing new products and enhancements, and we
will need to increase ouf revenue to achieve profitability and positive cash flows. Our expectations as to when we
can achieve positive cash flows, and as to our future cash balances, are subject to a number of assumptions,
including assumptions regarding improvements in general economic conditions and customer purchasing and
payment patterns, many of which are beyond our control. Our history of losses has previously caused some of
our potential customers to question our viability, which has in turn hampered our ability to sell some of our
products. Additionally, our revenue has been affected by the uncertain economic conditions in recent years, both
generally and in our market. As a resuit of these conditions, we have experienced and expect to continue to
experience difficulties in attracting new customers, which means that, even if sales of our products and services
grow, we may continue to experience losses, which may cause the price of our stock to decline,

The relatively large size of many of our expected license transactions could contribute to our failure to meet
expected sales in any given quarter and could materially harm our operating results.

Our revenues and results of operations may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors. Our revenues are
especially subject to fluctuation because they depend on the completion of relatively large orders for our products
and related services. The average size of our license transactions is generally large relative to our total revenue in
any quarter, particularly as we have focused on larger enterprise customers, on licensing our more
comprehensive integrated products, and have involved system integrators in our sales process. If sales expected
from a specific customer in a particular quarter are not realized in that quarter, we are unlikely to be able to
generate revenue from alternate sources in time to compensate for the shortfall. Fluctuations in our results of
operations may be due to a number of additional factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to retain and
increase our customer base, changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors, the timing and success of
new product introductions by us or oar competitors, the sales cycle for our products, our fixed expenses, the
purchasing and budgeting cycles of our clients, and general economic, industry and marketing conditions.

This dependence on large orders makes our net revenue and operating results more likely to vary from
quarter to quarter, and more difficult to predict, because the loss of any particular large order is significant. In
recent periods, we have experienced increases in the length of a typical sales cycle. This trend may add to the
uncertainty of our future operating results and reduce our ability to anticipate our future revenues. Moreover, to
the extent that significant sales occur earlier than anticipated, revenues for subsequent quarters may be lower
than expected. As a result, our operating results could suffer if any large orders are delayed or canceled in any
future period. In part as a result of this aspect of our business, our quarterly revenues and operating results may
fluctuate in future periods and we may fail to meet the expectations of investors and public market analysts,
which could cause the price of cur common stock to decline.

8




We may not be able to' forecast our revenues accurately because our products have a long and variable sales
cycle and we rely on systems mtegrator partners for sales : e ‘ o T
. e i g . y :

- v

The long sales cycle for our products may cause license revenue and operating results to vary significantly
from period to penod To date, the sales cycle for most of our product sales has taken anywhere from 610 18
months. Our sales cycle typically requires pre-purchase evaluation'by a srgmﬁcant numbet’of individuals in our
customers’ organizations. Along with third parties that often joinily market our software with us, we invest "
significant amounts of time and resources educating and providing information to prospectlve custorners
regarding the use and benefits of our products. Many of our customers evaluate our software slowly and
deliberately, depending on the specific technical capabilities of the customer, the size of the deployment; the
complexity of the customer’s network environment, and thie quantity of iardware and the degree of hardware -
conﬁguralion necessary to deploy our products.

: . P L ., O, .

Furthermore we rely to a srgnlﬁcam extent on systems mtegrators to ‘identify, influerice, and manage large
transactions with customers, and we expect this trend to continue as our mdustry consohdates Selhng our
products in conjunction with our systems integrators who mcorporate our products 1nt0 their offermgs Can
involve a particularly long and unpredictable sales cycle, as it typlca}ly takes more trme for the prospecuve
customer to evaluate proposals from multlple vendors In addrtron when systems mtegrators propose the use of *
our products to their customers, it is typlcally part of a larger prolect whrch can require more lévels of cuslomer
approvals. We have little or no control over the sales cycle of an mtegrator-led transaction or our customers
budgetary constramts and internal decision- -making and acceptance processes v e

' ' i ,;_t'. Lt

As a result of 1nereasmgly long sales cycles, we have faced mcreased dlfﬁculty in predlctmg our operaung

results for any given period, and have experienced significant unantrclpated fluctuations in our revenues from

period to period. Any failure to achieve anticipated revenues for a period could cause our stock price to decline.
L | N

Our busmess relies heavily on customer service solutions, and these solunons may not gain market

acceptance. \

w i Do

We have made customer service solutions our main focus and, in recent periods, have allocated a significant
portion of our research and development and marketing resources to the development and. promotion of such
products. If these products are not accepted by potential customers, our business would, be materially adversely .
affected. For our current business model to succeed, we believe that we will need to convince new and-exis;'ing
customers of the merits of purchasing our customer service solutions over traditional cystomer.relationship
management, or CRM, solutions and competitors’ customer service solutions. Many of these customers have
previously invested substantial resources in adopting and implementing their existing CRM products, whether
such products are ours or are those of our competitors. We may be unable to convince customers and potential .
customers that it is worth them purchasing substantial new software packages to provide them with our, specific
customer service capabilities. If our strategy of offering customer service solutions fails, we may not be able to,
sell sufficient quantities of our product offerings to generate significant license revenues; and our business could
be harmed. I o ‘ . o . Lo

. L T - ) 4 '
Our expenses are generally Jixed and we will not be able to-reduce these expenses quickly if we fail to meet
our revenue expectations.
' Lo . . by, \ - Ly .

Most of our expenses, such as employee compensation and outsourcing of technical support and certain
development functions, are relatively fixed in the short term. Other expenses like leases are fixed and are imore
long term, Moreover, our forecast is based, in part, upon our expectations regarding future revenue levels. As a
result, in any particular quarter our total revenue can be below expectation and we could not proportionately
reduce operating expenses for that quarter. Accordingly, such a revenué shortfall would have a dlsproportlonate
negative effect on our expected operating results for that quarter.
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If we fail to generate sufficient revenues to support our business and require additional financing, failure to
obtain such financing would affect our ability to maintain our operations and to grow our business, and the
terms of any financing we obtain may impair the rights of our existing stockholders.

In the future, we may be required to seek additional financing to fund our operations or growth, and such
financing may not be available to us, or may impair the rights of our existing stockholders, Furthermore, any
failure to raise sufficient capital in a timely fashion could prevent us from growing or pursuing our strategies or
cause us to limit our operations and cause potential customers to question our financial viability. We had cash
and cash equivalents of $5.7 million at December 31, 2006, It is possible that our cash position could decrease
over the next few quarters and some customers will be increasingly concerned about our cash situation and our
ongoing ability to update and maintain our products. This could significantly harm our sales efforts.

Factors such as the commercial success of our existing products and services, the timing and success of any
new products and services, the progress of our research and development efforts, our results of operations, the
status of competitive products and services, and the timing and success of potential strategic alliances or potential
opportunities to acquire or sell technologies or assets may require us [o seek additional funding sooner than we
expect. In the event that we require additional cash, we may not be able to secure additional financing on terms
that are acceptable to us, especially in the current uncertain market climate, and we may not be successful in
implementing or negotiating other arrangements to improve our cash position. If we raise additional funds
through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders would
be reduced and the securities we issue might have rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of our
current stockholders. If adequate funds were not available on acceptable terms, our ability to achieve or sustain
positive cash flows, maintain current operations, fund any potential expansion, take advantage of unanticipated
opportunities, develop or enhance products or services, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be
significantly limited. '

If we fail to grow our customer base or generate repeat business, our operating results could be harmed.

Qur business model generally depends on the sale of our products to new customers as well as on expanded
use of our products within our customers’ organizations. If we fail to grow our customer base or generate repeat
and expanded business from our current and future customers, our business and operating resulis will be
seriously harmed. In some cases, our customers initially make a limited purchase of our products and services for
pilot programs. These customers may not purchase additional licenses to expand their use of our products. If
these customers do not successfully develop and deploy initial applications based on our products, they may
choose not to purchase deployment licenses or additional development licenses. In addition, as we introduce new
versions of our products, new product lines or new product features, our current customers might not require the
additional functionality we offer and might not ultimately license these products. Furthermore, because the total
amount of maintenance and support fees we receive in any period depends in large part on the size and number of
licenses that we have previously sold, any downturn in our software license revenue would negatively affect our
future services revenue. Also, if customers elect not to renew their support agrecments, our SEIrvices revenue
could decline significantly. If cusiomers are unable to pay for their current products or are unwilling to purchase
additional products, our revenues would decline. Additionally, a substantial percentage of our sales come from
repeat customers. If a significant existing customer or a group of existing customers decide not to repeat business
with us, our revenues would decline and our business would be harmed.

We face substantial competition and may not be able to compete effectively.

The market for our products and services is intensely competitive, evolving, and subject to rapid
technological change. From time to time, our competitors reduce the prices of their products and services
(substantially in certain cases) in order to obtain new customers. Competitive pressures could make it difficult for
us to acquire and retain customers and could require us to reduce the price of our products. Any such changes
would likely reduce margins and could adversely affect operating results.
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Our'customers’ requirements and the'technology available to satisfy those requirements are-continually
changirig. Therefore, we must be able to respond to these changes in order to remain competitive. If our -
infernational development partners do not adéquately perform the software programming, quality assurance, and
technical documentation activities we outsourced, we may not be able to respond to such changes as‘quickly or
effectively. Changes in out products may also make it'more difficult for our sales foice to sell effectively. In
addition, changes in custoniers’ demaid-for the specific products, product features, and services of other
companies’ may result in our products becoming ‘incompetitive, We expect the intensity of competition to
increase in the future. Furthermore, we could lose market share if our competitors introduce new competitive
products, add new- fun'ctiona]ity, acquiré compétitive products, reduce prices or form strategic alliances with
other companies. We may not be able to compete successfully agamst current and future competrtors and
competitive pressures may seriously harm-our business. ~ . S e :

Our competttors vary in size and in the'scope and breadth of products and’ serv1ces offered; We' currently
face competmon w:th our products from systems desrgned in-house and by our competitors! We expect that these
systems will continue to'be a major source ‘of competition for the foreseeable future. Our primary competitors for
electronic CRM platfonns are larger, more established compames such as Oracle; which recently acquired Siebel
Systems. The rate at which competitors are consohdatmg is increasing. We also face competition from Chordiant
Software, ATG, Amdocs Knova (a subsidiary of Consona Corporation), Talisma, eGain, RrghtNow Instranet,
and Pegasystems with respect to specrﬁc applications’ we offer. We may face mcreased competition upon
introduction of new products or upgrades from competitors, or if we ‘expand our product line through' acqursmon
of complememary busiriesse§ or otherwrse As we have combined and enhancéd-our product lines to offer a tnoré
comprehensive software Solution, we ‘are increasingly competlng with’ large ‘established providers of customer
management and communication solutions as well as other competitors. Our combined product line may not be
sufficient to successfully compete wrth the product offerings avallable from these compames which could slow |
our growth and harm our business. . “; i ST

[ PR T S A O B s

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing, and other resources, srgmﬁcantly greater name recognition and a larger mstalled base of customers
than we have Asa result our compet1tprs may be able to respond more qutckly than we can to new or changing
opponumtres technologres standards or chent requirements or devote greater resources to the’ promotton and,
sale of their products and servrces than we can. In addttron many of our competttors have well- establlshed
relat1onsh1ps wrth our, current and potentral customers and have extensive knowledge of our rndustry We may
lose potenttal customers to competltors for vanous reasons, 1nclud1ng the ab111ty or wrllmgness of Competitors to
offer lower prices and other incentives that we cannot match. It is possible that new competitors or a]]rances
among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share. We also expect that competmon
will increase as a result of recent’tndustry_consqlrdauons, as well as anticipated future consolidations. | N

We rely on marketing, technology, and distribution relationships for the sale, installation, and support of ou;' )
products that may generally be terminated at any time, and if our current.and future relatwnshtps are not
successful, our grawth might be limited, , _ " T ,

. ) 1 [ . [TRRS N . *

We rely on marketmg and technology relattonshtps with a variety of companies, including systems
integrators, or “Sls” and consulting firms that, among other things, generate leads for the sale of our products and
provide our customers with implementation, and ongoing support. If we cannot maintain successful marketing
and technology relationships or if we fail to enter into additional such relationships, we could have difficulty
expanding the sales of our products and our growth might be limited.

A significant percemage of our revenues depend on leads generated by Sis and their recornmendanons of
our products. If Sls do not successfully market our products, our operating results will be materially harmed. In
addition, many of our direct sales are o customers that will be relying on Sls to 1mplement our products and if
SIs are not familiar with our technology-or able to successfully implernent our products, our operating results will
be materially harmed. We expect to continiie increasing our leverage of Sls as‘indirect sales channels and, if this
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strategy is successful, our dependence on the efforts of these third parties for revenue growth and customer
service will remain high. Our reliance on third parties for these functions has reduced our control over such
activities and reduced our ability to perform such functions internally. If we come to rely primarily on a single SI
that subsequently terminates its relationship with us, becomes insolvent or is acquired by another company with
which we have no relationship, or decides not to provide implementation services related 10 our products, we
may not be able to internally generate sufficient revenue or increase the revenues generated by our other SI
relationships to offset the resulting lost revenues. Furthermore, SIs typically suggest our solution in combination
with other preducts and services, some of which may compete with our solution. SIs are not required to promote
any fixed quantities of our products, are not bound to promote our products exclusively, and may act as indirect
sales channels for our competitors. If these companies choose not to promote our products or if they develop,
market, or recommend software applications that compete with our products, our business will be harmed.

In addition to relying on Sls to recommend our products, we aiso rely on SIs and other third-party resellers
to install and support our products. If the companies providing these services fail to implement our products
successfully for our customers, the customer may be unable to complete implementation on the schedule that it
had anticipated and we may have increased customer dissatisfaction or difficulty making future sales as a result.
We might not be able to maintain our relationships with SIs and other indirect sales channel partners and enter
into additional relationships that will provide timely and cost-effective customer support and service. If we
cannot maintain successful relationships with our indirect sales channel partners, we might have difficulty
expanding the sales of our products and our growth could be limited. In addition, if _suf:h third parties do not
provide the support our customers need, we may be required to hire subcontractors to provide these professional
services. Increased use of subcontractors would harm our margins because it costs us more to hire subcontractors
to perform these services than it would to provide the services ourselves,

Because certain customers account for a substantial portion of eur revenues, the loss of a significant customer
could cause a substantial decline in our revenues.

One customer, IBM who resells our software to its customers, accounted for 9%, 11% and 11% of our
revenue in 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, Given that we derive a significant portion of our license and
service revenues from IBM, the loss of this customer could cause a decrease in revenues and operating results.
Furthermore, if we lose major customers, or if a contract is delayed or cancelled or we do not contract with new
major customers, our revenues and net loss would be adversely affected. In addition, custorners that have
accounted for significant revenuies in the past may not generate revenues in any future period, and our failure to
obtain new significant customers or additional orders from existing customers could materially affect our
operating results. ' '

We may not receive significant revenues from our current research and development efforts for several years,
if at all.

%

Developing and localizing software is expensive and the investment in product development often involves
a long payback cycle. We have and expect to continue making significant investments-in software research and
development and related product opportunities. Enhancing our products and pursuing new product developments
require high levels of expenditares for research and development that could adversely affect our operating results
if not offset by revenue increases. We believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources
to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive position. However, we do not expect to
receive significant revenues from these investments for several years, if at all.

Changes in our workforce may adversely affect our ability to release products and product updates in a timely
manner. o ’ :

We reduced our employee headcount in 2005 from a total of 181 as of December 31, 2004 to 125 as of
December 31, 2005 and then increased to 181 as of December 31, 2006. The majority of the 2005 reduction was
the result of our decision to shift a significant portion of our software programming, quality assurance and
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technical documientation activities to international development partners in early 2003, a strategy we have since
reversed through our “back-shéring” process. We reduced the size of our research and development department
from 34 employees as of December 31, 2004, to 30 employees as of December 31, 2005 and then increased to 37
as of December 31, 2006. In addition, we reduced the level of our expenditures on outsourced development in -
2005, and, in December 2005, we consolidated a significant portion of our research and development operations
into one location in Menlo Park, California to optimize-our research and development processes and decrease
overall operatmg expenses. As a result, we terminated the employment of 15 employees based in our New
Harbpshii€ office. The changes in ouir research’ and development headcount and the reductions in our outsourced
development capacity may limit our ability to release products within expected timeframes. For example, many
of the em'pl()yecs who were terminated in headcount reductions possessed specific knowledgc or expertise that
may prove to have been 1mp0rtant to our operation, and which was not replaced in our more recent headcount
increases. As aresult our ability to réspond to unexpected challeriges may be impaired and we may be unabie to
take advantage ‘of new opportunities. Personnel reductions may also subject us to the risk of litigation, which "
may adversely impact our ability to conduct our operations and may cause us to incur significant expense. Our’
termination of two outsourcing arrangements in early 2005 may further reduce our ability to respond to -
dcvelopmcm challcnges and to introduce new products in expected tlmcframcs

[ -

We may be unable to hire and retain the skilled personnel necessary to develap and grow our busmess

Frand

Wé rely on the continued service of our senior management and other key employees and the hmng of new
qualified employces In the'softwaré industry, there is substantial and continuous competition for highly skilled
busmcss product ‘development, technical and other personnel. Given the concern over our long-term financial
strength, we may not be successful in recruiting new personnel and retaining and motivating existing personnel,
which could lead to increased turnover and reduce our ability to meet the needs of our ¢urrent and future
customers. Because ‘our stock price declined drastically in recent years, and has not experienced any sustained
recovery from the decline, stock-based compensation, including options to purchase our common stock, may
have diminished effectiveness as employee hmng and fetention devices. If we are unable to retain qualified’
personncl we could face disfuptions to operations, loss of key information, expemse orknow-how, and '’
unanticipated additional recruitment and training costs. If employee turnover increases, our ability to provide
customer scrvicc and execptc our strategy woa‘ld be negatively affcctcd. ‘ C

For example, our ability to increase revenues in the future depends considerably upon our success in training
and retammg effective direct sales personnel and the success of our direct sales force. We might not be
successful in these efforts Our products and services requnre sophlsncated sales efforts. We have experienced
sngmficant turnover in our salcs force mc]udmg domestic sem'or sales management, and may experience further
turnover in future periods. It gencrally takes a new salesperson nine or more months to becomie productive, and
they may not be able to generate new sales. Our busmcss ‘will be harmed if weé fail to retain quallﬁed sales
personnc.l or if newly hired salespeople fail 10 develop the necessary sales skills or develop these skills more
slowly than ant1c1pa(ed Additionally, we necd to rccrun cxpenenced devclopers asa result of our back shonng
initiative.

'
If we fail to respond to changing customer preferences in our market, demand.for our products and our ability
to enhance our revenues will suffer. . '

If we do not continue 1o improve our products and develop new products that keep pace with competitive
product introductions and technological developments, satisfy diverse and rapidly evolving customer
requirements, and achieve market acceptance, we might be unable to attract new customers. Our industry is
characterized by rapid and substantial developments in the technologies and products that enjoy widespread
accepiance among prospective and existing customers. The development of proprietary technology and necessary
service enhaicements entails significant technical and business risks and requires substantial expenditures and
lead-time. In addition, if our international development partners fail to provide the development Support we need,
our products and product documentation could fall behind those produced by our competitors, causing us to lose-
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customers and sales. We might not be successful in marketing and supporting our products or developing and
marketing other product enhancements and new products that respond to technological advances and market
changes, on a timely or cost-effective basis. In addition, even if these products are developed and released, they
might not achieve market acceptance. We have experienced delays in releasing new products and product
enhancements in the past and could experience similar delays in the future. These delays or problems in the
installation or implementation of our new releases could cause us to lose customers.

.

Our failure to manaée multiple technologies and technological change could reduce demand Jor our products.

Rapidly changing technology and operating systems, changes in customer requirements, and evolving
industry standards might impede market acceptance of our products. Our products are designed based upon
currently prevailing technology to work on a variety of hardware and software platforms used by our customers.
However, our software may not operate correctly on evolving versions of hardware and software platforms,
programming languages, database environments, and other systems that our customers use. If new technologies
emerge that are incompatible with our products, or if competing products emerge that are based on new ,
technologies or new industry standards and that perform better or cost less than our products, our key products
could become obsolete and our existing and potential customers could seek alternatives to our products. We must
constantly modify and improve our products to keep pace with changes made to these platforms and to database
systems and other back-office applications and Internet-related applications. Furthermore, software adapters are
necessary to integrate our products with other systems and data sources used by our customers. We must develop
and update these adapters to reflect changes to these systems and data sources in order to maintain the
functionality provided by our products. As a result, uncertainties related to the timing and nature of new product
announcements, introductions or modifications by vendors of operating systems, databases, customer relationship
management software, web servers and other enterprise and Internet-based applications could delay our product
development, increase our product development expense or cause customers to delay evaluation, purchase and
deployment of our analytics products. Furthermore, if our international developmem partners fail to respond
adequately when adaptation of our products is required, our ability io respond would be hampered even if such
uncertainties were eliminated. If we fail to modify or improve our products in response to evolving industry '
standards, our products could rapidly become obsolete. '

Our success depends upon our ability to develop new products and enhance our existing products on a timely
basis.

The challenges of developing new products and enhancements require us to commit a substantial investment
of resources to development, and we might not be able to develop or introduce new products on o timely or cost-
effective basis, or at all, which could be exploited by our competitors and lead potential customers to choose
alternative products. To be competitive, we must develop and introduce on a timely basis new products and
product enhancements for companies with significant e- busmess customer interactions needs. Our ability to
deliver competitive products may be negatively affected by the diversion of resources to development of our
suite of products, and responding to changes in competitive products and in the demands of our customers. If we
experience product delays in the future, we may face:

* customer dissatisfaction;
» cancellation of orders and license agreements;
* negative publicity; - : . , be
* loss of revenues; and
» -slower market acceptance.
Furthermore, delays, in bnngmg new products or enhancements to market can result, for example, from

potential difficulties with managing outsourced research and devclopmem or from loss of institutional knowledge
through reductions in force, or the existence of defects in new products or their enhancements.
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Failure to licensé necessary th:rd-party software incorporated in our products could cause delays or
reductions in our sales. . . .

We license third-party software that we incorporate into our products. These licenses may not continue to be
available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Some of this technology would be difficult to replace. The
loss of any of these licenses could result in delays or reductions of our applications until we identify, license and
integrate, or develop equivalent software. If we are required to-enter into license agreements with third parties for
replacement technology, we could face higher royalty payments and our products may lose certain attributes or
features. In the future, we might need to license other software to enhance our products and meet evolving
customer needs. If we are unable to do this, we could experience reduced demand for our products.

Defects i m thtrd-party pmducts assacmted w:th our pmducts could i unpatr our products’ Junctionality and
injure our reputanon. - . . -
. ; . : .

The cffective implementation of our products depends upon the successful operation of third-party products
in conjunction with our products. Any undetected defects in these third-party products could prevent the
implementation or impair the functionality of our pr?ducts, delay new product introductions or injure our
reputation, C o . )
Our mdependent reg:stered publw accounnng f rm has identified material wedknesses in our internal controls
that, if not remediated, could affect our ability to prepare timely and accurate financial reports, which could
cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and have a negative effect on the
tradmg price of our stock.

In the course of the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December'31, 2004,
our formet mdependent registered pubhc accounting firm identified and reported material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a reportablé condition in which our internal
controls do not reduce to a low level the risk that undetected misstatements caused by error or fraud may occur in
amounts that are material to our audited consolidated financial statements. Soon thereafter, our former Chief
Execiitive Officer and currént Chief Fmancml Officer performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures and found that they were not effective. First, we had weaknesses in our general accounting processes
related to insufficient documentation'and analyses to support our consolidated financial statements, failure to -
properly evaluate estimates of royaltles due and insufficient staffing in'the acc:oummg and reporting function,
which was exacerbated by changes in management arid accounting personnel and insufficient training of our
accounting department. Second, there was no independent review of journal entries, and insufficient
documentation or stipport for journal entries and consolidation entries. In a number of casés, these required
adjustments to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004. Furthermore, during
the first quarter of 2005, our Audit Committee completed an examination of certain of our internal controls
relating to'travél and entertainment expenses and determined that we had made erroneous expense
reimbursements to our former Chief Executive Officer and certain other executive officers, primarily as a result
of inconsistent travel and éntertainment pohc:es inadequate review of expense reimbursement requests and
carelessness. ' ’ :

- The material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting delayed the completion of our
consblidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, as well as our financial.
statements for each of the quarters in 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, which prevented us from.timely filing
our Form 10-K for the each of.the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 and our quarterly filings on Form -
10-Q for all the quarters in 2005 and the first quarter of 2006, In particular, as a result of the lack of sufficient
documentation .and existing analysis to support the consolidated financial statements, significant analysis was:-
required to support our consolidated financial statements, and the delay involved by the need for this analysis -
was exacerbated by insufficient staffing in our accounting and reporting function. This delay also impacted and, -
continued to affect.the our ability to timely file our periodic reports throughout 2005 and up to the first quarter of
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2006, as we were not able to commence preparation of these reports until we had completed and filed the Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, as we had not completed the remediation of these material
weaknesses.

We have determined that the material weaknesses mentioned as of December 31, 2004, with the exception
of the material weakness relating to travel and entertainment expenses, continued to exist during 2005 and
through the third quarter of 2006. We believe that these material weaknesses mentioned above did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report due to the fact that the
material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2006 and that we performed substantial analyses on the
prior period consolidated financial statement balances, including performing historical account reconciliations,
having account balance analyses reviewed by senior management and reconstructing certain account balances.
However, these material weaknesses mentioned above and our delay in timely completing our consolidated
financial statements and thus, the filing of our periodic reports, increase the risk that a transaction will not be
accounted for consistently and in accordance with established policy or generally accepted accounting principles,
and increase the risk of error in cur general accounting processes and consolidated financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of the Board of Direélors, has addressed these
material weaknesses and has implemented controls to remediate these internal control weaknesses. Management
believes that it has corrected the material weakness relating to travel and entertainment expense reimbursement
by the end of the first quarter of 2005. New processes and internal controls have been approved and implemented
and management has concluded that as of December 31, 2006, these controls are operating effectively.

During the 2006 year-end close, however, we identified and reported a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting related to stock-based compensation. A material weakness is a significant
deficiency, or a combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected. This material weakness
related to our failure to complete a proper analysis of historical stock option vesting data within our system. This
resulted in a net overstatement of our stock-based compensation during the interim reporting periods of fiscal
year 2006. As a result of this material weakness, quarterly results of operations have been restated, as provided in
Note 14 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, prior period pro-forma informational disclosure
of expenses have also been restated as provided in Note 7 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements,
and the Company was unable to conclude that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2006 (see Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures” in Part I1).

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Commitiee of the Board of Directors, has begun to address this
material weakness and is committed to effective remediation of these deficiencies as expeditiously as possible.
We have implemented a procedure to review the stock option reports on a quarterly basis to assure that only
current employee options that are expected to vest are included in the employee stock-based compensation
expense for the period. Our material weakness will not be considered remediated until new internal controls are
developed and implemented throughout the Company, are operational for a peried of time and are tested, and
management concludes that these controls are operating effectively.

Qur remediation measures may not be successful in correcting the material weakness reported by our former
and current independent registered public accounting firms. In addition, we cannot assure you that additional
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls will not be discovered in the future. In
addition, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions and the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Any failure to remediate the material weaknesses described above or
1o implement and maintain effective internal controls could harm our operating results, delay our completion of
our consolidated financial statements and our independent registered public accounting firm’s audit or review of
our consolidated financial statements which could cause us to fail to timely meet our periodic reporting
obligations with the SEC or result in material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements which could
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also cause us to fail to timely meet our periodic reporting obligations.with the SEC. Deficiencies in.our internal, .
controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a
negative effect on the trading price of our stock.. -~ . .
We face additional risks and costs as a result of the delayed filing of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for
the quarters ended March 31, June 30, and September 30, 2005, and March 31, 2006, and our Annual. Repans
on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 o
: Ce

Asa result of missing an establlshed deadlme with the NASDAQ Quahﬁcanons Panel for ﬁhng our
Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005; we have experienced additional risks and
costs. The March 31, 2005 10-Q was filed on October 11, 2005, past the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel’s
established deadline of October 7, 2005; thus, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel delisted the Company’s
common stock effective as of the beginning of trading on October 17,2005+ Since our common-stock was
delisted from The NASDAQ Stock Market, the ability of our stockholders to sell our common stock has been
severely limited, causing our stock pnce to declme oo <o S A .

.o
1 R - . D

As a result of our delayed ﬁlmgs,-iwe will be ineligible to register our securities-on Form S-3 for sale by us
or resale by others until we have timely filed all periodic reports under the Exchange Act for one year. Instead,
the Company may be required to use Form S;1 to raise capital or complete acquisitions, which would increase
transaction costs and adversely affect our ablllly to raise capital or complete acqu1smons of other compames
during this period. " o : . , : S

Our common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Mdr:k_er and is currently quoteﬂ on the OTCBB.

" Qur cormmon stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Market effective at the opening of business
on October 17, 2005. From October 17, 2005 to December 4, 2006, our common stock was quoted on the “Pink
Sheets” and as of,December 5, 2006, our common stock has been quoted on Over the Counter Bulletin Board
(*OTCBB"). Quotation of our common stock on the OTCBB will likely reduce the liquidity of our securities,
could cause investors not to trade in our securities, result in a lower stock price and could have an adver_se effect
on the Company. Additionally, we may become subject to the SEC rules that affect “penny stocks which are
stocks below $5.00 per share that are not quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Market. These SEC rules would make
it more difficult for brokers-to find buyers for our securities and could lower the net sales prices that our
stockholders are able to obtain, If our price of common stock.remains low, we may not be able to raise equity
capital. ‘ e :

Our stock pnce has been highly volatilé and has expenenced a szgmﬁcant declme and may continue to be
volatile and decline. .

-t L - 1 I '

The traclmg pncc of our common stock has fluctuated wndely in the past and we expect that 1t wﬂl continue
to do so in the future, as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside our, control, such as:

« variations in our actual and anticipated operating results; oo oo,
* changes in our earnings estimates by analysts;

"+ the i'c;latilily inherent in stock prif:cs with.il;l the emerging sector within which we conduct business; and
» the volume of trading in our common stock, including sales of substantial amounts of common stock

issued upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants. - . -

In addition, stock markets in general; and particularly The NASDAQ Stock Market has experienced extreme
price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices of many technology and computer software
companies, particularly Internet-related companies. Such fluctuations have often been unrelated or-
disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. These broad market fluctuations. could
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adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market
price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. Securities class action litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s
attention and resources.

Since becoming a publicly traded security listed on The NASDAQ National Market in September 1999, our.
common stock has reached a sales price high of $1,698.10 per share and a sales price low of $0.65 per share. On -
October 17, 2005, our common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Market due to the failure to
timely file our.Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 with the SEC. Our common
stock is currently quoted on the OTCBB. The last reported sale pmce of our shares on February 28, 2007 was
$3.46 per share. , . :

Our pending patents may never be issued and, even if issued, may provide little protection.

Our success and ability to compete depend upon the protection of our software and other proprietary
technology rights. We currently have six issued U.S. patents, four of which expire in 2018 and two of which
expire in 2020, and multiple U.S. patent applications pending relating to our software. None of our technology is
patented outside of the United States. It is possible that: . :

~» our pending patent applicatioris may not result in the issuance of patents;
« any issued patents may not be broad enough to protect our proprietary rights;

* any issued patents could be successfully challenged by one or more third parties, which could result in
our loss of the right 1o prevent others from exploiting the inventions claimed in those patents; *

» cuwrent and future competitors may independently develop similar technology, duplicate our products
or design around any of our patents; and . :

. effectlve patent protectmn may not be avallable in every country in which we do business.
We rely upon trademarks, copyrights, and trade secrets to protect our proprietary nghts, which may not
be sufficient to protect our intellectual property.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of laws, such as copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws,
and contractual restrictions, such as confidentiality agreements and licenses, to establish and protect our
proprictary rights. However, despite the precautions that we have taken:

* laws and contractual restrictions may not be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our technology or
deter others from developing similar technologres

+ current federal laws that prohibit software copying provide only limited protection from software
“pirates,” and effective trademark copyright, and trdde secret prolectron may be unavailable or limited
iri foreign countries; ‘

» other companies may ciaim common law trademark rights based upon state or foreign laws that
precede the federal registration of our marks; and

+

« policing unauthorized use of our products and trademarks is difficult, expensive, and time-consuming,
and we may be unable to determine the extent of this unauthorized use.

Also, the laws of some other countries in which we market our products may offer little or no effective
protection of our proprietary technology. Consequently, we may be unable to prevent our proprietary technology
from being exploited abroad, which could diminish international sales or require costly efforts to protect our
technology. Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying, or other misappropriation of our proprietary technology
could enable third parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it, which would s1gmﬁcantly
harm our business. Co
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We may become involved in litigation over proprietary rights, which could be costly and time consuming.

The software industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks, ‘and
copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights and our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights agamst their
use. Some of our competitors in the market for customer communications software may have filed or may intend
to file patent applications covering aspects of their technology that they may claim our technology infringes.
Such competitors could make a claim of infringement against us with respect to our products and technology.
Additionally, third parties may currently have, or may eventually be issued, patents upon which our current or
future products or technology infringe and any of these third parties might make a claim of infringement against
us. For example, we have recently been involved in litigation brought by Polaris IP, LLC against us and certain
of our customers that claimed that certain of our products violates patents held by them.

As we grow, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us increases. We may not be able to
withstand any third-party claims-and regardless of the merits of the claim, any intellectual property claims could
be inherently uncertain, time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle. Many of our software license
agreements require us to indemnify our customers from any claim or finding of intellectual property
infringement. We periodically receive notices from customers regarding patent license inquiries they have  +
received which may or may not implicate our indemnity obligations. Any litigation, brought by others, orvs 1 .
could result in the expenditure of significant financial resources and the diversion of management’s time and -
efforts. In addition, litigation in which we are accused of infringement might cause product shipment delays,
require us to develop alternative technology or require us to enter into royalty or license agreements, which.might
not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If a claim of infringement was made against us and we may not be
able to develop non-infringing technology or license the infringed or similar technology on a timely and cost- -
effective basis, our business could be significantly harmed.

We may face liability claims that could result in unexpected costs and damages to our reputation.
. ot . . - - ’

Our licenses with customers generally contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product
liability claims, such as disclaimers of warranties and limitations on liability for special, consequential, and
incidental damages. In addition, Gur license agreements generally limit the amounts recoverable for damages to
the amounts paid by the licensee to us for the product or service giving rise to the damages. Howevet, some
domeéstic and intérnational jurisdictions may not enforce these contractual limitations on liability. We may be
subject t0 claims based on errors in our software or mistakes in performing 6ur services including claims relating
to damages (b our customers’ intérnal systems. A product liability claim could divert the attention of ©
management and key personnel, could be expensive to defend, and could resuilt in adverse settlements and
judgments. ‘

We may face higher casts and lost sales if our software contains errors. Cy

We face the possibility of higher costs as a result of the complexity of our products and the potential for
undetected errors. Due to the critical nature of many of our products and services, errors could be particularly
problematic. In the past, we have discovered software errors in some of our products after their introduction. We
have only a few “beta” customers that test new features and functionality of our software before we make these
features and functionalities generally available to our customers. If we are not able to detect and correct errors in
our products or releases before commencing commercial shipments, we could face:

» loss of or delay in revenues expected from the new product and an immediate and s1gmﬁcant loss of
market share;

= loss of existing customers that upgrade to the new product and of new customers; .

s failure to achieve market acceptance;
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+ diversion of development resources;
* injury to our reputation;

* increased service and warranty costs; . L o
+ legal actions by customers; and .

* increased insurance costs.

:
: [ , )

Any of the foregoing potential results of errors in our software could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our security could be breached, which could damage our reputation and deter customers from using our
services.

We must protect our computer systems and network from physical break-ins, security breaches, and other
disruptive problems caused by the Internet or other users. Computer break-ins could jeopardize the security of
information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network, which could adversely affect
our ability to retain or atiract customers, damage our reputation, and subject us to litigation. We have been in the
past, and could be in the future, subject to denial of service, vandalism, and other attacks on our systems by
Internet hackers. Although we intend 1o continue to implement security technology and establish operational
procedures to prevent break-ins, damage and failures, these security measures may fail. Our insurance coverage
in certain-circumstances may be insufficient to cover losses that may result from such events.

We have significant mternatwnal sales and are subject to nsks assocwted with operating in international
markels. . . : . !

A substantial proportion of our revenues are generated from sales outside North America, exposing us to
additional financial and operational risks. Sales outside North America represented 32% of our total revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to 30% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31,
2005. We have established offices in the United States, Europe, Japan, and Hong Kong. Sales outside North
America could increase as a percentage of total revenues as we attempt to expand our international operations. In
addition to the additional costs and uncertainties of being subject to international laws and regulations,
international operations require significant management attention and financial resources, as well as additional
support personnel. To the extent our international operations grow, we will also need to, among other things,
expand our international sales channel management and support organizations and develop relationships with
international service providers and additional distributors and system integrators. International operations are
subject to many inherent risks, including:

* political, social and economic instability, including conﬂlcts in the Mlddle East and elsewhere abroad,
terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; ) : !

* adverse changes in tariffs, duties, price controls and other protectionist laws and business practices that

favor local competitors; .
* fluctuations in currency exchange rates; \ v
. Ibnger collection periods and difficulties in collecting receivables from foreign entities;

¢ exposure to different legal standards and burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws,
including employment, tax, privacy and data protection laws and regulations;

« reduced protection for our intellectual property in some countries;
* increases in tax rates; B Lo -

= greater seasonal fluctuations in business activity;
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* expenses associated with localizing products for foreign countries, including translation into foreign
langnages; and

. lmpon and export 'license requnrements and restrlcuons of lhe Umted States and each other country in
Wthh we operate 4 Cor e et
' St TR oot a0 R :

We believe that infernational sales will continue to represem a qlgmﬁcant pomon of our revenue for the
foreseeable future. Any of these factors may adversely affect our future mternatlonal sales and, consequently,
affect our business, financial condition and results of operauons

We may suffer foreign exchange rate losses.

Our international revenues dnd expenses are denominated in local currency. Therefore, a weakening of other
currencies compared to the U.S. dotlar could make our products less competitive in foreign markets and could
negatively affect our operating results and cash'flows. We haveé hot yet experienced, but ‘may in the future
experience, significant-forgign curréricy transaction losses, espécially because we generally do not engage in
currency hedging. To the extent the international component of our revenues grows, our results of operations:will
become more sensitive to foreign exchange rate fluctuations,

If we acquire compames products, or technologies, we may Jace risks associated wrth thase acqutsmons
- b ’!)- S N L
We acqu1red Hlpbone Inc. in early 2004, and if we are presented with appropnale opporlunmes we may
make other investments in complementary companies, products, or technologies. We may not realize the
anticipated benefits of any acquisition or investment.-For example; since inception, the Company has recorded
$2.7 billion of-impairment charges for the cost of 'goodwill obtained from acquisitions. If we acquire another . «
company, we will likely face risKs, uncertainties, and disruptions associated with the integration process, 1.
including, among other things, difficulties in the integration of the operations,.technologies, and services' of the
acquired company, the diversion of our management’s attention from other business concerns, the potential loss
of key employees of the acquired businesses, and the failure of the acquired: businesses, products or technologies
to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs. If;we fail to successfully integrate other companies that
we may acquire, our business could be harmed. Also, dcquisitions can expose us to liabilities and risks facing the
company we acquire, including lawsuits or claims against the company that are unknown at the-time of the
acquisition. Furthermore, we may have to incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any additional future
acquisitions or investments, the issuance of which could be dilutive to dur existing stockholders. In addition, our
operating results may suffer because of acquisition-related costs or amortization expenses or charges relating to
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. These factors could have an adverse effect on our business, results
of operauons financial condition or cash flows.
‘o N e
Complmnce with regulations governing pubhc company corporate governance and repomng wrh’ result in
additional costs.

Tt . . L - . - " - ' TP ' X

Our continuing preparation for and implementation of various corporate governance reforms and enhanced
disclosure laws and regulations adopted in recent years requires us to incur significant additional accounting and
legal costs. We, like other non-accelerated public companies, are preparing for new accounting disclosures
required by laws and regulations adopted in connection with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In_particular, we, .
will be preparing to-provide, if required,. beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for, the; fiscal year
ending December 31, 2007, an Annual Report on our internal contro} over financial reporting and auditors’,
attestation with.tespect to our report required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyrAct Any unanticipated -
difficulties in preparing for and implementing these and other corporate governance and reporting reforms could
result in material delays in compliance or significantly increase our costs. Also, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to fully comply with-these new laws and regulations. Any failure to timely prepare for and
implement the reforms required by these new laws and regulations could significantly harm our business,
operating results, and financial condition,
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We have adopted anti-takeover defenses that could delay or prevent an acquisition of the Company.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Without any
further vote or action on the part of the stockholders, the Board of Directors has the authority to determine the
price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions of the preferred stock. This preferred stock, if issued, might
have preference over and harm the rights of the holders of common stock. Although the ability to issue this
preferred stock provides us with flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes,
it can also be used to make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock.
We currently have no plans to issue preferred stock.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and equity compensation plans include provisions that may deter an
unsolicited offer to purchase us. These provisions, coupled with the provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, may delay or impede a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest. Furthermore, our Board of
Directors is divided into three classes, only one of which is elected each year. In addition, directors are only
removable by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all classes of voting stock. These factors may further
delay or prevent a change of control of us.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Future regulation of the Internet may slow our growth, resulting in decreased demand for our products and
services and increased costs of doing business. :

State, federal, and foreign regulators could adopt laws and regulations that impose additional burdens on
companies that conduct business online. These laws and regulations could discourage communication by e-mail
or other web-based communications, particularly targeted e-mail of the type facilitated by our products, which
could reduce demand for our products and services.

'l

The growth and development of the market for online services may prompt calls for more stringent
consumer protection laws or laws that may inhibit the use of Internet-based communications or the information
contained in these communications. The adoption of any additional laws or regulations may decrease the
expansion of the Internet. A decline in the growth of the Internet, particularly as it relates to online
communication, could decrease demand for our products and services and increase our costs of doing business,
or otherwise harm our business. Any new legislation or regulations, application of laws and regulations from
jurisdictions whose laws do not currently apply to our business, or application of existing laws and regulations to
the Internet and other online services could increase our costs and harm our growth. :

The imposition of sales and other taxes on products sold by our customers over the Internet could have a
negative effect on online commerce and the demand for our products and services.

The imposition of new sales or other taxes could limit the growth of Internet commerce generally and, as a
result, the demand for our products and services. Federal legislation that limits the imposition of state and local
taxes on Internet-related sales will expire on November 1, 2007. Congress may choose to modify this legislation
or to allow it to expite, in which case state and local governments would be free to impose taxes on electronically
purchased goods. We believe that most companies that sell products over the Internet do not currently collect
sales or other taxes on shipments of their products into states or foreign countries where they are not physically
present. However, one or more states or foreign countries may seek to impose sales or other tax collection
obligations on out-of-jurisdiction companies that engage in e-commerce within their jurisdiction. A successful
assertion by one or more states or foreign countries that companies that engage in e-commerce within their
jurisdiction should collect sales or other taxes on the sale of their products over the Internet, even though not
physically in the state or country, could indirectly reduce demand for our products.
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Privacy concerns relating to the Internet are increasing, which could result in legislation that negatively
affects our business in reduced sales of our products. o

e K T I YT

Businesses usmg our products capture information regarding their customers when those cuqtomers contact
themn on-line with customer service inquiries. Privacy concerns could cause visitors to resist providing the
personal data necessary to allow our customers to use our software products most effectively. More importantly,
even the perception of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may indirectly inhibit market acceptance of our
products. In addition, legislative or regulatory requirements may heighten these concerns if businesses must
notify Website users that the data captured after visiting certain Websites may be used by marketing entities to -
unilaterally direct product promotion and advertising to that user. If consumer privacy concerns are not
adequately resolved, our business could be harmed. Government regulation that limits our customers’ use of this
information could reduce the demand for our products. A number of jurisdictions have adopted, or are :
considering adoptmg, laws that restrict the use of customer information from Internet applications. The European
Union has’ requtred that its member states adopt legislation that i imposes restrictions on the collection and use of
pcrsonal data, and that limits the transfer of personally identifiable data to countnes that do not impose
equivalent restnctlons In the United States, ihe Children’s Online anacy Protectlon Act was enacted in October
1998. This ]eglslauon diredts the Federal Trade Commission to regulate the collection of data from chlldrcn on
commercial websites. In addition, the Federal Trade Commission his mvesugaled the privacy practices of -
businesses that collect information on the Internet. These and other privacy-related initiatives could reduce
demand for some of the Interet applications with which our products operate, and could restrict the use of these
products in some e-Commerce applications. This could, in turn, reduce demand for these products.

1 VA ot !

The success of our,products depends on the continued growth, and acceptance of the Internet as a business
and communications tool, and the related expansion of the Internet infrastructure.

The future success of our products depends upon the continued and w:despread adoption of the lntemet asa
primary medium for commerce, communication and business applications. Qur business growth would be
1mpcded if the performance or perception. of the Internet was harmed by security problems such as “viruses;’

“worms” and other malicious programs, reliability i issues arising from outages and damage 1o Internet '
infrastructure, detays in development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of
[nternet activity, mcreased costs, décreased accessibility and quality of service,'or mcreased government
regulation and taxatlon of Internet act1v1ty

L L t - - B " N [

The Internet has expenenced and is expected to continue to experience, mgmﬁcant user and traffic growth
which has, at times, caused user fmstratmn with slow access and download times. If Internet activity grows faster
than lntemet mfrastructure orif the Internet infrastructure is otherwise unable to support the demands placed on
it, our business growth may be adverse]y affected.

[ f R [ : v
General economic conditions could adversely affect our customers’ abthty or. wdlmgness to purchase our
products, which could materially and advqrse!y affect our results of operations.. , ‘ .-

1

Our customers consist of large and small companies in nearly all industry sectors and geographies. Potential
new clients or existing clients could defer puf-chases of our products because of unfavorable macroeconomic
conditions, such as rising interest ratés, fluctuations in currency exchange’ rates, industry or'national economic
downturns, industry purchasing patterns, and other factorz. ‘Our ablhty to grow revenues may be adversely
affected by unfavorable economic conditions. - :

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not appilcable ; ‘ . '
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our corporate headquarters are located in Menlo Park, California, where we lease approximately 45,000
square feet under a lease that expires in April 2010. In addition, we lease offices in several cities throughout the
United States and internationally in the Netherlands, United Kingdom, Germany, Japan and Hong Kong. We
believe the facilities we are now using are adequate and suitable for our business requirements,

We have a total of approximately 39,460 square feet of excess space available for sublease or renegotiation.
The excess space is located in Menlo Park, California, and Princeton, New Jersey. Remaining lease commitment
terms on these leases vary from less than one to four years. We are seeking to sublease or renegotiate the
obligations associated with the excess space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

On January 24, 2007, RightNow Technologies, Inc. (“RightNow”) filed a suit in the Eighteenth Judicial
District Court of Gallatin County, Montana against the Company and four former RightNow employees who had
joined the Company. The suit alleges violation of certain provisions of employment agreements,
misappropriation of trade secrets, as well as other claims, and seeks damages. We believe we have meritorious
defenses to these claims and intend to defend against this action vigorously.

On March 16, 2006, Polaris IP, LLC (“Polaris™) filed suit against the Company, Sirius Satellite Radio, Inc.,
Priceline.com, Capital One, Continental Airlines, Inc., and E*Trade Financial, in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas, alleging infringement of U.S.'Patent Nos. 6,411,947 and 6,278,996, and seeking
injunctive relief, damages and attorneys fees. In exchange for payment of a quarterty license fee through 2011,
Polaris granted the Company a perpetual license to certain patents, including those at issue in the litigation, and
the parties agreed to dismiss their claims against each other with prejudice. The terms of the settlement included
the release and dismissal of the Company’s customers named in the lawsuit,

The underwriters for our initial public offering, Goldman Sachs & Co., Lehman Bros., Hambrecht & Quist
LLC and Wit Soundview Capital Corp., the Company and certain current and former officers of the Company
were named as defendants in federal securities class action lawsuits filed in the U. 8. District Court for the
Southern District of New York. The cases allege violations of various securities laws by more than 300 issuers of
stock, including the Company, and the underwriters for such issuers, on behalf of a class of plaintiffs who, in the
case of the Company, purchased the Company’s common stock between September 21, 1999 and December 6,
2000 in connection with our initial public offering. Specifically, the complaints allege that the underwriter
defendants engaged in a scheme concerning sales of the Company’s and other issuers’ securities in the initial
public offering and in the aftermarket. In July 2003, we decided to join in a settlement négotiated by
representatives of a coalition of issuers named as defendants in this action and their insurers. Although we
believe that the plaintiffs’ claims have no merit, we have decided to accept the settlement proposal to avoid the
cost and distraction of continued litigation. Because the settlement will be funded entirely by the Company’s
insurers, we do not believe that the settlement will have any effect on our financial condition, results of operation
or cash flows. The proposed settlement agreement is subject to final approval by the court. Should the court fail
to approve the settlement agreement, we believe we have meritorious defenses to these claims and will defend
against the action vigorously.

Other third parties have from time to time claimed, and others may claim in the future that we have
infringed their past, current or future intellectual property rights, We have in the past been forced to litigate such
claims. These claims, whether meritorious or not, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, require
expensive changes in our methods of doing business or could require us to enter into costly royalty or licensing
agreements, if available. As a result, these claims could harm our business.

The uitimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and either unfavorable or favorable outcomes could
have a material negative impact on our results of operations, consolidated balance sheets and cash flows, due to
defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS.TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during ihe year ended Ijécgmber'Bl, 2006.

ITEM 4A. . EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT. -+.' . = * '

I'
"The names, of our current executwe officers and certam blographlcal mformatlon about each (mcludmg their

ages as of February 28, 2007) are set forth below:

f [N
) L i

Name Co E ' ’ ‘ Position

Michael S. Fields ............... 61 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
John M. Thompson .............. 61 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Jay A Jones ... ... ... .. ... 52  Chief Administrative Officer

William Rowe .................. 56 Senior Vice President, Global Sales and Service
William A.Bose ................ 40  Vice President and General Counsel

Michael 8. Fields. Mr. Fields joined our Board of Directors in June 2005 and since July 2005, has been
serving as our Chairman of the Board of Directors. From July 2005 to August 2005, Mr. Fields served as acting
President of KANA, In August, 2005, Mr. Fields was appointed Chief Executive Officer of KANA. Mr. Fields
has been the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Fields Group, a venture capital and management
consulting firm, since May 1997. In June 1992, Mr. Fields founded OpenVision Technologies, Inc., a supplier of
computer systems management applications for open client/server computing environments, and served as its
Chief Executive Officer from July 1992 to July 1995 and its Chairman of the Board of Directors from July 1992
to April 1997. Prior to these positions, Mr. Fields managed sales organizations at Oracle U.S.A,, Inc,, where he
served as President, Applied Data Research and Burroughs Corporation. Mr. Fields also serves on the Board of
Directors of Imation Corporation and two privately-held companies, ViaNovus, Inc. and Crucian Global
Services, Inc.

Jokn M. Thompson. Mr, Thompson joined KANA in October 2004 and currently serves as our Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. From January 2003 to October 2004, Mr. Thompson was Chief
Financial Officer of Veraz Networks, Inc., a provider of Voice Over IP solutions to the telecom industry. From
May 2001 to January 2003, Mr. Thompson was Chief Financial Officer of Interwise, Inc., a provider of
web-based communication products. From December 1998 to January 2001, Mr. Thompson was Chief Financial
Officer of Manage.com, a software company. Mr. Thompson holds B.S. degrees in Mathematics and Industrial
Management from Purdue University and a M.S. degree in Industrial Administration from Carnegie-Mellon
University.

Jay A. Jones. Mr. Jones joined KANA in September 2006 and currently serves as our Chief Administrative
Officer. Mr. Jones served as Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer of VERITAS Software
Corporation, an enterprise storage and performance company, from September 2004 to July 2005, From January
1999 to September 2004, Mr. Jones served as Chief Admintstrative Otficer of VERITAS Software Corporation,
and from March 1993 to January 1999, Mr. Jones served as Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary of
VERITAS Software Corporation and OpenVision Technologies, Inc., a systems management software company
which was acquired by VERITAS Software Corporation. Prior to OpenVision Technologies, Inc., Mr. Jones was
senior corporate counsel for Oracle Corporation. Mr. Jones holds a B.S. degree in architecture from Howard
University, a M.S. degree in City Planning from University of California at Berkeley and a J.D. degree from
University of California at Berkeley. Mr. Jones is also a member of the California Bar.

William Rowe. Mr. Rowe joined KANA in January 2006 and currently serves as our Senior Vice President,
Global Sales and Service. From May 2004 10 January 2006, Mr. Rowe served as Vice President of Sales and
Marketing for Global Card Services, a credit card middleware solutions and services company. From July 2002
to February 2004, Mr. Rowe held various sales and marketing positions with Winvista Corporation, a software
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and network management tools company. From November 1997 to June 2001, Mr. Rowe was a sales director
with BearingPoint, Inc (formerly KPMG Consulting LLC), an accounting firm. Mr. Rowe holds a B.A. degree in
Business from Trinity University. ' '

William A. Bose. Mr. Bose joined KANA in September 1999 as corporate counse] and since August 2006
currently serves as our Vice President and General Counsel. From May 2005 to August 2006, Mr. Bose served as
our General Counsel. Prior to Septerhber 1999, Mr. Bose held the position of attorney at Robert Half
International, Inc, Mr. Bose holds a B.A. degree from University of California at Santa Barbara and a J.D. degree
from Santa Clara University School of Law. Mr. Bose is also a member of the California Bar.

26




-PARTH

‘ 1

¥

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES. -

Our common stock is currently quoted on the OTCBB under the symbol “KANA OB” Prior to October 17,
2005, our common stock was listed on The NASDAQ National Market. Our common stock traded on the “Pink
Sheets” from the beginning of trading on October 17, 2005 to the close of trading on December 4, 2006. As of
the beginning of tradmg on December 3, 2006 our common stock has been trading on the OTCBB The table
below sets forth the high.and low sales prices for our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Natlonal
Market and the hlgh and low bid information for our common stock as reported on the “Pink Sheets? and the
OTCBB, as apphcab]e for the periods indicated:

‘ High Low
Fiscal 2005 ‘ ‘ ‘ S
First Quarter .. ....... ... . . i U U $2.03  $1.50
Second QUArter .............. ... [ 190 1.25
Third Quarter ................ S e 1.69 | 144
Fourth Quarter .............. e e e 1:80% © 1.08**
Fiscal 2006 o I '
FIrst QUAarter .. .......oo\'oe e DU 1.78%  1.11%*
SecondQuarter .......................... e e . 2.05%  1.60**
Third Quarter . . . . . B [ J Lo 320% 1.85%x
Fourth Quarter . . .... A U 3.62%  3.00%*

* This high bid information was reported on the *'Pink Sheets.” ,
**This low bid' information was reported on the “Pink Sheets.”

VRN

Holders of Record

There were approximately 1,140 stockholders of record of our common stock as of February 28, 2007, The
actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are
beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of
holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any earnings to fund
the development and growth of our business and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. In addition, our existing credit facilities prohibit the payment of cash or stock dividends on
our capital stock without the lender’s prior written consent.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

In June 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance of
1,631,541 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 815,769 shares of common stock to NightWatch
Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners !, LP and RHP Master Fund Lid. {collectively, the
“Investors”) for gross proceeds of approximately $2.4 million,

In September 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance
of 2,626,912 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 945,687 shares of common stock to the Investors
for gross proceeds of approximately $4.0 million. The warrants initially had an exercise price of $2.284 per
share. These warrants became exercisable on March 28, 2006, and expire on September 29, 2010,
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The terms of the September 2005 private placement required additional shares of common stock and
warrants to be issued in the event the Company’s stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Market. In
October 2005, the Company’s commor stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Market and the
Company issued an additional 425,358 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 153,130 shares of
common stock to the Investors for no proceeds. These additional warrants have an exercise price of $1.966 per
share and became exercisable on April 24, 2006, and will expire on October 25, 2010.

In May 2006, the Company amended the Registration Agreement related to the June and September 2005
private placements (collectively referred to as “Private Placements™) to extend the deadline to register the shares
of common stock and underlying shares of common stock of the warrants issued to the Investors to
September 30, 2006 from January 27, 2006, in exchange for the issuance of 593,854 shares of common stock to
the Investors. '

In October 2006, the Company issued to the Investors an aggregate of 59,383 shares of common stock since
the Company was unable to meet its September 30, 2006 deadline to register the shares of common stock and
underlying shares of common stock of the warrants issued to the Private Placements.

For the above-mentioned issuances of common stock and warrants to the Investors, the Company relied on
an exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder. '

In November 2006, the Company registered the shares of common stock and underlying shares of common
stock of the warrants issued to the Investors on a Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the SEC.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation pléns can be
found under Item 12 of Part IIT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Stock Performance Graph

* The line graph below compares-the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the
cumulative return of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Standard & Poor’s Information Technology Index -
(“8&P Information Technology Index™) for the five years ended Décember 31, 2006. The graph and table assume
that $100.00 was invested on December 28, 2001 (the last day of trading for the year énded December 31, 2001)
in each of cur common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the S&P Information Technology Index and
that all dividends were reinvested. We have not paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock, -
Stockholder returns over the period indicated should not be considered.indicative of future stockholder returns.

]

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among KANA Software, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The S & P Intormation Technology Index
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* $100.00 invested on December 31, 2001 in stock or index-including reinvestmant of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

2001 2002 . 2003 2004 2065 2006

KANA Software, Inc. ....................... $100.00 $10.12 $ 1732- % 971 $§ 689 § 16.19
NASDAQ Composite Index .................. $100.00 $71.97 $107.18, $117.07.. $120.50 $137.02
S&P Information Technology Index ............ $100.00 $62.59 $ 9214 $ 9450 §$ 9544 $103.47

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary in any of our previous or future filings with the SEC, the
foregoing information relating to the price performance of our common stock shall not be deemed to be “filed”
with the SEC or to be “soliciting material” under the Exchange Act, and it shall not be deemed 1o be incorporated
by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we
specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” the consolidated financial statements
and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and other information we have
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003, and’
2002 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2006; 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are derived from

our audited consolidated financial statements. The diluted net loss per share computation excludes shares of

common stock issuable upon exercise or conversion of other securities, including outstanding warrants and options
to purchase common stock and common stock subject to repurchase rights, because their effect would be
antidilutive. See Note 1 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements™ included in Item 8 of Part II of this
Annual Report for a detailed explanation of the determination of the shares used to compute basic and diluted net

loss per share. Historical resulis are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues:

License fees ... ...ttt
SeIVICES . vt e

Total revenuUEs . . ... .i i it i e

Costs and Expenses:

Costoflicensefees .....................
Costofservices (1) ...t iiennnn,
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . . .
Sales and marketing (§) .................
Research and development (1) ............
General and administrative (1) ............
Impairment of internal-use software . . ......
Restructuring Costs . ........c.ovvvunnans
Goodwill impairment ...................

Total costs and eXpenses ... ...ovvernnein i ann

Loss from operations- ....... e
Impairment of investment ........................
Interest and other income (expense), net ............ .
Registration rights penalty ...... e e

Loss from continuing operations before income

taxes

Income tax exXpense . ... i

Loss from continuing operations ... .. [
Discontinued operation: ‘

Net loss

Gain on disposal, including provision of $1.1
million for operating losses during
phase-outperiod ........ ... ...l

Cumulative effect of accounting change
related to the elimination of negative
goodwill ... ... ..o ool

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands, except per share amounts})
$19,116 $ 8,094 % 14,169 $ 126,228 § 41,530
34914 35,034 34,731 34,778 37.560
54,030 43,128 48,900 61,006 79,090
2,460 2,995 2,449 3,125 3,402
10,439 8,746 9,834 10,132 30,133
133 133 119 1,453 4,800
19,616 17,682 25,145 31,489 42,120
10,765 13,232 19,579 23,586 30,317
10,185 11,404 8,294 10,064 19,709
— 6,326 1,062 — —
703 468 3,400 1,704 (5,086)
— — — — 55,000
54,301 60,986 70,482 81,553 180,395
(271) (17,858) (21.,582) (20,547) (101,305)
— — — (500) —
(738) 88 128 186 913
(1,198) — — —-— —
(2,207) (17,770) (21,454) (20,861) (100,392)
(219) (196) (314) (318) —
(2,426'.) (17,966) (21,768) (21, 179) (100,392)
— — — — 381
— — — — 3,901
$(2,426) $(17,966) $(21,768) $(21,179) $ (96,110)




[ T e . . - Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 0 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands, except per share amounis)

Basic and diluted nét loss per $hare: " o .
Loss from continuing operations . . ... .. L S8 (0 07) $ (0.58) § (0. 75) $ (0 88) § (4.48)
Income 'from discontinued operation . ..... e — — — — 0.02
*Gain on’ ehrmnatmn of negatlve goodwnll e —_ = —_— — 0.17
Netloss .. e S NS 00D § O8) $ 1075) $ 088)'S @29)
Shares used in‘computing basic. and diluted net loss per -
share ..... T IV e - 34584 30,814 28950 24,031 22,403
v ' T v S : s S December 31,
: Lo S 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
. : . {in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: . : o
Cashand cashequivalents ...............c.coouuvuannn $ 5719 $ 6216 $13,772 $16,282 $19,112
Marketable securities .. ... ... ... ... .. .. — — 6,361 16,674 13,386
Working capital (deficit) .............. ... ... (11,044) (18,439) (9,657) 4,168  (4,533)
Totalassets ...... 0 ................ PO 30,335 35,706 ' 50,361 69,878 80,550
Total long-term debt* .4, . !, ST e i ©242 — — — —_—
Total stoeckholders’ equ1ty (def c1t) ...... e e a3, 132) - (9,794 3,164 21,532« .21952

LN L

(1), Includes employee stock- based compensauon expense, whlch was allocated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

- . . . . . . 2006 10_(5 2004 2003 2002
Cost of services . . ..... O, e A ... 3211 $2 % 346 § 430 $ 883
Salesand marketing ............ oniiiiiiiiiiiiaanns R 752 9 646 2,300 4,697
Research and development . ... ..., .. 356 2, 82 2,149 4,384
General and admmlstratlve T . L1476 25 157 991 6,656
Total........... i e e $2,795 $38 §1.231 $5.870 $16,620

) ! R .t f
il L + ‘
. * t *
i t
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
o RESULTS OF OPERATIONS =

In addition to historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The forward-
looking statements are not historical facts but rather are based on current expectations, estimates and
projections about our business and industry, and our beliefs and assumptions. Words such as “anticipate,”
"belileve, ” “esfr'mare, expects,” :'intend, " “plan,” “will" and variations of these words and similar
expressions identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and
are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, are difficult to .
predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from” those expressed or forecasted in the forward-
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described in Irem 1A “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this report. Forward-looking statements that were believed to be true at the time
made may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the
results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

LI

Overview

KANA offers an innovative approach to customer service with cost-effective solutions that enhance the
quality of customer interaction. Built on open standards for a high degree of adaptability and integration, KANA
solutions intelligently automate the processes needed to successfully serve our clients’ customers, so that our
clients can deliver higher value service at lower cost. KANA provides an integrated solution which enables
organizations to deliver consistent, managed service across all channels, including email, chat, call centers, and
Web self-service, ensuring a consistent service experience across communication channels.

Our revenue is prinian'ly derived from the sale of our software and related maintenance and support of the
software. To a lesser extent, we derive revenues from consulting and training. Our products are generally
installed by our customers using a systems integrator, such as IBM, Accenture or BearingPoint. KANA’s
professional services group assists the integrators as subject matter experts and in some cases will act as the
prime contractor for implementation of our software. To a large degree, we rely on our relationship with IBM to
recommend and install our software. This provides leverage in the selling phase, and also allows us to realize
higher gross margins by selling primarily software licenses and support, which typically have higher margins
than consulting and implementation services. In the past, the Company supplied specialists (who were subject
matter experts) to work with IBM and other systems integrators. While the Company continues this practice, the
Company is increasingly providing consulting and implementation services directly 1o our customers. These
services may be provided to our existing customers who would like the Company to review their
implementations or to new customers who are not quite large enough to gain the interest of a large system
integrator to provide such services. However, in the case of most of the initial installations of our applications
that are generally installed by our customers using a system integrator, these services generally increase the cost
of the project substantially by subjecting their purchase to more levels of required approval and scrutiny of
projected cost savings in their customer service and marketing departments. This contributes to the difficulty that
we face in predicting the quarter in which sales to expected customers will occur and to the uncertainty of our
future operating results, To the extent that significant sales occur earlier or later than anticipated, revenues for
subsequent quarters may be lower or higher, respectively, than expected.

In the first quarter of 2005, we reduced our cost structure through the reduction of outsourced product
development, a reduction in amortization related to the discontinuance of certain internal-use software, reduced
headcount, and other cost reduction programs, In late 2005, we made a decision to bring core technology
development back to our personnel in the United States in a process that we refer to as “back-shoring” and by the
end of the third quarter of 2006 we have brought back ali core technology development to our personnel in the
United States, except for one product group. We also plan to back-shore our technical support. These adjustments
have reduced our total cost of licenses, research and development, and general and administrative expenses in
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2006. As we rébuilt the sales organization; sales and marketing expense increéased in 2006 due to an incredse in
commissions as a result of higher revenues. From now on, we will strive to match our spending with the
anticipated revenue but, given the unpredictability of our license revenue, we are unable to predlet with any
certainty the period(s) when the Company will be profitable, if at all. R

Since 1997 we have incurred substantial costs to develop our products and to recruit. train and compensate
personnel for our engineering, sales, marketing, client services, and administration departments. As a result, we
have incurred substantial losses since inception. On December 31, 2006, the Company had ending cash and cash

equivalents of $5.7 million and no borrowings outstanding under our line of credit. As of December 31, 2006, the
Company had an accumulated deficit of $4.3 billion and a negative working’ capltdl of $11.0 million. Losses from
operations were $0.3 million and $17.9 million for 2006 find 2005, respectively, and net losées were $2.4 million
and $18.0 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net cash used for operating activities was $1.7 miltion and
$16.3 l’l'lllllon’ in 2006 and 2Q0§, respectively.

NN -
ae d [ ' : -

We have taken steps to lower the expenses related 10 cost of revenues, sales and marketing, research and
development,'and general and administrative areas of the' Company. We ‘also successfully closed two private
sales of our éommon stock, approximately $2.4 million on June'30, 2005 and approximately $4.0 million on
September 29, 2005 Management believes that based on its cutrent plans, its'existing funds will be sufficient to
meet the Company’s working capital and capital expenditure requirements through December 31, 2007.
However, if we experience’ lower than anticipated demand for our products we will néed to further reduce costs,
issue equity sectrities, or borrow money to meet our cash requirements. Any such équity issuances could be
dilutive to our stockholders, and any financing transactions may be on’ unfavorable terms, if at all.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 181 full-time employees, which represent airincrease from'125 -
employees at December 31, 2005 and no change from 181 employees at December 31, 2004.

NP
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estlmates

The discussion and analysis of our financnal condition and results of operattons are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP"). The:preparation of these consclidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and
on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. This forms the basis of -
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. In
some cases, changes in.the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from perlod to period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ matenally from our estimates. - ' .

We believe the followmg discussion addresses the Company s most critical accountmg pollc1es which are
those that are most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations and
require managernent’s most dlfﬁcult subjective, and. complex judgments. In addluon pledse refer to Note 1 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Fmancne! Slalemenls, for a further description of qur accounting pq11c1es

' L - -t ot [ s

Revenue Recognition ‘ } Ce oL

We recognize revenues in accordince with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants -
(“AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP™) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recogmtlon" (“SOP 97.2"), as amended

» + 1
Revenue from software license agreements is recognized when the basic criteria of software revenue
recognition have been met (i.e. persuasive evidence of an agreement-exists, delivery of the product has occurred,
the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is probable). The Company uses'the residual method described in
AICPA SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain
Transactions” (“SOP 98-97), to recognize revenue when a license agreement includes one or more elements 1o be
delivered at a future date and vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements”
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exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining
portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as license revenue. If evidence of the fair value of one or more
undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements
occurs or when fair value can be established. '

For all sales we use either a signed license agreement, a signed amendment to an existing license agreement,
a signed order form, a binding purchase order where we either have a signed master license .agreement or an
order form signed by the Company, or a signed statement of work as evidence of an arrangement.

Software delivery is primarily by electronic means. If.the software or other deliverable is subject to
acceptance for a specified period after the delivery, revenue is deferred until the acceptance period has expired or
the acceptance provision has been met. L _ ) .

When licenses are sold together with consulting services, license fees are recognized upon delivery,
provided that (1) the basic criteria of software revenue recognition have been met, (2} payment of the license fees
is not dependent upon the performance of the consulting services, and (3) the consulting services do not provide
significant customization of the software products and are not essential to the functionality of the software that
was delivered. The Company does not provide significant customization of its software products.

Revenue arrangements with extended payment terms are generally considered not to be fixed or .
determinable and, the Company generally does not recognize revenue on these arrangements until the customer
payments become due and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Probability of collection is based upon assessment of the customer’s financial condition through review of
their current financial statements or publicly-available credit reports. For sales to existing customers, prior
payment history is also considered in assessing probability of collection. The Company is required to exercise
significant judgment in deciding whether collectibility is reasonably assured, and such Judgments may materially
affect the timing of our revenue recognition and our results of operations.

Services revenues include revenues for consu]tmg services, customer support and tralmng, and OnDemand
hosting. Consulting services revenues and the related cost of services are generally recognized on a time and
materials basis. For consulting services contracts that have a fixed fee, we recognize the license and professional
consulting services revenues using either the percentage-of-completion method or the completed contract method
as prescribed by AICPA SOP No. 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Product-
Type Contracts” (“SOP 81-1"). KANA’s consulting arrangements de not include significant customization of the
software. Customer support agreements provide technical support and the right to unspecified future upgrades on
an if-and-when available basis. Customer support revenues are recognized ratably. over the term of the support
period (generally one year). Training services revenues are recognized as the related training services are
delivered. The unrecognized portion of amounts billed in advance of delivery for services is recorded as deferred
revenue. OnDemand includes our KANA On Demand ‘software as a service’ and outsourcing offerings as well
as Advanced Customer Services. OnDemand revenue is recognized in accordance with Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) Staff Accounting Builetin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition, corrected copy” (“SAB 104"7).
Revenues from OnDemand services are recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement, while application
fees are recognized ratably over the sum of the term of the arrangement and the term of expected renewals.
Hosting service arrangements are a means of deployment whereby our customer’s software and data is physically
located in third party facilities. Customers pay a fee to remotely access the hosted software and data via a secure
internet connection. Hosting fees are recognized as the hosting service is delivered in accordance with SAB 104,

Vendor-specific objective evidence for consulting and training services are based on the price charged when
an etement is sold separately or, in the case of an element not yet sold separately, the price established by
authorized management, if it is probable that the price, once established, will not change before market
introduction. Vendor-specific objective evidence for support services is generally based on the price-charged
when an element is sold separately or the stated contractual renewal rates. :
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Accounting forlntemal-Use Software © ' - .. T o

Internal-use software costs, mcludmg fees paid to third pames [ 1mplemem the software are capitalized
beginning when we have determined various factors are present, including among others, that technology exists
to achieve the performance requirements, we have made a decision as to whether we will purchase the software
or develop it internally, and we have authorized funding for the project. Capttahzaﬂon of software costs ceases
when the software iinplementation i is substantla]ly complete and is ready for its intended use, and the capitalized
costs are amortized over the software 5 estlmated useful life (generally five years) usmg the straight-line method.‘

When events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of internal use software might not be recoverable,
we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the amortization of the asset balance over its
remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows. The amount of impairment, if
any, is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the projected discounted future operating cash
flows and is recognized as a write down of the asset. In addition, if it is no longer probable that computer
software being developed will be placed.in service, the asset will be adjusted to the lower of its carrying value or
fair value, if any, less direct selling costs. Any such adjustment would result in an expense in-the period recorded,
which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated statements of operations. In the first quarter
ended March 31, 2005, the Company's information technology department reviewed its operations and
technology requirements, and decided to discontinue its use of certain internal use software, which resuited in a
non-cash impairment charge of $6.3 million. C A P ‘

Asof December 31, 2006, we had 5561 000 of capitahzed costs for internal use softwa:e less $523,000 of
accumulated amortization for a net balance of $38,000. L o .

Restructuring | . . . f

During 2001, we recorded significant liabilities in connection with our restructuring program. These
reserves included estimates pertaining to contractual obligations related to excess leased facilities in Menlo Park;
California; Princeton; New Jersey: Framingham, Massachusetts; and Marlow in the United Kingdom. Remaining.
lease commitments terminate over various dates beginning in April 2007 through January 201 1. We are seeking
to sublease or renegotiate the obligations associated with the excess space. We have subleased some of the excess
space, but in all cases, the sublease income is less than the rent we pay the landlord. We had $6.1 million in
accrued restructuring costs as of December 31, 2006, which was our estimate, as of that date, of ‘the exit costs of *
these excess facilities. We have worked with rea) estate brokers in each of the markets where the properties are
located to help us estimate the amount of the accrual. This process involves significant judgments regarding these
markets. If we determine that any of these real estate markets has deteriorated further, additional adjustments to
this accrual may be required, which would result in additional restructuring expenses in the period in which such
determination is made. Likewise, if any of these real estate markets strengthen, and we are zble to sublease the
properties earlier or at more favorable rates than projected, or if we are otherwise able to negotiate early
termination of obligations on favorable terms, adjustments to the accrual may be required that'would increase
income in the period in which such determination is made. As of December 31, 20086, our estimate of accrued
restructuring cost included-an assumption that we would receive $861,000 in sublease payments that are not
subject to any contractual arrangement as of December 31, 2006. We have assumed that the majonty of these
assumed sublease payments will begin in 2007 ‘and continue through the end of the, related leases. In December
2006, we determined that we may not be able to sublease a leased facility in Princeton, New Jersey, and we
changed our assumption of subleasmg this excess space. We recorded a restructuring charge of $739,000 as of
December 31, 2006 mainly related to this change in estimate of sublease assumption that is not subject to any
contractual arrangement. In 2006, there was also a restructuring recovery of $36,000 due to the change in
estimates of termination of certain employees.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets . . : N

We regularly evaluate all potential indicators of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, but at a
minimum, test goodwill and intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis. Our judgments regarding the
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existence of impairment indicators are based on market conditions and operational performance. Future events
could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that goodwill and other intangible assets
associated with our acquired businesses are impaired.

The remaining amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2006 is $8.6 million. We continue to assess whether
any potential indicators of impairment of goedwill have occurred and have determined that no such indicators
have arisen since June 30, 2006, the date of our annual geodwill impairment test. Any further impairment loss
could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operattons.

Income Taxes

We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate as part of the process of
preparing our consolidated financial statements. This process involves us estimating our actual current tax
exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as net
operating loss carryforwards, and stock-based compensation, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences
result in deferred tax-assets and liabilities. We then assess the likelihood that our net deferred tax assets will be -
recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely than not, we
establish a valuation allowance. We concluded that a full valuation allowance was required for all periods
presented. While we have considered future taxable income in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, in
the event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of
its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be made, increasing our income in the
period in which such determination was made.

Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, the amounts of and benefits from net operating loss carryforwards
may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances. Events which cause limitations in the amount of net
operating losses that we may utilize include, but are not limited to, a cumulative change of more than 50%
ownership of the company, as defined, over a three year period. The portion of the net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards subject to potential expiration has not been included in deferred tax assets.

Cantingeticies and Litigation

We are subject to lawsuits and other claims and proceedings. We assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of
loss contingency required, if any, for these matters are made after careful analysis of each individual matter. The
required loss contingencies may change in the future as the facts and circumstances of each matter changes.

Stock Based Compensation.,

On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”), which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors including employee stock
options and employee stock purchases under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan based on estimated fair values.
SFAS 123(R) supersedes our previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) for periods beginning in fiscal year 2006. In
March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment™ (“SAB No. 107"),
providing supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS 123(R). We have applied the provisions of SAB 107
in our adoption of SFAS 123(R).

SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of employee stock-based awards on the date of
grant using an option pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is
recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statements of operations. We
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adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method which réquires the application of the -
accounting standard starting from January 1, 2006, the first day.of our fiscal year 2006. Our consolidated
financial statements-as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123(R)., .«
Employee stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.8 million which .
consisted of stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options recognized under SFAS |
123(R). . - ‘ . . ‘ .

-' |
Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors |
using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 123;.Accounting for :
Stock-Based Compensation” (*SFAS 123"). Under the intrinsic value method, no stock-based compensation

expense for employee ‘stock options had been recognized in our consolidated statements of operations, because

the exercise price of our stock options granted 1o employees and directors equaled the quoted market price of the

underlying stock at the date of grant. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method we used in

adopting SFAS 123(R) our results of operauons pnor to ﬁscal year 2006 have not been restated to reflect, and do

not include, the possrble impact of SFAS 123(R)

Stock-based compen'salion expense recognized during a period is based on the value of the portion of stock-
based awards that.is ultimately expecled to vest during the period. Stock‘based compensation expense recognized
in the year ended December 31, 2006 included compensation expense for stock-based awards granted prior to,
but not yet vested as of, December 31, 2005, based on the fair value on the grant date estimated in accordance
with the pro forma.provisions of SFAS 123. As new grants occur, our stock-based compensation expense will
also include compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to December 31,
2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SEAS 123(R). As stock-
based compensation expense recognized in our results for 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures, SFAS.123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant
and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Prior to fiscal
year 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred for the purposes of pro forma information under SFAS
123. as disclosed in  our notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements for the related periods.

Upon adopllon of SFAS 123(R), we selected the Black-Scholes opt:on pricing model as the most
appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value for stock-based awards. The Black-Scholes model
requires the use of hlghly subjective and complex assumptlons which determine the fair value of stock-based
awards, including the option’s expected lerm and the price volaulrty of the underlymg stock.

For stock options granted to non—employees the Company recognizes compensation expense in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue'No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity
Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling; Goods or
Services”, which require such equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value on the measurement date. The
measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments
vest. The Company amortizes compensation expense related to non-employee stock options in accordance with-
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation
Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans” (“FIN 28") The Company extended the vestmg period
of approximately 1,000,000 stock options held by four terminated employees who had agreements to provide
consulting services. In October 2006, the Company extended the exercise penod of approximately 211,000
vested stock options of a former employee as the result of a termination agreement. During t the year endéd
December 31, 2006, the Company granted a total of 57,500 stock options to four non-employees who had
agreements to provide consulting services. As a result of lhese stock optlon modlﬁcauons to former employees
and the stock option grants to consultants, the Company recorded non- employee stock-based compensation
expense of $632,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Also see Stock-Based Compensanon in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolldated Fmanmal Statements:
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Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115"
(“SFAS 159"). SFAS159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at
fair value. The standard requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and other
users of financial statements to more easily understand the effect of the company’s choice to use fair value on its
earnings. It also requires entities to display the fair value of those assets and liabilities for which the company has
chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet. This Statement is effective as of the beginning of an
entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of
the previous fiscal year provided that the entity makes that choice in the first 120 days of that fiscal year and also
elects io apply the provisions of Statement 157. The Company is currently evaluating whether the adoption of .
SFAS 159 will have a material effect onits financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2006, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force 00-19-2, “Accounting for
Registration Payment Arrangements.” This FSP specifies that the contingent obligation to make future payments
or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a separate
agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or other agreement, should be separately
recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2006 The Company is currently evaluating
the effects of implementing this new standard

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounlmg Bulletm No. 108, “Consndcnng the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). The
purpose of SAB 108 is to provide guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in
quantifying current year misstatements for the purposes of a materiality assessment. The guidance is effective for
financial statements for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. SAB 108 was effective for the Company as
of December 31, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial- -
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R” (“SFAS 158”).
SFAS 158 requires an entity to recognize'in its statement of financial position an asset for a defined benefit
postretirement plan’s over funded status or a liability for a plan’s under funded status. The rel]uirement to
recognize the funded status of a defined postretirement plan and the disclosure requirements are effective for
fiscal years ending after December 31, 2006. The Company doés not expect the adoption of SFAS 158 to have a
material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157"). The .
purpose. of SFAS No. 157 is to define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair value and enhance
disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure requirements .are effective for the
Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the effects,of
implementing SFAS 157. . -

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions — An
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109
“Accounting for Income Taxes”. It prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 135, 2006. The Company
is currently evaluating the effects of implementing FIN 48,

In March 2006, the FASB issued EITF 06-3, “How Sales Taxes Collected From Customers and Remitted to
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement™ (“EITF 06-37), A tentative consensus

38




was reached that a company should disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation) regarding .
presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for
periods beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company presents sales net of sales taxes in its consolidated
statements of operations and does not anticipate changing its policy as a result of EITF 06-3. -

. In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets—an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 1407 (“SFAS 156™), which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
September 15, 2006. This statement was issued to simplify the accounting for servicing rights and to reduce the
volatility. that results from using different measurement attributes. The Company does not expect the adoption of
SFAS 156 to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments,”
(“SFAS 1557) an amendment of FASB Statements No 133 and 140. SFAS 155 will be effective for the
Company beginning in the first quarter of 2007. SFAS 155 permits interests in hybnd financial instruments that
contain an embedded derivative that would otherwise require bifurcation, to be accounted for as a single financial
instrument at fair value, with changes in fair value recogmzed in earnings. This election is permitted on an
ms[rument-by-mstrumem basis for all hybrid financial instruments held, obtained, or issued as of the adoption
date. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 135 to have a.matenal impact on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows,

Results of Operations A o ' .
The following table sets forth selected data for the periods presented. Percenlages are expressed asa
percentage of total revenues. . - . e :
‘ ' ' ' Years Ended December 31,
‘ 2006 2005 2004
Revenues: " ‘ , . .
License foes ... e e e 5% 19% 29%
TV S L .o e e 65 8l i)
Total rEVENUES . . ... ... i e @ 100 100
Costs and Expenses: i 7
Costoflicensefees ................. .. ...t e 5 7 .5
Costofservices (1) ... ... i i e i i 19 20 20
Amortization of acquired intangible assets .............. ..o 0 0 0
Sales and marketing (1) .............. PR T P 36 41 53
_Resea.rch and development (1) ............. D 20 31 40
General and administrative (1) ............... ... 19 26 17
Impairment of internal-use software ....................... ... ... 0 .15 2
Restructuring costs, net of recoveries ........... ..o SETTE | R
Total costs and expenses ...........cooo i S P N 101% 141% 144%

a 1 . * 2006 2005 . 2004
GOS0 SBIVICES . . .. . i e 0% 0% 1%
Sales and marketing . ................ L e e . 1 0 2
Research and development .................... e SR .. 1 o 0
General and administrative ............ ... i e _3 _ o 0
Total ............ S T 5% 0% 3%




Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
Revenues

Total revenues increased by 25% to $54.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $43.} million
for the year ended December 31, 20035, primarily as a result of higher license revenues in 2006 than in 2005.

License revenues include licensing fees only, and exclude associated support and consulting revenue. The
majority of our licenses to customers afe perpetual and associated revenues are recognized upon delivery
provided that all revenue recognition criteria are met as discussed in “Revenue Recognition” under *Critical
Accounting Policies™ above. License revenues increased by 136% to $19.1 million for 2006 from $8.1 million for
2005. This increase in license revenue was based, in part, on increased demand for our producis, increased
average transaction value and a significant add-on sale to an existing customer during the second quarter of 2006.
While we are focused on increasing license revenue, we are unable to predict such revenue from period to period
with any degree of accuracy because, among other things, the market for our products is unpredictable and
intensely competitive, and our sales cycle is long and unpredictable.

Our service revenues consist of support revenues and professional services fees. Support revenues relate to
providing customer support, product maintenance and updates to our customers. Professional services revenues
relate to providing consulting, training and implementation services to our customers including OnDemand,
software as a service option. Service revenues remained flat at $34.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 compared to $35.0 million for 2005. Support revenues are the largest component of service revenues, and in
2006, support revenues decreased because support revenues from new maintenance contracts associated with
new license transactions did not offset support renewal cancellations. The other part of service revenues are
professional services fees that increased in 2006 from 2005 mainly due to an increase in OnDemand revenues.
‘We expect that service revenues in 2007 will be fairly consistent with those from 2006 in absolute dollars,

Revenues from international sales were $17.1 million, or 32% of total revenues, in the year ended
December 31, 2006 and $13.1 million, or 30% of total revenues, in the year ended December 31, 2005. Our
international revenues were derived from sales in Europe and Asia Pacific.

Costs and Expenses

Total cost of revenues increased by 10% to $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $11.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2005. o

License Fees. Cost of license fees consists of third party software royalties, costs of product packaging,
documentation, and production and delivery costs for shipments to customers. Cost of license fees as a
percentage of license revenue was 13% in 2006 compared to 37% in 2005. The decrease was partially due to a
reduction in royalty costs associated with a relatively lower proportion of non-revenue-related shipments, such as
upgrades and updates, as we had a lower proportion of such shipments during 2006. In addition, we reduced our
royalty costs by replacing certain third-party technology with a lower cost alternative. Therefore, even though
license revenue increased by 136% from 2005 to 2006 there was no significant increase in cost of license from
2005 to 2006. We expect that our cost of license fees as a percentage of sales will vary based on changes in the
mix of products we sell and the timing of upgrades. We are not able to predict when customers will choose to
upgrade their software which will then cause us to incur this royalty cost. We are continuing to look at
alternatives for some original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) products embedded in KANA products.

Services. Cost of services consists primarily of salaries and related expenses for our customer support,
consulting, and training services organization, and allocation of facility costs and system costs incurred in
providing customer support. Cost of services increased to 30% of service revenues, or $10.4 million, for 2006
compared to 25% of service revenues, or $8.7 million, for 2005. Both totals include employee stock-based
compensation of $211,000 and $2,000 for 2006 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in service margins in 2006

40




compared to 2005 was due to an increase in our strategy and professional service staffing levels throughout 2006
partially offset by the effect of a one-time $1.6 million services revenue recognized in 2005. As of December 31,
2006, we had 48 employees in support and consulting compared to 25 employees as of December 31, 2005, a .
92% increase. Six additional people were added during the fourth quarter of 2006 and the increase in personnel
reflected our replacement of certain consultants with emp]oyees as we [ransmoned to an internal support model
during 2006. +. . ‘

Cost of services may increase or decrease depending on the demand for these services, The expenses may
also be affected by the amount, type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options

cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company. : .

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets. The amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded-in 2006
and 2005 related.to $400,000 of intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of Hipbone, Inc. in
February 2004.-Amortization totaled $133,000 and $133,000 for. the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. . b T

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for
sales and marketing personne] and promotional expenditures, including public relations, advertising, trade shows.
and marketing miaterials. Sales and marketing expenses increased by 11% to $19.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from.$17.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This was primarily due to.
increased commissions as a result of increased license revenue and increased spending for advertising and public-
relations. Both totals include employee stock-based compensation of $752,000 and $9,000 for 2006 and 2005,
respectively. As of December 31, 2006, we had 65 employees in sales and marketing compared to 41 employees
as of December 31, 2005, an increase of 59%. Sixteen people were added during the fourth quarter of 2006 as we
strategically added sales and marketing personnel to increase our revenues. Co

Sales and markeling expenses may increase or decredse, depending primarily on the amount of future .
revenues and our assessment of market opportunities and sales channels. The expenses may also be impacted by
the amount, type and valuation of stock options granted as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to
employees and consultants leavmg the Company

Research and Development. Research and development expenses:consist primarily of compensation-and
related costs for research and development employees and contractors and enhancement of existing products and
quality assurance activities. Research and development expenses decreased by. 19% to $10.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006 from $13.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This decrease was
attributable primarily to a reduction in outsourcing expenses as well as information technology and facilities
allocated costs. Both totals include employee stock-based compensation of $356,000 and $2,000 for 2006 and
2005, respectivély. As of December 31, 2006, we had 37 employees in research and development compared to 30
employees as of December 31, 2005, a 23% increase. Five people were added during the fourth quarter of 2006.

s o O . al ’ '

Research and development expenses including related headcount may.increase or decrease, depending
primarily on the amount of future revenues, customer needs, and our assessment of market demand. The
expenses may also be impacted by the amount, type and valuation of stock options gra_nt,ed as well as the amount
of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving the Company. ) '

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and
related costs for finance, legal, human resources, corporate governance, and bad debt expense. Information
technology and facilities costs are allocated among all operating departments. General and administrative
expenses decreased by 11% to $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $11.4 million, for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Both totals include employee stock-based compensation of $1.5 million and
$25,000 for periods ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in expenses during the year
ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to the reversal of the accrual of Texas state tax expense, lower
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auditing and legal fees, and a decrease in the use of outside consultants partially offset by an increase in
employee stock-based compensation and a legal settlement charge. As of December 31, 2006, we had 31
employees in general and administrative and information technology combined compared to 29 employees as of
December 31, 2005, a 7% i increase. :

General and administrative expenses may increase or decrease, depending primarily on the amount of future
revenues and corporate infrastructure requirements including insurance, professional services, taxes, bad debt
expense, and other administrative costs. The expenses may also be impacted by the amount, type and valuation of
stock options granted'as well as the amount of stock options cancelled due to employees and consultants leaving !
the Company.

Impairment of Internal Use Software. In the quarter ended March 31, 20035, the Company reviewed all
continuing operating expenses across the entire Company, including our technology requirements. One result of
this review was a decision to discontinue the use of certain internal use software. The total non-cash impairment
charge related to this software was $6.3 million in the first quarter of 2005.

Restructuring Costs. In December 2006, the Company determined that it may not be able to sublease a .
leased facility in Princeton, New Jersey, and-changed its assumption of subleasing this excess space. During the
year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded $739,000 of restructuring costs mainly related to this
change in estimate of sublease payment that is not subject to any contractual arrangement. In 2006, there was
also'a restructuring recovery of $36,000 due to the change in estimates of termination of certain employees.

In the second guarter of 2005, the assumptions as to when certain U.S. facilities would be subleased were
revised, which increased the reserve by $1.0 million. This increase was offset by an additional $1.6 million in
sublease income from the actual sublet of the Marlow.U.K. facility.

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company. made adjustments to the restructuring accrual of $189,000 to
correct for certain calculation errors made in the fourth quarter of 2004. The Company believes that these errors
are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for 2005 or 2004,

In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recoerded a restructuring charge of $271,000 for the termination
of certain employees net of" ad_;ustment‘; to restructured facilities. .

The following table summanzes our restructunng actmty for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands}): . . . '

N L e s ] ] Severance Facilities Total
Restructuring reserve at 1273172004 .. ... . i i e $— $10,794 $10,794
Restructuring charge ............ .1 L e e e 282 186 468
Payments made . ..... ... ... e e e —_ (4,204) (4,204)
Sublease payments received ...... ... . L —_— 494 494
Restructuring reserve at 12/31/2005 ....... S e R TP - 282 7,270 7,552
Restructuring charge (recoveries) .. ... L s (36) 739 703
Paymentsmade .............ccoirveiivineannennn. . (246)  (3,557) (3,803)
Sublease payments received . ... ... L L —_ 1,650 1,650
Restructoring reserve at 12/31/2006 ....... Pt $ - $ 6,102 §$ 6,102

The remainder of the restructuring payments will be paid relatively evenly from 2007 through 2011.
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Goodwill Impairment. During June 2006, we performed our annual test for goodwill impairment as required
by SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142"). Based on our evaluation, we
concluded that goodwill was not impaired as the. fair value of the Company exceeded its carrying value,
including goodwill. There have been no events or circumstances from June 30, 2006 to December 31, 2006 that
have affected our June 30, 2006 conclusion regarding the recoverability of goodwill. The remaining amount of . -
goodwill at December 31; 2006 is $8.6 million. Any further impairment loss could have a material adverse -
impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Interest and other income (expense), net consists pnmanly of interest income, interest expense and changes
in fair value of warrant liabilities. Interest i Income consists pnmanly of interest earned on cash and cash
equ1valents and was approximately $172,000 and $265,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The decrease in interest income related to lower cash and cash equivalents balances in 2006 than in
2005. Interest expense relates primarily to our line of credit and was approximately $207,000 and $513,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in interest expense related to lower
borrowings against the line of credit in 2006 than in 2005. Interest and other income (expense), net also consists
of an increase in the fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $774,000 for the year ended December
2006 and a decrease in the fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $331 000 for the years ended
December 31, 2005. ' '

o

Reglstranou R:ghts Penalty

In May 2006, the Company amended the Reglslranon Agreement related to the June and September 2005
private placements (collectively referred to as “Private Placements™) to extend the registration deadline of the
shares of common stock and underlying shares of common stock of the warrants issued to'certain investors (the
“Investors™) to September 30, 2006 from January 27, 2006, in exchange for the issuance of 593,854 shares of
common stock to the Investors. The shares were valued at approximately $1.0 million based on the fair market
value of the Company’s stock on the date of the amendment less a 10% discount to reflect that unregistered stock
was issued. $337,000 and $695,000 were recorded as non-operating expenses during the first and second quarter
of 2006 respectively. The September 30, 2006 registration deadline was not met and an additional 59,383 shares
of common stock was issued to the Investors. The shares were valued at appr0x1mately $166,000 based on the
fair market value of the Compary’s common stock on September 30, 2006 less a 10% discount to reflect that ..
unregistered stock was issued. This amount was recorded as a non-operating expense during the third quarter of
2006. On November 9, 2006, the Company completed the registration of the shares of common stock, and shares
of common stock underlying the warrants, issued to the Investors.

Income Tax Expense

We have incurred net operating losses on a consolidated basis for all years from inception through
December 31, 2006. Accordingly, we have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our gross
deferred tax assets, as the future realization of the tax benefit is not currently more likely than not. In 2006 and
2005, certain of our foreign subsidiaries were profitable, based upon application of our intercompany transfer
pricing agreements, which resulted in us reporting income tax expense totaling approximately $219,000 and
$196,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in those foreign jurisdictions.

As of December 31, 2006 the Company had operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax
purposes of approximately $443.0 million and $333.6 million, respectively. The federal and state net operating
loss carryforwards, if not offset against future taxable income, will expire by 2025, The Company also had
foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $7.9 million. The foreign losses expire at various dates
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and some can be carried forward indefinitely. Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, the amounts of and benefits
from net operating loss carryforwards may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances. Events which cause
limitations in the amount of net operating losses that the Company may utilize in any one year include, but are
not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50%, as defined, over a three year period. As such,
the portion of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards subject to potential expiration has not been
included in deferred tax assets. In addition, it is possible additional'limitations may exist.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
Revenues ‘ ' i

Total revenues decreased by 12% to $43.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $48.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result of fewer license transactions in 2005 than in
2004. We believe the decrease in 2005 was due to many factors including competitive préssures, greater-than-
anticipated delays in completing expected license transactions through systems integrators, and a slow recovery
in the information technology spending environment. _ ' ‘ !

License revenues include licensing fees onl.y, and exclude associated support and consulting revenue. The
majority of our licenses to customers are perpetual and associated revenues are recognized upon shipment ‘
provided that all revenue recognition criteria are met as discussed in “Revenue Recognition” under “Cntical .
Accounting Policies” above. License revenues decreased by 43% to $8.1 million for 2005 from $14.2 million for i
2004. This decrease in license revenue was primarily due to a decrease in the average seiling price of license ;
transactions due to competitive pricing pressures, as well as a decrease in the number of license transactions '
closed during the year. We expect our average selling price to continue to fluctuate in future quarters given the
relatively low number of new transactions that comprise the majority of our license revenue recognized per
quarter. The market for our products is unpredictable and intensely competitive, and the economic environment
over the last few years has had an effect on corporate purchasing, which has adversely affected sales of our
products. ' oot :

Qur service revenues consist of support revenues and professional services fees. Support revenues relate to
providing customer support, product maintenance and updates to our customers (including when-and-if-available
upgrades). Professional services revenues relate to providing consulting, training and, to-a lesser extent,
implementation services to our customers. Service revenues remained flat at $35.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 compared to $34.7 million for 2004. The consisténcy in service revenue amount was in line
with expectations since the relatively small percentage of support renewal cancellations‘is typically more than
offsef by new maintenance contracts associated with new license transactions. Support revenues are the largest
component of service revenues, and in 2005, were rélatively consistent with our 2004 support revenues. The drop
in sales of new licenses in 2005 affected service revenues less than license revenues because the majority of our
support revenues relate to ongoing maintenance contracts with existing customers.

Revenues from international sales were $13.1 million, or 30% of total revenues, in the year ended
December 31, 2005 and $17.2 million, or 35% of total revenues, in the year ended December 31, 2004. Our
international revenues were derived from sales in Europe and Asia Pacific. - .

W

Costs and Exbénses

Total cost of revenues decreased by 4% to $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $12.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2004, .

License Fees. Cost of license fees consists of third party software royalties, costs of product packaging,
documentation, and production and delivery costs for shipments to.customers. Cost of license fees as a
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percentage of license revenue for 2005 was 37% compared to 17% in 2004. The increase was due to royalty costs
associated with a relatively higher proportion of non-revenue-related shipments, such as upgrades and updates
during 2003, as well as a decrease in license fees.

Services. Cost of services consists primarily of salaries and related expenses for our customer support,
consulting, and training services organization, and allocation of facility costs and system costs incurred in
providing customer support. Cost of services decreased to 25% of service revenues, or $8.7 million, for 2005
compared to 28% of service revenues, or $9.8 million, for 2004. Both totals include amortization of stock-based
compensation of $2,000 and $346,000 for periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
consistency in service margins in 2005 compared to 2004 was due to consistency in our strategy and professional
service staffing levels throughout 2005 and 2004,

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets. The amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded in 2005
and 2004 related to $400,000 of intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of Hipbone, Inc. in
February 2004. Amortization totaled $133,000 and $119,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Suales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related cosis for
sales and marketing personnel and promotional expenditures, including public relations, advertising, trade shows
and marketing materials. Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 31% to $17.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $25.7 miliion for the year ended December 31, 2004. Both totals include amortization
of stock-based compensation of $9,000 and $646,000 for periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This decrease was partly attributable to reductions in sales and marketing personnel during 2005,
from 70 positions at December 31, 2004 to 41 positions at December 31, 2005 and a reduction in information
technology support.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and
related costs for research and development employees and contractors and enhancement of existing products and
guality assurance activities. Research and development expenses decreased by 32% to $13.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $19.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Both totals include
amortization of stock-based compensation of $2,000 and $82,000 for periods ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. This decrease was partly attributable to a reduction in research and development personnel
during 2005 by 12%, from 34 employees at December 31, 2004 to 30 employees at December 31, 2005 and a
reduction in infermation technology support. The decrease can also be attributed to lower outsourcing expenses
paid to our development partners with staffing in India and China.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and
related costs for finance, legal, human resources, corporate governance, and bad debt expense. Information
technology and facilities costs are allocated among all operating departments. General and administrative
expenses increased by 37% to $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $8.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. Both totals include amertization of stock-based compensation of $25,000 and
$157,000 for periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. This increase was primarily astributable
to an increase in professional services and other general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2005, partially offset by a reduction of general and administrative personnel during 2005 by 16%,
from 25 employees at December 31, 2004 to 21 employees at December 31, 2005.

Impairment of Internal Use Software. In quarter ended December 31, 2004, the Company’s IT department
reviewed its operations and technology requirements, and decided to discontinue its use of certain internal use
software. As a result, a material charge for impairment was required under SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The capitalized cost of this internal-use software included
capitalized fees paid to third parties to implement the software. The total non-cash impairment charge related to
this software was $1.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2004.

45




In the quarter ended March 31, 2005, the Company reviewed ail continuing operating expenses across the
entire Company, including our technology requirements. One result of this review was a decision to discontinue
the use of certain internal use software. The total non-cash impairment charge related to this software was $6.3
million in the first quarter of 2005.

Restructuring Costs. During the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
three months ended March 31, 2005, the Company discovered that errors had been made in the fourth quarter
2004 revaluation of the restructuring accrual calculation for unoccupied leased facilities. The Company increased
the first quarter 2005 restructuring accrual by $938,000 to adjust for these errors. The Company believes that
these errors are not material to the financial statements for 2004 or 2005.

In the second quarter of 2005, the assumptions as to when certain U.S. facilities would be subleased were
revised, which increased the reserve by $1.0 million. This increase was offset by an additional $1.6 million in
sublease income from the actual sublet of the Marlow U.K. facility.

In the third quarter of 20035, the Company made adjustments to the restructuring accrual of $189,000 to
correct for certain calculation errors made in the fourth quarter of 2004. The Company believes that these errors
are not material to the Company’s financial statements for 2004 or 2005.

In the fourth quarier of 2005, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $271,000 for the termination
of certain employees net of adjustments to restructured facilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded $3.4 million in restructuring costs related
to a change in evaluation of real estate market conditions in the United Kingdom, and changes in sublease
estimates based on offers from potential subtenants in the United States.

The following table summarizes our restructuring activity for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands):

Severance Facilities Total
Restructuring reserve at 12/31/2003 ... ... ... .. ... ol $ 184 310,010 $10,194
Restructuring charge ......... ... . i i — 3,400 3,400
Paymentsmade ......... .. it e e e (184) (2,757) (2,941)
Sublease payments received . ... ... e e — 141 141
Restructuring reserve at 12/31/2004 ... .. .. .. .. . i e — 10,794 10,794
Restructuring charge . ...... ... . i i e 282 186 468
Paymentsmade .......... i e s —_ (4,204) (4,204)
Sublease payments received . ........ .. o — 494 494
Restructuring reserve at 12/31/2005 .. .. ... ... . i $282 § 7270 % 7,552

The remainder of the restructuring payments will be paid relatively evenly from 2006 through 2011.

Goadwill Impairment. During June 2005, we performed our annual test for goodwill impairment as required
by SFAS No. 142. Based on our evaluation, we concluded that goodwil]l was not impaired as the fair value of the
Company exceeded its carrying value, including goodwill. There had been no events or circumstances from
June 30, 2005 to December 31, 2005 that affected our June 30, 2005 conclusion regarding the recoverability of
goodwill. The remaining amount of goodwill at December 31, 2005 was $8.6 million. Any further impairment
loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Interest and other income (expense); net consists primarily of interest income, interest expense and changes
in fair value of warrant liabilities. Interest.income consists primarily of interest earned on cash and cash
equivalents and marketable securities and was approximately $265,000 and $294,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decrease in interest income related to lower cash and cash
cquivalents and marketable-securities balances in 2005 than in 2004. Interest expense relates primarily to our line
of credit and was approximately $513,000 and $180,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, .
respectively. Interest and other income (expense), net also consists of changes in the fair value of warrant . .
liabilities of approximately $331,000 and zero for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

We have incurred net operating losses on a consolidated basis for all years from inception through
December 31, 2005. Accordingly, we have'recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our gross
deferred tax assets, as the future realization of the tax benefit is not currently more likely than not. In 2005 and
2004, certain of our foreign subsidiaries were profitable, based upon application of our intercompany transfer |
pricing agreements, which resulted in us reporting income tax expense totaling approximately $196,000 and
$314,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, in those foreign jurisdictions.
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]

Quarterly Results of Operations

4

The following tables set forth a summary of our unaudited quarterly operating results for each of the eight
quarters in the period ended December 31, 2006. The information has been derived from our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements that, in management’s opinion, have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report and
include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this
information when read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The
operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period.

Consolidated Statements of
‘ Operations Data:
Revenues:
License fees
Services

Total revenues

I
|
‘ Costs and Expenses:
Cost of license fees ......
Cost of services (2)
Amortization of acquired
| intangible assets
i Sales and marketing (2) ...
: Research and
: development (2)
General and
administrative (2)
Impairment of internal-use
software
Restructuring costs

Total costs and expenses

Income (loss) from operations
Interest and other income (expense),

net
Registration rights penalty

Income (loss) before income taxes ..
Income tax expense

Net income {loss)

Basic net income (loss) per share . ..

Shares used in computing basic net
income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per
share

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30,
2006 2006 2006
Mar. 31, June30, Sept.30, Dec.3]l, Restated Restated Restated Dec. 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 n (0)] (1} 2006
(in thousands)

$ 1,541 $ 2364 $ 1,600 $ 2,580 $ 2,861 $ 5942 $ 4,345 $ 5968
8,530 8318 9,353 8,833 8,572 8,633 8811 §,B898
10,071 10,682 10,953 11,422 11,433 14,575 13,156 14,866
814 835 597 749 451 761 832 416
2,621 1,754 2219 2,152 2,287 2426 2,515 3,211
33 33 34 33 33 33 34 33
5345 4289 4,309 3,738 3,749 5221 4,325 6,321
4310 3,349 2908 2,666 2,570 2,180 2718 3,288
3,380 2,759 2247 3,018 2289 2383 2587 29206
6326  — — - — — — —
038 552 (189) 271 10 — — 693
23,767 12,467 12,125 12,627 11,389 13,013 13,011 16,888
(13,696) (1,783 (1,172) (1,205) 44 1,562 145 (2,022)
(42) (45) (74) 249 (658 (253) 85 88

— — —_ —_ 337y (695) (166) —
(13,738) (1,830) (1,246) (956) (951) 6l4 64 (1,934)
(62) (534) (18) (62) (28) (48) (53) (90)
$(13,8000$(1,884) 5 (1.26)$(1.018)F (9793 566 3 11 $(2,024)
$ (04D% 0.06)$ (0043 (0.03)% (0.03)3 002 35 000 3 (0.06)
29254 29,278 30,929 33,785 33,924 34296 34,570 35,531
$ (04N% (0.06)F (0.04)$ (0.03)% (V.0HS 0028 000§ (0.06)
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Quarter Ended

Mar. 31, June 39, Sept. 30,
2006 2006 2006
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec.31, Restated Restated Restated Dec. 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 n n n 2006

(in thousands)

Shares used in computing diluted net

income (loss) per share ......... 290254 29278 30,929 33,785 33924 34754 35647 35531
As a Percentage of Total Revenues:
Revenues: -
License fees .......... e 15% 22% 15% 23% 25% 41% 33% 40%
Services ............... . -85 78 85 77 75 59 + 67 60
Total revenues .............. 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Costs and Expenses:
Cost of license fees ...... ] 8 6 7 4 - 5- ‘6 3
Costof services ......... 26 17 £ 20 19 20 - 17 19 ¢ 22
Amortization of acquired .
intangible assets . ... ... 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 0
Sales and marketing . ..... 53 40 39 "33 33 36 . 33 42
. Research and
. development .......... 43 31 2723, 23 15 21 22
General and .
administrative . ........ 34 26 21 26 20 16 20 20
Impairment of internal-use )
software ............. 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restructuring costs ... ... . 9 (3) ¥ 2 0 0 0 5
Total costs and expenses ........., 236% 117% 111%  111% 100% 89% 99% 114%

(1) Subsequent to the issuance of the Company’s interim financial statements for the quarters ended March 31,
2006, June 30, 2006, and Septembér 30, 2000, the Company determined that non-cash compensation
expenses relating to certain options granted in 1999 were incorrectly recorded in each of the first three
quarters of 2006. Additionally, certain other expense items were recorded in the improper quarter within
2006. As a result, the operating results for the quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006, and
September 30, 2006 have been restated. See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item-8 for
Jurther detail.

(2) Includes employee stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30,
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, 2006 2006 2006 Dec. 31,

2005 2005 2005 2005 Restated (1) Restated (1) Restated (1) 2006

, : (in thousands) '

Cost of services ............ $2 $— $ $— $54 $37 $ 62 558

Sales and marketing ......... 3 3 — — 1190 123 222 217

Research and development . . .. 2 I — — 92 58 102 104

General and administrative . . . LS 5 2 — 44 41 1,099 292 |
Total ................. $27 $ 9 $§ 2 $— $380 $259 81,485 $671

(1) Subsequent to the issuance of the Company's interim financial statements for the quarters ended March 31,
2006, June 30, 2006, and September 30, 20006, the Company determined that non-cash compensation
expenses relating to certain options granted in 1999 were incorrectly recorded in each of the first three
quarters of 2006. Additionally, certain other expense items were recorded in the improper quarter within
2006. As a result, the operating results for the quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006, and
September 30, 2006 have been restated. See Note 14 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for
| Jurther detail. o
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The amount and timing of our operating expenses generally will vary from quarter to quarter depending on
our leve! of actual and anticipated business activities. Our revenues and operating results are difficult to forecast
and will fluctuate, and we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results will not necessarily
be meaningful. As a result, you should not rely upon them as an indication of future performance.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2006, we had $5.7 million in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $6.2 million as of
December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2006, we had negative working capital of $11.0 million. $15.8 million
of our current liabilities consists of current deferred revenue (primarily reflecting payments for future support
services under our software licenses).

History and recent trends. We have had negative cash flow from operating activities in each year since
inception, To date, we have funded our operations primarily through issuances of common stock and, to a lesser
extent, cash acquired in acquisitions. The rate of cash we have used in operations was $13.1 million in 2004,
$16.3 million in 2005, and $1.7 million in 2006. In 2003, 2004 and 2005, we implemented successive net
workforce reductions of approximately 154, 30 and 56 employees, respectively. During 2006, we had a net
increase of 56 employees. Staffing is expected to change from time to time based upon a number of factors,
including anticipated demand for our products and the balancing of roles between employees and outsourced
staffing. During the year ended December 31, 2006 we had a negative cash flow from operations of $1.7 million,
which reflects, among other things, the benefit of our continuing emphasis on cost management partially offset
by continued cash outflow for rent on excess facilities. Our cash collections during any quarter are driven
primarily by the amount of sales booked in the previous quarter, and we cannot be certain that we will meet our
revenue expectations in any given period.

Primary driver of cash flow. Our ability to generate cash in the future depends upon our success in
generating sufficient sales transactions, especially new license transactions. We expect our support renewals in
2006 to continue to be relatively flat from 2005. Since our new license transactlions are relatively small in
number and are difficult to predict, we may not be able to generate new license transactions as anticipated in any
particular future period. From time to time, changes in assets and liabilities, such as changes in levels of accounts
receivable and accounts payable may also affect our cash flows.

Operating cash flow. We had negative cash flow from operating activities of $1.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, which included a $2.4 million net loss, a $2.4 million increase in accounts receivable, a $4.0
million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, a $2.5 million decrease in accrued restructuring,
partially offset by non-cash charges of $3.4 million for stock compensation expense, a $774,000 change in the
fair value of warrant liability, a $1.2 million charge for a registration rights penalty, $1.5 million of depreciation,
a $1.1 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets and a $722,000 increase in deferred revenue.
Qur operating activities used $16.3 million and $13.1 million of cash and cash equivalents for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, These expenditures were primarily attributable to net losses
experienced during these periods, offset in part by non-cash charges related to impairment of internal-use
software in 2005 and by non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation and restructuring costs in 2004,

Investing cash flow. Our investing activities used $860,000 of cash for the year ended December 31, 2006,
which consisted of the purchase of property and equipment. Our investing activities provided $5.0 million of
cash for the year ended December 31, 2005, and consisted primarily of net transfers of short-lerm investments to
cash totaling $6.4 million, partially offset by purchases of property and equipment of $465,000 and an increase in
restricted cash of $932,000. Our investing activities provided $9.4 million of cash for the year ended '
December 31, 2004, and consisted primarily of net transfers of short-term investments to cash totaling $10.4
million, partially offset by purchases of property and equipment of $895,000 and cash paid for acquisitions of
$421,000.
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Financing cash flow. Our financing activities provided $2.0 million of cash for the year ended December 31,
2006, and consisted primarily of $2.9 million in proceeds from issuances of common stock, a decrease in
restricted cash of $5.9 million and borrowings of $819,000 on a note payable offset in part by the repayment of
borrewings under our bank line of credit of $7.4 million and the repayments of $250,000 on a notes payable.”

In June 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered securities for the issnance of
1,631,541 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 815,769 shares of common stock for gross .
proceeds of $2.4-million. In September 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered
securitics for the issuance of 2,626,912 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 945,687 shares of
common stock for gross proceeds of $4.0 million. Financing activities provided $4.4 million in cash for the year
ended December 31, 2005, due to the net proceeds from these issuances of common stock and warrants, as well
as net proceeds-from loan activities of $4.0 million partially offset by the increase in restricted cash of $5.9 ,
million required by our loan agreement. Qur financing activities provided $824,000 in cash for the year ended
December 31, 2004, due to net proceeds from issuances of common stock.

Contractual obligations. On November 30, 2005, the Company established a new banking relationship with
Bridge Bank N.A. (“Bridge™). In addition, on November 30, 2003, the Company entered into a Business
Financing Agrecement and Intellectual Property Security Agreement with Bridge under which the Company had
access to a Loan Facility of $7.0 million (“Loan”). We have since amended our agreement most recently on ,
February 27, 2007, increasing the facility to $10.0 million. This Loan is made up of two parts: (i) a Formula
Revolving Line of Credit of up to $5.0 million and (ii) a Non-Formula Revolving Line of Credit of up 10 $6.0
million, of which $2.0 million is available for stand-by letters of credits, settlement limits on foreign exchange
contracts (FX)} or cash management products. The combined total borrowing under the two parts cannot exceed
$10.0 million. Interest for the Formula Revolving Line of Credit accrues at Bridge’s Prime Lending Rate plus 2%
while interest for the Non-Formula Revolving Line of Credit accrues at Bridge’s Prime Lending Rate plus
0.50%. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had no borrowings drawn against the Loan. See Note 15 to our
consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding our Loan Facility.

Our future payments due under debt and lease obligations and other contractual commitments as of
December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

Contractual obligations:

Notepayable .......... ... . . ... i, $ 569 $§ 327 § 242 § — $—
Non-cancelable operating lease obligation (1) ............ 13,983 4,687 7,047 2,249 —_
Less: Subleaseincome (2) . ... (5250 (1,756) (2,5200 (974) —
Other contractual obligations (3) ... ... .. . ... ... 4,637 3,580 657 400 —
L+ - 1 $13,939 36,838 §$5426 351,675 $—

(1) Includes leases for properties included in the restructuring liability.

(2) Includes only subleases that are under contract as of December 31, 2006, and excludes future estimated
sublease income for agreements not yet signed.

(3) Represents payments on a legal settlement, minimum payments to vendors for future royalty fees, marketing
services, training services, consulting services, engineering services, and sales events, severance payment to
a terminated employee and minimum payments to an outsourcing company.

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements. As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any significant off-balance-
sheet arrangements, as defined in item 303{a) (4) (ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Employee Equity Incentive Plans. See Note 1 and Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8
for employee equity incentive plans and stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
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and 2004. Information regarding equity incentive plans should be read in conjunction with the information
appearing under the heading “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” appearing in the definitive Proxy
Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection with the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This
information is incorporated herein by reference.

Outlook. Based on our current 2007 revenue expectations, we expect our cash and cash equivalents will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs through December 31, 2007. If we do not
experience anticipated demand for our products, we will need to further reduce costs, or issue equity securities or
borrow money to meet our cash requirements. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or
convertible securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders would be reduced and the securities we issue
might have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders. In addition, rising
interest rates may impede the Company’s ability to borrow additional funds as well as maintain its current debt
arrangements. If adequate funds were not available on acceptable terms, our ability to achieve or sustain positive
cash flows, maintain current operations, fund any potential expansion, take advantage of unanticipated
opportunities, develop or enhance products or services, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be
significantly limited. Qur expeciations as to our future cash flows and our future cash balances are subject to a
number of assumptions, including assumptions regarding anticipated increases in our revenue, improvements in
general economic conditions and customer purchasing and payment patterns, many of which are beyond our
control.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We develop products in the United States and sell these products in North America, Europe, Asia, and
Australia. In the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, revenues from customers outside of the United States
approximated 32% and 30%, respectively, of total revenues. Generally, our sales are made in the local currency
of our customers. As a result, our financial résults and cash flows could be affected by factors such as changes in
foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets. We rarely use derivative '
instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk. As such, we are exposed to market risk from fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates, principally from the exchange rate between the US dollar and the Euro and the
British pound. We manage exposure to variability in foreign currency exchange rates primarily due to the fact
that liabilities and assets, as well as revenues and expenses, are denominated in the local currency. However,
different durations in our funding obligations and assets may expose us to the risk of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. We have not entered into any derivative instrument transactions to manage this fisk. Based on our
overall foreign currency rate exposure at December 31, 2006, we do not believe that a hypothetical 10% change
in foreign currency rates would materially adversely affect our financial position or results of operations. We do
not consider our cash equivalents to be subject to interest rate risk due to their short maturities.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kana Software, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kana Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the “Company™) as of December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity {(deficit), and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006.
Our audits also include the related financial statement schedule listed in Itemn 15(a)(2). These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Kana Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 20035, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule as of and for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in ail
material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2006 the Company changed
its method of accounting for stock-based compensation as a result of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004}, “Share Based Payment” applying the modified prospective method.
fs/ Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP

San Jose, California
March 30, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kana Software, Inc. and subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of Kana Sofiware, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Our audit also included the consolidated financial statement schedule for the year ended
December 31, 2004 listed in Item 15{a){2). These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such 2004 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results
of the Company’s operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the 2004
consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

fs/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Jose, California
August 26, 2005
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KANA SOFTWARE, INC. ‘

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS ‘
{(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents . ...... ... ... . ... ..... . .. .. .cueui.. $ 5719 % 6,216
Restricted cash . ... . . 74 5,900
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $155 and $149 in 2006 and
2005, respectively . ... e 8,756 6,095
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................ .. 0ieaon.. 1,967 2,859
Total CUTeNT ASSELS . .. . oottt e e e 16,516 21,070
Restricted cash, long-term .. ... ... . .. . . e 990 1,063
Property and equipment, net . . .. ... e, 1,221 1,846
Goodwill .. ... e 8,623 8,623
Acquired intangible assets, net ... ...... . o i 15 148
e A88BIS L . .. ettt e e e 2,970 2,956
Total @SSBIS . . .\ i ittt e $ 30335 % 35706
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Lineofcredit ...... ... . i $ — % 7,400
Note payable ... ... e 327 —
Accounts payable ......... ... ... 2,684 5,057
Accrued liabilities . . ... ... ... e 6,880 8.706
Accrued FESITUCIUNING .. ...ttt e it 1,844 2,727
Deferred revenue ... ... . e 15,825 14,529
Warrant liability .. ... ... e — 1,090
Total current liabilities ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 27,560 39,509
Deferred revenue, long-term ... ... . . e 410 506
Accrued restructuring, long-term . ... ... .. ... e : 4,258 4,825
Other long-term labilities .. .. ... .. . .. e 1,239 660
Total liabilities . ... .. ... . e 33,467 45,500
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares
issued andoutstanding . ........ ... .. .. ... ... iaaii., — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized;
35,972,283 and 33,923,783 shares issued and outstanding ........... 36 34
Additional paid-incapital .. ..., . .. e 4,302,495 4,293,063
Accumulated other comprehensive income .. ...... ... .. ... ..., 171 517
Accumulated deficit ... .. (4,305,834) (4,303,408)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ............ ... ... ... ... ... ... ....... (3,132) (9,794)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) ............................ $ 30335 § 35706

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements,
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KANA SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Revenues;
LICeMSE fe8S . . e e e e $19,116 $ 8,094 % 14,169
LYo 07 1 = T U 34,914 35,034 34,731
Ot TEVEIIUES .« . . ittt i s et e e 54,030 43,128 48,900 -
Costs and Expenses: |
Cost Of lICenSe [0S . . oot it e e e 2,460 2,995 2,449 !
COSEOF SEIVICES (1) - ..ttt e e e et e et 10439 8746 9,834 ]
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ............ ... ... ... 133 133 119 :
Salesand marketing (1) ... ... ... .. i 19,616 17,682 25,745 |
Research and development (1) ... ..o i ienn, 10,765 13,232 19,579 |
General and administrative (1) ... oot e 10,185 11,404 8,294
Impairment of internal-use software ............ .. ... ... ... — 6,326 1,062
Restructuring costs, net of recoveries .......... ... ... . .. il 703 468 3,400
Total costs and €XPEnSEs ... .. oot e 54,301 60,986 70,432 .
LoSS frOm OPErations .. ... ..uv'rru et et e e eianniaan e, (271) (17,858) (21,582) |
Interest and other income (expense), net ... .......... .overuemnaa s (738) 88 128
Registrationrights penalty .. ........ ... . o i (1,198) — — !
Loss before inCome tax eXpense .. ...ttt (2,200 (17,770 (21,454)
INCOME AKX EXPENSE . .. oottt it e ce et 219 {196) 314)
(3 0 e S ${2,426) $(17,966) $(21,768)
Basic and dilated net loss pershare . .. ........ .. .. i $ (007 $ (058 § (0.73)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss pershare . .............. 34,584 30,814 28950

(1) Includes employee stock-based compensation expense, which was
allocated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
COSt OF SBIVICES .\ ittt et s e e e e e $ 211§ 2 % 346
Salesand marketing . ... ... ... i e e 752 9 646
Research and development ......... ... uiii i 356 2 82
General and adminisative ... ... . it ittt c e s 1,476 25 157

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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KANA SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'-EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock

Tk Accumulated Total
Additional Deferred Other Stockhelders’
Paid-In Stock-Based Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
bt - Shares -Amount Capital Compensation Income Deficit "~ (Deficit)
Balances at December 31,2003 ...... 28,436,283 $ 201 $4.286,508  ($1,541) $ 38  ($4,263,674) $ 21,532
Issuance of common stock upon . o
exercise of stock options .......... 132,635 — 276 —_— - — ST _ 276
issuance of common stock for L ‘ N
Employee Stock Purchase Plan .. ... 413,984 — 548 — L—_- — 548
Reclassification .........0......... — U™ 172 — . — : — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based . et
COMPENSALION . .. ...... veeeen... - - (254) 1,483 — : j— 1,229
Acquisition of Hipbone . ... ........ 262,500 — 926 _ — — 926
Comprehensive income (loss): C . ., ' ‘
Foreign currency translation |
adjustment . ................. — — —_ —_ . 421 — 421
Netloss ....:......... e - - — — C— (21,768) (21,768)
Total cf‘_:mbrehensive income (]oés) e —_ — — — — ) — (21,347)
Balances at December 31,2004 .. ..., 29,245,402 29 4,288,176 (58) 459 . (4,285,442) | 3,164
Issuance of common stock upon ' o '
exercise of stock options .......... 14,480 — 22 — ‘ — —_ . 22
Adjustment . ..., (19,910) — — - — = —
Amortization of deferred stock-based ' o . C
COmpensation . .................. —_— - (20y .. 58 R == 38
Issuance of common stock, net of ' . o o
fees........ ..l ol 4,683,811 5 4,885 — —_ o= . 4,890
Comprehensive income (loss):, - .
Foreign currency translation - . .
adjustment ................. — — — _— - 58 ' . 58
Netloss ..... e e - - —_ = — . (17966) (17,966)
Total comprehensive income ('los_s) e - — — — _— R (17,908)
Balances at December 31,2005 .. .... 33,923,783 34 4,293,063 —, 517 (4,303,408) (9,794)
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options ... ., ..., 1,395,263 | 2,944 —_ — ’ - " 2,945
Registration rights penalty . .......... 653,237 1 " 1,197 —_ — . — - 1198
Reclassification of warrant liability ... —_ - 1,864 — —_ — 1,864
Employee stock-based compensation . . —_ - 2,795 — — .. — 2,795
Non-employee stock:-based _
compensation . .......... e R — 632 — - = 632
Comprehensive income (loss): : ‘ :
Foreign currency translation - ‘
- adjustment ............. e — — — — (346) — (346)
Netloss ..... e — — —_ — — (2,426) (2,426)
Total comprehensive income (loss) . ... — = ., == - — — (2,172)
Balances at December 31, 2006 ... ... 35,972,283 3 36 $4,302495 $ — . 8171  ($4,305834) (5 3,132)

See.accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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KANA SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
= A Lo P
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . ........ ..o i e
Loss on the disposal of property and equipment .......................
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ................ ... ... ...
Employee and non-employee stock-based compensation ................
Impairment of internal-use software .......... ... ...
Provision for doubtful accounts .. ....... .. .o i
RESUMCHUNNE COSIS . . oo vttt ittt ia i iiina et e
Registrationrightspenalty . ... ... it
Other non-cash charges . ..... ... .. it it iia s
Change in fair value of warrant liability .................... ... ...,

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:

Accountsreceivable . .. ... ... L e
Prepaid expenses and otherassets .......... ..o,
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . ... ool
Accrued TESINUCIUNING . . . ..ottt et ir it aaeae et eras
Deferredrevenue . ......... . . i i it i e

For the Year Ended December 31,

2006

2005

2004

Net cash used in operating activities ............. ... .. i i,

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of marketable securities . ........ .. . . . i i
Maturities and sales of marketable securities .............. .. ... 0o,
Purchases of property and equipment . .............. .. o i,
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment .. .. ............. ... ..
Acquisition, net of cashacquired . . ......... . oo
Restricted cash .. ... it i i e e

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . .......................

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net borrowings (repayments) under line of credit . . .................. ..o
Borrowings onnote payable ........... .. . e
Repayments onnote payable . ...... .. i
Restricted cash .. ... ..ot e
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock and warrants ................

Net cash provided by financing activities . ......... ... ... .o
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ...............
Net decrease in cash and cashequivalents .. ...... ... .. il t,
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ..........................
Cash and cash equivalentsatendof year . .. ........... . it

Supplemental disctosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year forinterest .............. ... .o o e

Cash paid during the year for incometaxes . ...............c..oohan.

Noncash activities:

Issuance of common stock in connection with the acquisition of Hipbone . . .

Reclassification of warrant Liability . ...... ... ... . .. oo

$(2,426) $(17,966) $(21,768)

1,453 2,326 5471
46 69 44
133 133 119

3,427 38 1,231
—_ 6,326 1,062
6 43N (601)
703 468 3,336

1,198 — —
47 — —
774 33D —

3500 (1,521) 4,075

1,134 547 (810)

(4,036) 129 1,753

2,492y (31300  (3,389)

722 (2914)  (3,596)

(1,661) (16,263) (13,073)
—  (10,351) (i2,515)
— 16,740 22,901
(860) (465) (893)
— — 22
— — “21)
— (932) 330
(860) 4,992 9,422

{7.400) 3,973 -
819 — —
(250) — —

5,900 (5,.900) —

2,945 6,333 824

2,014 4,406 824
10 (691) 317
97N (7.556) (2.510)

6,216 13,772 16,282

$5719 % 6216 $13,772
$ 376 302 % 69
$ 713 431 $ 426
5 — — & 926
$ 1,864 — & —

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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KANA SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Kana Software, Inc. and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

Kana Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“the Company” or “KANA™) were incorporated in July 1996 in
California and reincorporated in Delaware in September 1999. KANA develops, markets and supports customer
communications software products. The Company sells its products primarily in the United States and Europe,
and to a lesser extent, in Asia, through its direct sales force and third party integrators.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2004 and 2005 consolidated financial statements to conform
to the current year presentation, none of which had an effect on total assets, total stockholders’ equity (deficit), or
net loss. ' '

The Company revised the presentation of the common stock and additional paid-in capital balances on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity
(deficit) for the year ended December 31, 2004, At December 31, 2004, the Company had 29.2 million shares of
common stock outstanding with $0.001 par value. Previously reported common stock as a component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit) was $201,000 at December 31, 2004. The Company reclassified $172,000 from
common stock to additional paid-in capital to reflect the calculated par value of outstanding common stock of
$29,000 as of December 31, 2004. This reclassification had no impact on tqlal stockholders’ equity (deficit), net
loss, net loss per,share, or cash flows. ‘ .

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KANA and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated firancial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates
estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, stock- based compensation, provision for doubtful
accounts, fair value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of property and equipment, income
taxes, restructuring costs, and contingencies and litigation, among others. The Company bases estimates-on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources, Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. -

Revenue Recognition ' ‘

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP™) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2), as
amended. . . L

Revenue from software license agreements is recognized when the basic criteria of sofiware revenue
recognition have been met (i.e. persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery of the product has occurred,
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the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is probable). The Company uses the residual method described in
AICPA SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain
Transactions” (“SOP 98-9"), to recognize revenue when a license agreement includes one or more elements to be
delivered at a future date and vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of all undelivered elements
exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining \
portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as license revenue. If evidence of the fair value of one or more
undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements
occurs or when fair value can be established.

For all sales the Company uses cither a signed license agreement, a signed amendment 10 an existing license
agreement, a signed order form, a binding purchase order where we either have a signed master license '
agreement or an order form signed by the Company, or a signed statement of work as evidence of an
arrangement.

Software delivery is prima}ily by electronic means. If the software or other deliverable is subject to
acceptance for a specified period after the delivery, revenue is deferred until the acceptance period has expired or
the acceptance provision has been met.

When licenses are sold together with consulting services, license fees are recognized upon delivery,
provided that (1) the basic criteria of software revenue recognition have been met, (2) payment of the license fees
is not dependent upon the performance of the consulting services, and (3) the consulting services do not provide
significant customization of the software products and are not essential to the functionality of the software that
was delivered. The Company does not provide significant customization of its software products.

Revenue arrangements with extended payment terms are generally considered not to be fixed or
determinable and, the Company generally does not recognize revenue on these arrangements until the customer
payments become due and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Probability of collection is based upon assessment of the customer’s financial condition through review of ' i
their current financial statements or publicly-available credit reports. For sales to existing customers, prior
payment history is also considered in assessing probability of collection. The Company is required to exercise
significant judgment in deciding whether collectibility is reasonably assured, and such judgments may materially l
affect the timing of our revenue recognition and our results of operations.

Services revenues include revenues for consulting services, customer support and training, and OnDemand
hosting. Consulting services revenues and the related cost of services are generally recognized on a time and
materials basis. For consulting services contracts that have a fixed fee, the Company recognizes the license and
professional consulting services revenues using either the percentage-of-completion method or the completed
contract method as prescribed by AICPA SOP No. 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Product-Type Contracts” (“SOP 81-17). KANA's consulting arrangements do not include significant’
customization of the software. Customer support agreements provide technical support and the right to
unspecified future upgrades on an if-and-when available basis. Customer support revenues are recognized ratably
over the term of the support period (generally one year). Training services revenues are recognized as the related
training services are delivered. The unrecognized portion of amounts billed in advance of delivery for services is
recorded as deferred revenue. OnDemand includes our KANA On Demand ‘software as a service’ and
outsourcing offerings as well as Advanced Customer Services. OnDemand revenue is recognized in accordance
with Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,
corrected copy” (“SAB 104”). Revenues from On Demand services are recognized ratably over the term of the
arrangement, while application fees are recognized ratably over the sum of the term of the arrangement and the
term of expected renewals. Hosting service arrangements are a means of deployment whereby our customer’s
software and data is physically located in third party facilities. Customers pay a fee 1o remotely access the hosted
software and data via a secure internet connection. Hosting fees are recognized as the hosting service is delivered
in-accordance with SAB 104. '
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Vendor-specific objective evidence for consulting and training services are based on the price charged when
an ¢lement is sold separately or, in the case of an element not yet sold separately, the price established by
authorized management, if it is probable that the price, once established, will not change before market
introduction. Vendor-specific objective evidence for support services is generally based on the price charged
when an element is sold separately or the stated contractual renewal {'ates..

o

Accounts Receivable and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - : . : )

Accounts receivable are stated at cost, net of allowances for doubtful accounts. The Compeny makes
judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and records allowances when collection becomes
doubtful. Allowance charges are recorded as general and administrative expenses. These estimates are based on
assessing the credit worthiness of our cusiomers based on muliiple sources of information and analysis of such
factors as our historical collection experience and industry and geographic concentrations of credit risk.

| ' .
The accounts recewable aging is rev:ewed ona regular basis and-write- offs are recorded on a case by case
basis net of any amounts that may be collected. S T

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities o . L 5

. ¢ L PR

" The Company considers all'highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three moriths or less
at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company classifies its marketable'securities 4s “available for
sale.” These items are carried at fair value, based on the quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses
reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity
(deficit). To date, unrealized and realized gains or losses have not been material. The cost of securities sold is
based on the specific identification method. There were no marketable securities at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
et

* The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their relatively shon
maturities or payment terms. Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for lines of credit and
note payable with similar terms, the carrying value of the Company’s line of credit and note payable obligation
approximates fair value. : - . . :

..

3 ' . '

Certain Risks and Concentrations

' +

Financial instruments subjecting the Company to concentrations of credlt risk-consist primarily of cash and
cash equivalents, and trade accounts receivable. Cash and cash equwalenls are deposned wuh ﬁndn(:lal

institutions that management believes are credltworthy
1

The Company’s customers are primarily concentrated in the United States and Europe. To reduce credit risk,
the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations on its customers’ financial condition, and generally requires
no collateral to support its accounts receivable. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts -
based upon factors surroundlng the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other 1nformat10n and, to date,
such losses have been within management's expectations. 'As of December 31, 2006, no customer represented
more than 10% of total accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2005, four customers individuaily represented
more than 10% of total accounts receivable, totalmg 51% in aggregate of accounts receivable. ,

During the year ended December 31, 2006, no customer represented more than 10% of total revenues.
During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, one customer represented 11% of total revenues.
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Restricted Cash

The Company maintained $1.1 million in current and long-term restricted cash as of December 31, 2006,
primarily for the Company’s leased facilities. The Company maintained $7.0 miilion in current and long-term
restricted cash as of December 31, 2005, primarily as collateral for the line of credit facility with Bridge Bank
and for the Company’s leased facilities. Restricted cash of $5.9 million served as collateral for the line of credit
facility with Bridge Bank and was classified as a current asset on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2005 and $1.1 million serves as collateral for leased facilities and was classified as long term on the consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2005.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically assesses potential impairment of its long-lived assets with estimable useful lives
which include property and equipment and acquired intangible assets, in accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144™). An impairment review is performed whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors the Company considers important which could
trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant under-performance relative to historical
or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the
strategy for the Company’s overall business, and significant industry or economic trends. When the Company
determines that the carrying value of the long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of
one or more of the above indicators, the Company determines the recoverability by comparing the carrying
amount of the asset to net future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. The impairment
recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the asset. The Company
recognized impairment charges for certain internal use software in 2005 as detailed below under Capitalized
Software Development Costs—Internal Use.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and identified
intangible assets acquired in business combinations. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated at least annually
for impairment or when a change in facts and circumstances indicate that the fair value of the goodwill may be
below its carrying value.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the “reporting unit level” (“Reporting Unit”) at least
annually and more frequently if events merit. The Company performs this test in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 1427). The Company
has determined that it has only one reporting segment and one Reperting Unit. Accordingly, goodwill is tested
for impairment in a two-step process: First, the Company determines if the carrying amount of the Reporting

Unit exceeds the “fair value” of the Reporting Unit, which may initially indicaie that goodwill could be impaired.

if the Company determines that such impairment could have occurred, it would compare the “implied fair value”
of the goodwill as defined by SFAS 142 to its carrying amount to determine the impairment loss, if any. No
impairment of goodwill was identified in 2006, 2005 or 2004.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are three years for
computer equipment, software and fumniture and fixtures, the shorter of ten years or the life of the lease for
leasehold improvements, and five years for internal use software. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gain or loss is reflected in operations.
Improvements that extend the life of a specific asset are capitalized, while normal maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred.
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Capitalized Software Development Costs—Internal Use - ‘ . ‘ .

Software development costs for internal use software are capitalized pursuant to the provisions of Statement
of Position 98-1, “Accounting for Software Development Costs”. Such costs include internal costs as well as
costs incurred to purchase third party software, and are capitalized beginning when the Company has determined
certain factors are present, including among others, that technology exists to achieve the performance
requirements, buy versus internal development decisions have been made and the Company’s management has
authorized the fundmg of the project. Capitalization of software costs ceases when the software is substantially
complete and is ready for its mtended use. The resulting asset is amoruzed over its estimated useful life using the
straight-line method. ‘

When events or c1rcumstances indicate the carrymg value of internal use software might not be recoverable
the Company will assess the recoverablhty of these assets by determining whether the amortization of the asset
balance over its remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows. The amount
of impairment, if any, is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the projected discounted future
operating cash flows and is recognized as a write-down of the asset. In addition, when it is no longer probable
that the software being developed will be placed in service, the asset will be recorded at the lower of its carrying
value or fair value, if any, less direct selling costs. '

In the quarter ended December 31, 2004, the Company reviewed its operations and technology
requirements, and decided to discontinue its use of certain internal use software, which resulted in a non-cash
impairment charge of $1.1 million. ,

In the quaner ended March 31, 20035, the Company reviewed all continuing operating expenses across the
entire Company, including our technology requirements. One result of this review was a decision to discontinue
the use of other internal use software. The 10tal non-cash impairment charge related to this software was $6.3 |
million in the first quarter of 2005.

Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed

Software development costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility of the underlying
software product is achieved. After technological feasibility is established, software development costs are
capitalized until general availability of the product. Capitalized costs are then amortized on.the greater of straight
line basis over the estimated product life, or the ratio of current revenue to total projected product revenue. To |
date, technological feasibility and general availability of such software have occurred simultaneously and
software development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant. Accordingly, the Company has
not capitalized any software development costs. . '

Restructuring Activifies

The Company has recorded a facilities consolidation charge before 2003 for its estimated future lease
commitments on excess facilities, net of estimated future sublease income. The estimates used in calculating the
charge are reviewed on a quarterly basis and are revised if estimated future vacancy rates and sublease rates vary
from the Company’s original estimates. To the extent that new estimates vary adversely from the original
estimates, the Company may incur additional losses that are not included in the accrued balance at December 31,
2006. Conversely, unanticipated improvements in vacancy rates or sublease rates, or termination settlements for
less than the Company’s accrued amounts, may result in a reversal of a portion of the accrued batance and a
benefit on the Company’s statement of operations in a future period.

The majority of the restructuring accrual was originally recorded pursuant to provisions of Emerging Issues
Task Force (“"EITF”) Issue No, 94-3, “Liability Recognition-for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring” (“EITF 94-3") and
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continues to be evaluated pursuant to the requirements thereof. For facilities vacated and employees terminated .
after December 2002, the corresponding restructuring charge was recorded pursuant to the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities”, (“SFAS 146). ' '

Stock-based Compensation

~ On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)™), which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense in the statement of operations for all share-based payment awards made to employees and
directors including employee stock options and employee stock purchases related to the employee stock purchase
plan (“ESPP") based on estimated fair values. SFAS 123(R) supersedes the Company’s previous accounting
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“APB 257). In
March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 1077) relating to SFAS 123(R). The
Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123(R). Using the modified prospective
transition method of adopting SFAS 123(R), the Company began recognizing compensation expense for stock-
based awards granted or modified after December 31, 2005 and awards that were granted prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) but were still unvested at December 31, 2005, Under this method of implementation, no
restatement of prior periods is required or has been made.

Employee stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) in the consolidated statements
of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 related to stock options was $2.8 million. The estimated fair
value of the Company’s stock-based awards, less expected forfeitures, is amortized over the awards’ vesting
period on a straight-line basis. As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) the Company’s loss before income taxes
and net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was increased by $2.8 million. The implementation of SFAS
123(R) increased basic and diluted net loss per share by $0.08 for the year ended December 31, 2006. In this
period a net income per share was changed to a net loss per share based on the effect of implementing SFAS
123(R). The implementation of SFAS 123(R) did not have an impact on cash flows from operations during the
year ended December 31, 2006.

SFAS 123(R) requires companies 10 estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of
grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is
recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in the Company’s statements of operations. Prior to
January 1, 2006, the Company measured compensation expense for its employee stock-based compensation plans
using the intrinsic value method under APB 25 and related interpretations. In accordance with APB 25, no stock-
based compensation expense was recognized in the Company’s statements of operations for stock options
granted to employees and directors that had an exercise price equal to the quoted market price of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant.

Employee stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 included compensation expense for share-based payment
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated
in accordance with the pro forma provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). As new grants occur, the Company’s stock-based
compensation expense will also include compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted
subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions .
of SFAS 123(R). Since stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and

revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company’s pro
forma information reqmred under SFAS 123 for the periods prior to 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures
as they occurred.
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On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued FASB Staff Position
(“FSP”) FAS No. 123R-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based
Payment Awards” (“FSP FAS 123R-3"). This FSP provides a practical transition election related to the
accounting for the tax effects of share-based payment awards to employees, as an alternative to the transition
guidance for the additional paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool™) in paragraph 81 of SFAS 123(R). The alternative
transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the APIC pool related to the
tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, and to determine the subsequent impact on the APIC poot and
statements of cash flows of the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation awards that are outstanding
upon adoption of SFAS 123(R). The guidance in this FSP was effective after November 10, 2005. The Company
may take up 1o one year from the later of adoption of SFAS t23(R) or the effective date of this FSP to evaluate
its available transition aiternatives and make its one-time election. The Company has elected the “short-form”
method to calculating excess tax benefits available for use in offsetting future tax shortfalls in accordance with
FSP FAS |23R-3.

For stock options granted to non-employees the Company recognizes compensation expense in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity
Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or
Services”, which require such equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value on the measurement date. The
measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments
vest. The Company amortizes compensation expense related to non-employee stock options in accordance with
FASB Interpretation No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or
Award Plans” (“FIN 28”).

The Company extended the vesting period of approximately 1,000,000 stock options held by four
terminated employees who had agreements to provide consulting services. In October 2006, the Company
extended the exercise period of approximately 211,000 vested stock options of a former employee as the result of
a lermination agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company granted 57,500 stock options
to four non-employees who had agreements to provide consulting services. As a result of these stock option
modifications to former employees and the stock option grants to consultants, the Company recorded
non-employee stock-based compensation expense of $632,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, allocated
as follows: ’ ‘

Salesandmarketing . ..., ... ... . .. .. . . $119,000
Researchand development .. . ... .. .. i i 44,000
General and administrative ........... .o i, e - 469,000

$632,000
See Note 7 for additional information on stock options.

Foreign Currency

Generally, the functional currency of our international subsidiaries is the local currency. The financial
statements of these subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars using month-e¢nd exchange rates for assets and
liabilities, and average exchange rates for revenues, costs and expenses. Translation gains and losses are recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a component of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate changes denominated in other than the local

currency are included in general and administrative expenses in the statements of operations and are not
considered material for all periods presented.
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Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was $275,000, $243,000, and
$700,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel
responsible for the research and development of new products and services, as well as significant improvements
to existing products and services. The Company expenses research and development costs as they are incurred.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and habilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount where realization is more
likely than not.

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of outstanding shares of common
stock. Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of
common stock and, when dilutive, shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options and warrants
deemed outstanding using the treasury stock method. Outstanding warrants and stock options of | 1,347,000,
10,882,000 and 9,307,000 at December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, have been excluded from the
calculation of diluted net loss per share as all such securities were anti-dilutive for all periods presented.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company reports comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”, which establishes standards for
reporting comprehensive income (loss) and its components in the financial statements. The components of other
comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and foreign currency translation adjustments.
Comprehensive income (loss) and the components of accumulated other comprehensive income are presented in
the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 1 15"
(“SFAS 159”). SFAS159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at
fair value. The standard requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and other
users of financial statements to more easily understand the effect of the company’s choice to use fair value on its
earnings. It also requires entities to display the fair value of those assets and liabilities for which the company has
chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet. This Statement is effective as of the beginning of an
entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of
the previous fiscal year provided that the entity makes that choice in the first 120 days of that fiscal year and also
elects to apply the provisions of Statement 157. The Company is currently evaluating whether the adoption of
SFAS 159 will have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2006, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force 00-19-2, “Accounting for
Registration Payment Arrangements.” This FSP specifies that the contingent obligation to make future payments
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or. otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a separate
agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or.other agreement, should be separately
recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The -
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is: currently evaluating
the effects of 1mplementmg this new standard.. -+ 1+~ .. o o E

.t N S R t ot TR [

. ‘In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accdunting Bulletin No. 108, i‘Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Staterments™ (“SAB 108”). The
purpose of SAB 108 is to provide guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in
quantifying current year misstatements for the purposes of a materiality assessment. The gutdance is effective for
financial statements for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006, SAB 108 was effective for the Companv as
of December-3 1, 2006. The adoption’ ofiSAB 108 did:not have a material impact on the Company's financial
position, results of operatlons orcashflows. v . - 0 : .

Id ot Lo T et . . .

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other. Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R” (“SFAS 158™),
SFAS 158 requires an entity to recognize in its statément of financial position an asset for a defined benefit -
postretirement plan’s over funded status or a liability for a plan’s under funded status. The requirement to
recognize the funded status of a defined postrétirement plan and the disclosure-requirements are effective for
fiscal years ending after December-31, 2006. The Company does-not expect the adoption of SFAS 158 to have a
material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. o ‘

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157""). The
purpose of SFAS No. 157 is to define fair value, establish a framework for measuring fair value. and enhance
disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure requirements are effective for the .
Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of

implementing SFAS 157,

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions — An
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 487). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109
“Accounting for Income Taxes”. It prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken.or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure, and transition, FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December, 15, 2006. The Company
is currently evaluating the effects of implementing FIN 48,

In March 2006, the FASB issued EITF 06-3, “How Sales Taxes Collected From Customers and Remitted to

Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement” (“EITF 06-3"), A tentative consensus

was reached that a company should disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation} regarding
presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for
periods beginning after December 15, 2006, The Company presents sales net of sales taxes in its consolidated ,
statement of operations and does not anticipate changing its policy as a result of EITF 06-3.

In Maich 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets—an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 140” (“SFAS 156™), which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
September 15, 2006. This statement 'was issued to simplify the accounting for servicing rights and to reduce the
volatility that results from using different measurement attributes. The Company does not expect the adoption of
SFAS 156 to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments,”.
(“SFAS 155") an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140. SFAS 155 will be effective for the
Company beginning in the first quarter of 2007. SFAS 155 permits interests in hybrid financial instruments that
contain an embedded derivative that would otherwise require bifurcation, to be accounted for as a single financial
instrument at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. This election is permitted on an
instrument-by-instrument basis for all hybrid financial instruments held, obtained, or issued as of the adoption
date. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 155 to have a material impact on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Note 2. Business Combinations

On February 10, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Hipbone, Inc.
(“Hipbone™), a provider of online customer interaction solutions. The acquisition allowed the Company to add
Hipbone’s web collaboration, chat, co-browsing and file-sharing capabilities to its products. This transaction was
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and operations of Hipbone for the periods beginning
after February 10, 2004 are included in the Company’s statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2004. Under the terms of the-agreement, the Company paid $265,000 in cash and issued a total of 262,500 shares
of the Company’s common stock valued at approximately $926,000 using the five-trading-day average price
surrounding the date the acquisition was announced on January 5, 2004, or $3.62 per share. The Company
incurred a total of approximately $169,000 in direct transaction costs. The estimated purchase price was
approximately $1.4 million, summarized as follows (in thousands):

Fair market value of common stock $ 926
Cash CONSIAETALION . . -« v ot ot ettt ettt et et e ta it en e eae et et a e 265
Acquisitionrelated cosls . ... .. i e e e e e 169

Log U a1 -1 U e 434
71 [ U N $1,360

As of the acquisition date, the Company recorded the fair market value of Hipbone’s assets and liabilities.
Fair market value is defined as the amount at which an asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction
between willing parties. The values of Hipbone’s intangible assets were determined primarily using the income
approach. To the extent that the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed,
goodwill was recorded. The resulting intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition are being
amortized over a three-year period. The allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed
was as follows (in thousands):

Cash aCQUITER .. .. .o oot eet et ettt e i e e e $ 13
Tangible assets acquired (less cash) .. ... ... o 166
Identifiable intangible assets acquired:

Purchased teChnology . . ... ... o o e 250

Customer relationships . ....................... e e e s 150
(70T 1o 112 1| 1,175
Liabilitiesassumed . ... ...... ..o tiarnennn . e e e et (394)
Net assels 8CQUITEE . . . .. oottt et i $1,360

Pro forma results of operations have not been presented as the effects of this acquisition were not material to
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the periods presented.
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Note 3. Financial Statement Detail . R ‘ o !

_Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which appropriates fair valve and consisted of the following
(in thousands):

December 31,
. . 2006 . 2005
Cash . e e e $ 5194 % 4617
Money market funds . ........ e e e e 525 1,599
$ 5719 3 6,216
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in th(;us:;nds):'
-t . o . i December 31,
‘ . 2006 - + 2005
Prepaid royalties . .............oeeenaiei i, T S, ioe.. 8 709 °% 1,209
Other prepaid expenses . ... ... . .. S S A I RS 1,258 1,650
T | . | '$ ‘1967 § 2,859
Property and equipment, net consisted of lhe'following (in thousands): J
. | : ‘ . e ey g wy oo .D'ecember.”l,

. . _ , Cnem g .. 2006 2005
Computer equipment and software .. ..1.... e vt e S 11106 $ 10,408
Furniture and fixtures . ... .. Y N e .. V.. 686 602
Leasehold improvements ................ e S DR 3,383 3,939
Internal use sOfWATE . . .. L .. e 561 561

i ‘ . o . o ) ) 15,736 15,510
Less accumulated depreciation and amonizat‘io_n S - G (14,515) (13,6064)

SR " . b $ 1221 § 1,846

Amortization of internal use software was $112,000, $544,000 and $3.0 millién for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively. -

Other assets consisted of the folldWing '(in: thousands): ‘ _ '
T L . ' ; ‘ " . "~ December 31,
c . v » 2006 2005
Deposits ........... TSR AU P ol 8 231708 2,062
Prepaid royalties . .. ... ... .. . .. e 653 894
o ' . 3 2970 $§ 2956

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following ({in thousands):

December 31, i
2006 2005
Accrued payroll and related expenses . ... ... e % 3619 § 2,693
Accrued royalties .. ... ... e - 1,262 2,027
Other accrued liabilities . ....... ... ... . i TP <, 1,999 3,986

$ 6880 % 8,706
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Other income (expense), net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
IALEIESE ANCOIMIE . . . vt vt e e e et e e et et e e ettt e en e e ettt et ans $172 $265 $294
IMELESE EXPEDSE . . . - - oo oottt e e e eae e e et (207) (513) (180)
Change in warrant liability ............ (774) 331 —

LT3 17 S U UGG 1 5 14
’ $(738) § 38 $128

Note 4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Consideration paid in connection with acquisitions is required to be allocated to the acquired assets, !
including identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities acquired. Acquired assets and liabilities are recorded based |
on the Company’s estimate of fair value, which requires significant judgment with respect to future cash flows |
and discount rates. For intangible assets other than goodwill, the Company is required to estimate the useful life
of the asset and recognize its cost as an expense over the useful life. The Company uses the straight-line method
to expense long-lived assets (including identifiable intangibles). Amortization of goodwill ceased as of January 1,
2002 upon the Company’s adoption of SFAS 142. Instead, the Company is now required to test goodwill for
impairment under certain circumstances and write down goodwill when it is deemed to be impaired.

The Company regularly evaluates its business for potential indicators of impairment of goodwill and
intangible asscts. The Company’s judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on
market conditions, operational performance of the business and considerations of any events that are likely to
cause impairment. Future events could cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that
goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the Company's acquired businesses are impaired. The
Company currently operates in one reportable segment, which is also the only reporting unit for the purposes of
FAS 142

The Company performed its annual impairment tests at June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and concluded that
goodwill was not impaired as the fair value of the Company exceéded its carrying value, including goodwill. No
events have occurred since June 30, 2006 that would require an interim impairment analysis of goodwill. The
Company’s identifiable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible may not be recoverable.

Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is three years. The Company reported amortization expense
on purchased intangible assets of $133,000, $133,000, and $119,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004, respectively. Expected amortization expense is $15,000 in 2007. Of these amounts, 62.5%
relates to purchased technology and 37.5% relates to customer relationships, based upon the allocation of the
Hipbone purchase price above.

~ The components of goodwill and other intangibles are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

LT 1o L1 1) M $ 8,623 § 8623
Intangibles:

Customer Relationships ... ......voeiiutri i $ 150 § 150
Purchased 1echnology . ..o ot i i s 14,650 14,650
Less: accumulated amortization . ........ ittt i et (14,785) (14,652)
INEAREIDIES, ML . . o\ v vttt e et et bt et e e e $ 15 § 148




Note 5, Line of Credit and Note Payable
(a) Line of Credit

On November 30, 2005, the Company established a new banking relationship with Bridge Bank N.A.
(“Bridge™). In addition, on November 30, 2005, the Company entered into a Business Fmancmg Agreement and
Iniellectual Property Security Agreement with Bridge under which the Company has access to a Loan Facility of
$7. .0 million (“Loan™). This Loan is made up of two parts: (i) a Formula Revolving Line of Credit of up to $5.0
mllhon and (i) a Non-Formula Revolving Line of Credit of up to $6.0 million, of which $2.0 million is available
for stand-by letters of credits, settlement limits on foreign exchange contracts (FX) or cash management
products. The combined total borrowing under the two parts cannot exceed $7.0 million. The Formula Revolving
Line of Credit is collateralized by all of our assets and expired November 29, 2006. Interest for the Formula
Revolving Line of Credit accrues at Bridge’s Prime Lending Rate plus 2% while interest for the Non-Formula
Revolving Line of Credit accrues at Bridge’s Prime Lending Rate plus 0.50%. On December 29, 2005, the .
Company entered into a Business Financing Agreement, which provided for additional advances up 10 $1.5
million based on an advance rate of 80% of eligible receivables. The overall Loan Facility was increased to $7.5
million, As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $7.4 million drawn against the Loan and the Business
Financing Agreement and had pledged approximately $1 9 million of accounts receivable as collateral for the
Business Financing Agreement. e

On March 30, 2006, the Company modified the Business Financing Agreement with Bridge Bank to
increase the additional advances for accounts receivable to $2.0 million and the overall Loan Facility to $8.0
million. On November 28, 2006 the Business Financing Agreement was modified 10 extend the expiration date to
February 28, 2007. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had no borrowings drawn against the Loan.

On February 27, 2007, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement
with Bridge under which the Company has access to a Loan Facility. of $10.0 million. (“boan”) See Note 15 for
further details. .

{b) Note Pavable

As of December 31, 2006, there was $327,000 classified as current portion of note payable and $242,000
classified as long-term. The long term portion was included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had no debt outstanding other than the line of credit
discussed above. The note payable consists of two obligations. The first is a promlssory note with De Lage :
Landen F1nanc1al Services, Inc. for the financing of software license and support purchased and has a fixed
mterest raté of 3. 15%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest, The second obligation i$ with
First Insurance Funding Corp of California for short-term financing of Directors and Officers i insurance, and has a
fixed interest rate of 8.75%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest. ‘

. . . , Payments Due By Period (in thousands)
Note Description - | P Interest Rate Total Due Duein 2007 Duein 2008 Due in 2009

Note - financing of software ................. L 315%  $406 Sled $170 - $ 72
Note - financing of insurance ....... e 8.75% 163 163 — —
Total .. $569  $327 $170 $ 72

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Lease Obhgauons

The Company leases its famlmes undcr non-cancelable operating leases with various cxprrauon dates
through January 2011. In connection with its existing leases, the Company entered into letters of credit totaling
$781,000 expiring in, 2007 through 201 1. The Company s letters of credit can be supported by either restricted
cash or the Company’s line of credit.. - .
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Non-cancelable (Lms)
Operating Sublease

Year Ending December 31, . : Leases(1) Income(2) Net

2007« et e $ 4,687 $1,756  $2,931
2008 ......... S U PP PP 3,622 1,206 2,416
711 3,425 1,314 2,11
20 ] UG 2,196 974 1,222
11 ) 1 1 U R 53 — 53

! o . $13,983 $5,250 $8,733

(1) Includes leases for properties included in the restructuring liability: -
(2) Includes only subleases that are under contract as of December 31, 2006 and excludes future estimated
sublease income for agreements not yet signed.

Rent expense for proﬁerties in use, net of sublease payments, was approximately $1.7 million, $1.9 million
and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. ‘

{b) Other Contractual Obligations !

At December 31, 2006, the Company had other future contractual obligations requiring payments of $3.6
million, $457,000, $200,000, $200,000, $200,000 for the years ended December 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and
2011 respectively, with no required payments thereafter. These contractual obligations represent payments on a
legal settlement, minimum payments to vendors for future royalty fees, marketing services, training services,
consulting services, engineering services, and sales events, severance payments to terminated employees and
minimum payments to an outsourcing company.

¢) Litigation

On January 24, 2007, RightNow Technologies, Inc. (“RightNow”) filed a suit against the Company and four
former RightNow employees who had joined the Company in the Eighteenth Judicial District Court of Gallatin
County, Montana. The suit alleges violation of certain provisions of employment agreements, misappropriation
of trade secrets, as well as other claims, and seeks damages. The Company is undertaking to defend itself and the
named individuals to the extent required by applicable laws. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses
to these claims and intends to defend against this action vigorously.

On Maich 16, 2006, Polaris IP, LLC filed suit against the Company, Sirius Satellite Radio, Inc.,
Priceline.com, Capital One, Continental Airlines, Inc., and E*Trade Financial in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,411,947 and 6,278,996, and seeking
injunctive relief, damages and attorneys fees. On March 23, 2007, the parties entered into a settlement agreement
which will result in the dismissal of this matter.

The underwriters for the Company’s initial public offering, Goldman Sachs & Co., Lehman Bros,
Hambrecht & Quist LLC, Wit Soundview Capital Corp as well as the Company and certain current and former
officers of the Company were named as defendants in federal securities class action lawsuits filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The cases allege violations of various securities laws
by more than 300 issuers of stock, including the Company, and the underwriters for such issuers, on behalf of a
class of plaintiffs who, in the case of the Company, purchased the Company’s stock between September 21, 1999
and December 6, 2000 in connection with the Company’s initial public offering. Specifically, the complaints
allege that the underwriter defendants engaged in a scheme concerning sales of the Company’s and other issuers’
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securities in the initial public offering and in the aftermarket. In July 2003, the Company decided to join in a
settlement negotiated by representatives of a coalition of issuers named as defendants in this action and their
insurers. In April 2005, the court requested a modification to the ongmal settlement arrangement which was
approved by the Company.’ Although the Company believes thai the_p]amnffs claims have no merit, the'
Company has decided to accept the settlement proposal to avoid the cost and distraction of continued litigation’
The proposed settlement agreement is subject to final approval by the court. Should the court fail to approve the
sett]ement agrecment the Company believes it has meritorious defenses to these ¢laims and would defend ™ *
against'the action vigorously. Because the settlement will be funded entirely by the Company’s insurers, the
Company does not believe that the settlement will have any effect on its ¢onsolidated financial condition, results
of operation or cash flows and accordmgly, the Company has not accrued” an amount for this loss contmgency in
its consolidated ﬁnancral statéments at December 3] 2006. " N
e, _ e S ey

Other third parties have from time to time claimed, and others may claim in the future that the Company has
infringed their past, current, or future intetlectual property rights. The Company in thie past-has been forced to
litigate such claims. These claims, whether meritorious or not, could be time-consuming, result in costly
lmganon require expensive changes in our methods of doing busmess or could require the Company to enter
into costly, royalty or licensing agreements, if avarlable Asa result these claims could harm the Company 5
business. ., - ) . _ e e, o

The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and either unfavorable or favorable outcomes could
have a material negative impact on the Company’s results of operations, consolidated balance sheets and cash
flows, due to defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors

v II LY

34 LS l.'lv
LA . ' o T

{d), lndemmf' catron . , . . .
Many of our software license agreements reqiire us to indemnify our customers from any claim or ﬁndmg
of intéllectual property infringement. We'periodically receive notices from customers regarding patent license
inquiries they have received which may or may not implicate our indemnity-obligations. Any litigation; brought
by others, ‘or us could result in the expenditure of significant financial resources and the diversion of - - -
management’s time and efforts. In addition, litigation in which'we are accused of infringement might ‘cause
product shipment delays, require us to develop alternative technology or require us to enter into royalty or license
agréements, Which might not bé available on acceptable terms, or‘at all. If 4 successful clair of infringement was
made agalnst us and we could not develop non- mfnngmg technology or license the infringed or snmlar
lechnology oni tlmely and cost-effective basis, ouf business could be significantly harmed. Such -
1ndemn1ﬁcatron provisions are'accounted for in accordance with SFAS No.'5 “Accounting for Contingencies”™
(“SFAS 57). In prior periods, the Company has incurred minimal costs related to such élaims under such
indemnifications provisions; accordingly, the amount of such obligations cannot be reasonably estimated. The
Comipany did however record a'settlement charge resulting from a settlement of an 1nfr1ngement claim on the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006, which was not '
considered material. Except for those related to the Polans matter, there were no outstandmg clalms at
December31 2006 ' " o L o ;
As perrmtted by De]aware law the Company has agreements whereby it mdemmﬁes its officers and
directors, for certam events or occurrences while the ofﬁcer is, or was, servmg at the Company s Tequest in such
capacity. The term of the indemnification perlod is for the ofﬁcer s or director’s lifetime. The maximum
potential a.mount of future payrncnls the Company could be requrred to make under these mdemmﬁcalron
agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has a drrecror and officer i msurance policy that hrrjuts its
exposure and enables the Company to recover a portlon of any such amounts. As a result of the Company s
insurance policy coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indémnification agreernents is
insignificant. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31,
2006, S S

T e

1
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{e) Warranties

The Company generally provides a warranty for its software products and services to its customers. The
Company’s products are generally warranted to. perform substantially as described in the associated product
documentation for a period of 90 days. The Company’s services are generally warranted to be performed
consistent with industry standards for a period of 90 days from delivery. In the event there is a failure of such
warranties, the Company generally is obligated to correct the product or service to conform to the warranty
provision or, if the Company is unable to do so, the customer is entitled to seek a refund of the purchase price of
the product or service. Such warranties are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 5. The Company has not
provided for a warranty accruat as of December 31, 2006 or 2005 because, to date, the Company’s product
warranty expense has not been significant. The Company assesses the need for a warranty reserve on a quarterly
basis and there can be no guarantee that a warranty reserve will not become necessary in the future.

{f) Outsourcing Arrangements I )

In January 2003, the Company implemented an outsourcing strategy that involved entering into agreements
for subcontracting a significant portion of its softwaré programming, quality assurance, and technical
documentation activities to development partners with staffing in India and China. All of these agreements,
except for two pay-as-you-go master agreements for offshore development services, have expired or been
cancelled.

Note 7. Stockholders® Equity (Deficit)
{a) Issuance of Common Stock and Warrants

In June 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance of
1,631,541 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 815,769 shares of common stock for gross proceeds
of $2.4 million. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.452 per share. The warrants were valued at $581,000
using the Black-Scholes valuation model and recorded as a liability on the date of issue. These warrants were
amended in September 2005 to become exercisable on March 28, 2006, and expire on September 29, 2010. The .
modification resulted in an increase of $21,000 to the value of the warrants. See Note 8 for further details .
regarding the accounting of these warrants as a liability. _ i

In September 2005, the Company completed a private placement of unregistered securities for the issuance
of 2,626,912 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 945,687 shares of common stock for gross
proceeds of $4.0 million. The warrants had an exercise price of $2.284 per share. These warrants became
exercisable on March 28, 2006, and expire on September 29, 2010. The warrants were valued at $672,000 using
the Black-Scholes valuation model and recorded as a liability on the date of issue. These warrants were amended
to have an exercise price of $1.966 per share in October 2005. The modification resulted in an increase of
$49,000 to the value of the warrants. See Note 8 for further details regarding the accounting of these warrants as
a liability.

The terms for thé September 2005 private placement require additional shares of common stock and
warrants to be issued in the case that the Company’s stock is delisted from The NASDAQ National Market. In
October 2005, the Company’s common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ National Market and the
Company issued an additional 425,358 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 153,130 shares of
common stock to the respective investors of the June and September 2005 private placements (“Investors™).
These additional warrants have an exercise price of $1.966 per share and became exercisable on April 24, 2006,
and will expire’ on October 35, 2010. These warrants were valued at $98,000 using the Black-Scholes valuation
mode] and recorded as a liability on the'date of issue. Sec Note 8 for further details regarding the accounting of
these warranis as a liability. ’ ' '

In Mdy 2006, the Company amended the registration agreement related to the June and September 2005
private placements (collectively referred to as “Private Placements™) to extend the registration deadline of the
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shares of common stock and underlying shares of common stock of the warrants issued to certain investors (the
“Investors™) to September 30, 2006 from January 27, 2006 and change the penalty for failure to register the
underlying shares of common stock from a cash penalty to a share-based payment, in exchange for the issuance
of 593,854 shares of common stock to the Investors. The shares were valued at approximately $1.0 million based
on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the amendment less a 10% discount to
reflect that unregistered stock was issued. Registration rights penalties of $337,000 and $695,000 were recorded
as non-operating expenses during the first and second quarters of 2006, respectively. The September 30, 2006
registration deadline was not met'and an additional 59,383 shares of common stock was issued to the Investors.
The shares were valued at approximately $166,000 based on the fair market value of the Company’s common
stock on September 30, 2006 less a 10% discount 10 reflect that unregistered siock was issued. This amount was
recorded as a non-operating expense during the third quarter of 2006. : ‘

On November 9, 2006, the Company completed the registration of the shares of common stock and shares of
common stock underlying the warrants issued to the Investors. _ ”

In December 2003, the Company,issued to a customer a warrant to purchase 230,000 shares of common
stock at $5.00 per share in connection with a marketing agreement. The warrant was valued at approximatély
$459,000, using the B]ack-Scholes valuation model with an assumed interest rate of 5.0% and volatility of IOO%
This amount was accounted for as a reduction of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003. The warrant is fully
exercisable and expires ﬁvc years from the date of issuance. As of December 31, 2006, the warrams were ,
unexercised.

¥
1

( bj Smck Compensation Plans ' .

The Company’s ESPP allowed ellglble employees (o purchase common stock through payroll deducuons of
up to 15% of an employee’s compensation. Each offering period had a maximum duration of 24 months and |
consisted of four six-month purchase periods. The purchase price of the common stock was equal to 85% of the
fair market value per share on the participant’s entry date into the offering period, or, if lower, 85% of fair
market value per share on each semi-annual purchase date. The ESPP qualified as an employee stock purchase
plan under Section 423 of the Internai Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. In November 2005, the Company
cancelled the ESPP and refunded to employees all withholdings since November 2004, the date of the last ESPP
share issuance. : 1 -

The Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the *1999 Stock Incentive Plan"), as successor to the 1997
Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Stock:Option Plan”), provides for shares of the Company’s common stock to be -
granted to employees, independent contractors, officers, and directors. Options are granted at an exercise price
equivalent to the closing fair market value on the date of grant. All options are granted at the discretion' of the
Company's Board of Directors and have a term not greater than 10 years from the date of grant. Options are
immediately exercisable when vested and generally vest monthly over four years.

1
1

77




The following table summarizes activity under the equity incentive plans for the indicated periods:

— Options Quistanding
' Weighted
Weighted Average
: ! ' Average Remaining ' Aggregate
‘ . Number of  Exercise Centractual Intrinsic

. . . Shares Price Term Value
Balances, December 31,2003 ........ e e e 7.891,286 $14.91
Additional shares authorized . ........ e
Options cancelled and retired .. ........ e (2,328,680) 16.26 .
Options exercised . ..., ... ... e (132,635) 206 . $ 257911
Options granted .......... ... .ot 3,592,500 3.61
Balances, December 31,2004 ... .. .. ... it 9,022,471 10.26
Options cancelled and retired . . .. ........... Lo o, (2,803,613)  -9.59
Optionsexercised ............ i (14,480) 1.41 $ 4237
Options granted ......... ... 2,468,730 ~ 1.63
Balances, December 31,2005 ................. . 8,673,108  '8.03
Options cancelled and retired .. ............. S S (2,212,863) 1030
Options exercised ... ...t (1,395,263)  2.11 S $1,472,165
Options granted .......... ..o 4,136,939 299
Balances, December 31,2006 ... ... ... ... ... i, 9,201,921 § 6.12 7.55 $3,778,856
Options vested and exercisable and expected to be vested and
exercisable at December 31,2006 ............ ... ., A '.?',927,5'1"1r $ 6.53 7.30 $3,267.578
Options vested and exercisable at December 31,2006 ....... 4 816,489 §$ 8.11 6.29 $1,853,710

At December 31, 2006, the Company had 8,303,840 options available for grant under its option plans.

Options vested and exercisable at December 31, 2006 excludes certain options which are vested but not yet
exercisable. In certain situations, a stock option will be vested but not exercisable. The number of shares
exercisable at December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 were 4,816,489, 5,451,175, and 4,006,253 respectively, and
the weighted average exercise price of such shares for the same periods were $8.11, $10.18, and $16.53 per
share, respectively. In certain situations, a stock option will be vested but not exercisable. At December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004, the total number of vested but unexercisable shares, were 216,666, 169,107, and 34,732,
respectively, and had a weighted average exercise price of $37.73, $52.54 and $56.12 per share, respectively.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had $2.6 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to stock options that will be recognized over the weighted average
remaining period of 2.46 years. This amount excludes unrecognized stock-based compensation expense that
relates to non-employee stock options.
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The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options as of
December 31, 2006: . .

-

Options Outstanding Options Vested and Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Remaining Exercise ' Exercise
. Number Contractual Priceper . Number Price per

Range of Exercise Prices I . Cuistanding  Life {(in Years) Share Exercisable Share
$O00-1.73 ... .......... e 1,594,702 750 - 8§ 16l 738,303 $ 1.58
L7288 <. 767,573 593 245 667.490 » 2.46
295-295 .. 3,745,585 9.18 2.95 1,082,470 2.95
301-474 .' ....................... 1,704,589 7.36 3.63 976,689 3.72
. 5.23-18. 90 1,296,031 4.46 12.34 1,292,781 12.36
18.90-889.40 ...................... 93,275 3.10 197.96 58,590 226.35
998.50-99850 ...................... 166 23.01 998.50 166 998.50

Total ......oooieiiiioii 9201921 755 § 612 481648  $ 811

Employee share based compensation recognized in 2006 as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R) as well as
pro forma disclosures according-to the original provisions of SFAS 123 for the periods prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) use the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of, options granted under the
Company’s.equity incentive plans. The weighted average assumptions that were used to calculate the grant date fair
value of the Company’s employee stock option grants and rights to acquire stock granted under the Company ]
employee stock purchase plan for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

b - : ST Employee Stock
D , - .. Stock Options . . Purchase Plan
Risk-free INtereSt FALE .. o\t ittt it it it s e e innnnenann 471% 391% 266% n/a nfa 1.86%
Expected volatility ........ P P io..t 59%  99% -104% nfa nfa . 105%
Expected life (inyears) ... ......o o il S .5 5. 5 wna nfa- 0S5
Dividend yield ... ... .............. e e 0% - 0% 0% nfa - nfa - 0%

Risk-free interest rates for the options were taken from the Daily Federal Yield Curve Rates on the grant
dates for the expected life of the options as published by the Federal Reserve.

The expected volatility ‘of the stock options in 2006 was based upon historical data and cther relevant faclors
such as the Company ] changes in historical volatility and its capital structure in addluon to mean revers;on In’
2005 and 2004 the expected vo]aullty was based on hlstoncal data.

In the analysi$ of expécted life the Company used an approach that determines the time from grant to
exercise for options that have been exercised and adjusts this number for the expected time to exercise for
options that have not yet been exercised. The expectéd time to exercise for options that liave not yet been
exercised is calculated from grant to the midpoint of contractual términation of the option and the later of -
measurement date or vesting date. All times are weighted by number of option shares in developing the expected
life assumption. In 2005 and 2004, the expected life was based on historical data: :

There were no employee stock purchase rights grants in 2006 and 2005, The weighted average fair value of
the employee stock purchase rights granted under the 1999 ESPP during 2004 was $1.32 per share. The weighted-
average fair value of options granted in 2006 was $1.62 per share. The weighted-average fair value and exercise
price of options granted in 2005 whose exercise price is equal to the market price of the stock on the grant date
was $1.23 and $1.60 per share, respectively. The weighted-average fair value and exercise price of options granted
in 2005 whose exercise price exceeds the market price of the stock on the grant date was $1.07 and $1.87 per .
share, respectively. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2004 was $3.87 per share.
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The forfeiture rate of employee stock options for 2006 was calculated using the Company’s historical
terminations data. Forfeitures of employee stock options for 2005 and 2004 were accounted for on an as-incurred
basis.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company followed the disclosure-only provisions under SFAS 123.
Compensation expense for pro forma purposes is reflected over the vesting period, in accordance with the
method described in FIN 28. The following table presents the effect of the related adjustments on net loss and net
loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Year
Ended Ended
! December  December
31, 2005 31, 2004

Net loss, asreported .................... T AP $(17,966) $(21,768)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss . ....... 38 810
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair
value method forall awards ... ..ottt (7,393) (10,663)
Netloss, proforma ... ..ottt R D $(25,321) %(31,621)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare: . ............. ... ..ot e
Asreported .. ........ ... i e e P $ (058 $ (0.75
Proforma .......coevveeeennns SR $ (082) § (1.09)

The Company had used the intrinsic-value method in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans
prior to 2006. Accordingly, compensation cost had been recognized in the financial statements for those options
issued with exercise prices at less than fair value on the date of grant. These amounts were included as a
component of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and were being amortized on an accelerated basis by charges to
operations over the vesting period of the options, consistent with the method described in FIN 28. Amortization
of deferred stock-based compensation was $38,000 and $1.2 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. No options
were granted with an exercise price below the fair market value during fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004,

Note 8. Warrant Liability S

The warrants issued to the Investors in June, September and October 2005 (collectively referred to as the
“Warrants“) had cash penalties for the failure to register the underlying shares of common stock. Pursuant to
Emcrgmg Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock” (“EITF 00- 19”), the Company recorded the Warrants as
liabilities at their fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model with changes in value reported to other
income or expense each period. For the year ended December 31, 2005, $331,000 was recorded to other income
for the change in fair value of the Warrants. For the year ended December 31, 2006, $774,000 was recorded to
other expense for the change in fair value of the Warrants.

The Warrants require physical settlement but allow for net-share settlement if the underlying shares of
common stock are not registered. A maximum of 1,914,586 shares of common stock could be issued to settle the
Warrants under a net-share settlement.

As noted above in Note 7, in May 2006, the Company amended the Registration Agreement related to the
Private Placements to extend the registration deadline of the shares of common stock and underlying shares of
common stock of the warrants issued to the Investors. The Company amended the penalty for failure to register
the underlying shares of common stock from cash to share-based payments, with a maximum limit of 59,383
penalty shares to be issued. Pursuant to EITF 00-19, with the elimination of these cash penalties and a maximum
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limit on penalty shares, the fair value of the Warrants on the date of this amendment was reclassified to equity
from hablllty, and gains or losses recorded to account for the contract at fair value durmg the pericd that the
contract was c]asqlﬁed asa llablhty were not reversed : :

o . P . .‘Ti

' B % s . . 7 i, - N N

Note 9. Restructuring Costs

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has $6.1 million in recorded restructuring liabilities primarily
related to excess leased facilities exited before 2003. The majority of this restructuring reserve was originally ,
recorded pursuant to provisions of EITF 94-3 and continues to be evaluated pursuant to the requirements thereof.
For facilities vacated after December 2002, the corresponding restructuring charge was recorded pursuant to the
provisions of SFAS 146, and was recorded as a result of a change in evaluation of the real estate conditions in the
United Kingdom as well as a change in sublease estimates based on communications with current and potential
subtenants in the United States. Additionally, the Company vacated two buildings during 2005. These charges
totaled $186,000 and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, and 2004, respectively, and have been
' recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations as restructuring costs. - ! .

in December 2005, the Company consolidated its research and development operations into one location in
Menlo Park, California to optimize the Company s research and development processes and decrease overall
operating expenses. As a fesult, the Company terminated the employment of 15 employees based in New
Hampshire. As a result of this consolidation, the Company incurred a restructuring charge of $282,000 related to
employee termination costs.

In December 2006, the Company determined that it may not be able to sublease a leased facility in
Princeton, New Jersey, and changed its assumption of subleasing this excess space. The Company recorded a
restructuring charge of $739,000 as of December 31, 2006 mainly relatéd to this change in estimate of sublease
assumption that is not subject to any contractual arrangement. In 2006, there was also a restructunng recovery of
$36,000 due to the change in estimates of termination of certain employees. A

Should facilities operatmg lease rental rates continue to decrease in these markets or should it take longer -
than expected to find 4 suitable tenant to sublease these facilities, the actual loss could-exceed this estimate. '
Future cash outlays are anticipated through January 2011 unless the Company negotiates 1o exit the leases at an -
earlier date. Sublease payments received were approximately $1.7 million, $494,000 and $141,000 in the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

1 - . T
i .

A summary of restructuring expenses, payments, and llabllzues for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005, and 2006 is as follows (in' thousands): o '

. . . , . - Severance. . Facilities - Total
Restructuring reserve at December 31,2003 ... ............ ... .. ... L 5184 $l0,0lO - $10,194

Restructuring charge . ......... .. .. . . i e — 3,400 3,400
Payments made . ........ .. .. e (184) 2,757y  (2,941)
Subledse payments received .. ... ... L —_ 141 141
Restructuring reserve at December 31,2004 ... ... ... .................. - 10;794‘ ,.‘lb,794
Restructuring Charge . .. ... . 282 |, ., 186 . , 468
Paymentsmade .......................... e R —. . (4204), (4,204
Sublease paymentsreceived ........... ... i —, 494 494
Restructuring reserve at December 31,2005 ............... .. ..o ... 282 7,270 7.552
Restructuring charge (recovernies) ....... ... ... ... i, 36y . -~ 739 703
Payments made . ... ... .. e e (246) ‘(3,557) - (3, 803)
Sublease payments received . ........ . - 1,650 , 1,650
Restructuring reserve at December 31,2006 ... ...ovvreerneerrennn ... 5 — $,6,102 % 6,102




O

Note 10. Retirement Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan, which covers substantially all employees. Eligible employees
may make salary deferral (before tax) contributions up to a specified amount. The Company, at its discretion,
may make additional matching contributions on behalf of the participants of the retirement plan. The Company
made no contributions for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2003 and 2004.

Note 11. Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows: _ o

December 31,

. _ ' ‘ . 2006 2005 2604
United States ..... SR e F $(2,609) $(19,661) $(19,064)
Intermnational . ... .ttt e s s 402 1,891 (2,390)
TOMBL ..ottt e $(2,207) $(17,770) $(21,454)

The 2006, 2005 and 2004 income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S.
federal income tax rate of 34% to pretax loss as a result of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

. 2006 2005 2004

Federal tax benefit at statutoryrate .. ......... J $(750) $(6,042) $(7,294)
Current year net operating losses and temporary differences, no tax benefit

recognized ........... ... P .. (2000 5979 7,190
Stock-based COMPENSAON .. ... evvnerriiranenn. e 253 — —
Nondeductible warrant eXpense . .............uiriaarrarcnaii i 670 — —
Other permanent differences .. ........ e e e e 27 63 . 103
Foreigntaxes ...............c..ovn. e e e 219 196 314
Total INCOME tAX EXPENSE . . oo ovv v vt et s iinanenns e $219 $ 196 § 314

In 2006, 2005 and 2004 certain foreign subsidiaries were profitable, based upon application of the
Company’s intercompany transfer pricing agreements, which resulted in income tax expense totaling
approximately $219,000, $196,000 and $314,000 respectively, in those foreign jurisdictions.

The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities are set as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Décember 31,
2006 ' 2005
Deferred tax assets:
AcCrUals ANA TESEIVES . .\ vt v vt e ettt et ettt e e $ 2808 $ 1,085
Property and eqUIPMENt . ... ...ttt e 7,996 8,715
- Creditcarryforward ... 2,296 2,110
Stock based COMPENSALION . ... ... .o 25,511 24,664
(011 1 o AU 646 - 2,152
Net operating LoSS . ... ..o i - 170,007 173,951
Gross deferred taX 55818 . .. v e ettt e e s e 209,264 212,677
Valuation Al OWaCe . o v vttt e et e e e e e (209,264) (212.677)
Net deferred taX 55818 .« . v v vttt et et e vt vt e e 3 — 8 —




The net change in the valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2006 was a decrease of
approximately $3.4 million due to current year taxable income net of the effect of the expiration of tax
carryforwards and other assets. The net change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 was an increase of approximately $5.6 and $14.9 million, respectively, due to current year losses
net of the effect of the expiration of tax carryforwards and other assets. Management believes that sufficient
uncertainty exists as to whether the deferred tax assets will be realized, and accordingly, a valuation allowance is
required.

A portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertain to acquired net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $8.6 million. When recognized, the tax benefit of these loss carryforwards will
be accounted for as a credit to reduce goodwill or acquired intangibles, if remaining, rather than a reductlon of
income tax expense. ’

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income
tax purposes of approximately $443.0 miltion and $333.6 million, respectively. The federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards, if not offset against future taxable income, will expire by 2025, The Company also
had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $7.9 million. The foreign losses expire at various
dates and some can be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the Internal Revenve Code, the amounts of and benefits from net operating loss carryforwards
may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances. Events which cause limitations in the amount of net
operating losses that the Company may utilize in any one year include, but are not limited to, a cumulative -
ownership change of more than 50%, as defined, over a three year period. The portion of the net operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards subject to potential limitation has not been included in deferred tax assets.

. ‘ -

A porticn of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses, pertains to net operating loss carryforwards -
resulting from tax deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately $6.3 million. When
recognized, the tax benefit of these loss carryforwards will be accounted for as a-credit to additional paid-in
capital rather than a reduction of the income tax expense.

The Company has deferred calculating U.S. income 1ax on certain foreign earnings that are deemed to be
permanently re-invested overseas. Determination of the unrecognized deferred tax liability is not currently
practicable and the amount is not expected to be material.

Note 12. Information About Geographic Areas

The Company’s chief operating decision maker reviews financial information presented on a consolidated
basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of making
operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Accordingly, the Company considers itself to be in a
single industry segment: specifically the licensing and support of its software applications. Revenue classification
is based upon customer location. Geographic information on revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
North America .. ...t e i iee s $36,894  $30,039  $31,739
Burope ... e 16,203 11,848 15,537
AstaPacific ... .. ... e 933 1,241 1,624

$54,030  $43,128  $48,900
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Geographic information on the Company’s long-lived assets (Property and Equipment, net,'and Other
Assets), based on physical location, is as follows (in thousands): ‘

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
United States . .......oviinennnss TR $1,974 $2,835
INEErNAtioNal ...ttt e e e s 2,217 1,967

$4,191 $4,802

Note 13. Related Party Transactions

On October 30, 2006, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with William T. Clifford, a member
of KANA's Board of Directors. Mr. Clifford has consulted with KANA’s management as an independent
contractor on matters pertaining to strategic planning and business (in addition to his role as a member of the
Board of Directors) for a period of twelve months that commenced on January 24, 2006. Pursuant to the terms of
the Agreement, KANA will pay Mr. Clifford a fee of $59,900 in consideration for his consulting services and this
amount was still outstanding to him as of December 31, 2006. :

Note 14. Restated Quarteriy Financial Data (Unaudited)

Subsequent to the issuance of the Company’s condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the
quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006, and September 30, 2006, the Company determined that non-cash
compensation expenses relating to certain options granted in 1999 were incorrectty recorded as employee stock-
based compensation in each of the first three quarters of 2006. Additionally, certain other revenue and expense
items including services revenue, cost of license fees, non-employee stock-based compensation and registration
rights penalty were recorded in the improper quarter within 2006. As a result, the balance sheets, operating
results and share data presented below for the quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006, and September 30,
2006 have been restated. :
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Restated condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the following adjustments during the ficst three
quarters of 2006. Note that numbers in parentheses.represent an increase in expense and /or a decrease in income or
revenue. Numbers with-no parentheses represent a decrease in expense and /or an increase in income or revenue.

Effects on Net Loss — (Increase) Decrease L

Three Months Three Months Six Months Three Months Nine Months
Ended Mar. 31, Ended June 30, June 30, Sept. 30, Sept. 30,

2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 °
As As As As . As .
Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated

L ] Amounts in thousands, except per share data (unaudited)
Net Adjustments to: )

Revenues: -
Licensefees ............o....... $ — $ 36 % 36 % (36 % —
Services ... ... ... .. — —_ _ 89 . 89
, Totalrevenues ..............ovvvn... — 36 36 " 53 ‘ 789

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of license fees . ......... T ' ) .
Royaltycosts ............... 158 — 158 — 158

Subtotal ............... 158 — 158 = 158
Costofservices ................. , .
. Stock-based compensation . . . .. 19 20 39 24 ' 63
Subtotal ..........., . 19 . 20 39 24 63
Sales and marketing . ............. o ' ; '
Stock-based compensation . .. .. 168 170 338 157 495
Otherexpenses .............. 33 32) 1 32 33
Subtotal ............... 201 138 339 189" © ' 528
Research and development . ... ... .. - - ,
Stock-based compensation . . . .. . 120 . 123 243 75 318
Other expenses ........... e i) ’ 10 (60) 60 —
© Subtotal ............ L. 50 133 183 . 135. 318
' General’and administrative ........ ' b
Stock-based compensation . . . .. 43 210 . 253 13 266
Other expenses .............. 11 75 86 179 265
" Subtotal ............... 54 . 285 339, 192 . 531,
Restructuring costs ............... I R A
* Other expenses ........ Vi . {46) S — (46) — . (46
Subtotal ............... (46) — L46) - T — . 1(46)
Total costs and expenses ................ .. 436 576 1,012 540 - 1,552
Income {loss) from operations .............. 436 612 1,048, - 593 -.01,641
Registration rights penalty .......... e (337 . 337 — — —_—
Income (loss) before income taxes . . . . .. L - 99 - 049 1,048 593 1,641
Netincome (loss) ...............ooooo.t 5 99 $ 949 $ 1,048 $ 593 $ 1,641
Basic net income (loss) per share . ... ... ceee. $.000 .$ 0.03 $ 003 § . 002 $.005
Diluted net income (loss) per share .......... $ 0.00 $ 003 § 003 ,8% 002 ,-% 005
-Shares used in computing basic net income . h
(loss)pershare ... ..................... 33,924 34,296 34,111 34,570 . .34,265.
Shares used in computing diluted net income - . . o L
(loss)pershare ........................ 33,924 34,754 34,111 35,647 34,265
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\ Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30,
2006 As Mar. 31, 2006 As June 30, 2006 As Sept. 30,
Previously 2006 As Previously 2006 As Previously 2006 As
Reported - Restated Reported Restated . Reported Restated
Amounts in thousands, except per share data (unaudited)
Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets:
Assets
Current assets;
Cash and-cash : .
equivalents . ....... B 3646 § 3,646 § 3592 § 3592 % 4634 § 4,634
Restrictedcash .......... 5,900 5,900 — — — —_
Accounts receivable, net of .
allowance . ............ 6,274 6,223 9,306 9,306 7,288 7,288
Prepaid expenses and other
current assets .......... 2417 2,477 2,318 2,318 2,372 2,372
Total current assets ....... 18,297 18,246 15,216 15,216 _ i4,294 14,294
Restricted cash, long-term . ... .. 1,045 1,045 1,055 1,055 1,063 1,063
Property and equipment, net .. .. 1,502 1,456 1,140 1,056 1,331 1,285
Goodwill ................... 8,623 8,623 8,623 8,623 8,623 8,623
Acquired intangible assets, net .. 115 115 - 82 82 48 48
Otherassets . ........c..o.o.. 2,872 2,872 3,158 3,158 3,029 3,029
Total assets . ................ $ 32454 % 32357 % 29274 % 29,190 $§ 28,388 § 28,342
Liabilities and stockholders’
equity (deficit)
Current liabilities: _
Line of credit ............ $ 7.857 % 7,857 § 2,025 3% 2,025 % — —
Note payable ............ —_— — — — 149 149
Accounts payable ........ 3,142 3,142 3,648 3,648 2,821 2,821
Accrued liabilities ........ 8,138 8,292 8,737 8,514 7,002 6,546
Accrued restructuring ..... 2,464 2,464 2,136 2,136 1,992 1,992
Deferred revenue ......... 13,418 13,418 14,060 14,024 15,637 15,548
Warrant liability ......... 1,652 1,652 —_ — —_ —
Total current liabilities .. .. 36,671 36,825 30,606 30,347 27,601 27,056
Deferred revenue, long-term . ... 684 684 484 484 570 570
Accrued restructuring,
long-term . .......... R 4,379 4,379 4,329 4,329 .3,802 3,802
Other long-term liabilities . ... .. 680 680 611 611 937 937
Total liabilities .............. 42,414 42,568 36,030 35,771 32,910 32,365
Stockholders’ equity (deficit): :
Commonstock . ...........n.. 34 34 35 35 '35 35
Additional paid-in capital ...:.. 4,294,019 4,293,669 4,297,724 4.296,851 4,300,569 4,299,427
Accumuiated other -
comprehensive income ...... 473 473 354 354 325 325
Accumulated deficit ......... . (4,304,486) (4.304,387) (4,304,869) (4,303,821)  (4,305,451) (4,303,810)
Total stockholdérs’ equity -
(deficit) .......oovvnennnn. (9,960) (10,211) (6,756) (6,581) (4,522) (4,023)
Total liabilities and stockholders’
equity (deficit) ............. $ 32454 % 32357 % 29274 % 29,190 8§ 28388 § 28,342
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data:
Revenues:
Licensefees .................. .
Services ... ..., P

Totalrevenues . .................. ..

Costs and Expenses

Cost of license fees ....... e '
Cost of services ..o
'Amomzatlon of acqulred mlanglble )

Sales and marketing (1) . . 1 R
_ Research and development (1) .....

General and adnumstranve () T '

Restructunng costs R P .

Total costs and expenses .. ........ DR _

Income (loss) from operations .............
Interest and other income {(expense), net .. ...
Registration rights'penalty - . . ... ... el

. . 1
Income (toss) before income taxes ..........
Income tax expense ...... P S

Netmcome(loss) ....... T S
Basic net income (loss) per share ..t .. e ",
Shares used in computing basic net income

(loss)pershare .......................
Diluted net income (loss) per share . .. ... . ...

Shares used in computing diluted net income
(loss)pershare .......................

Previously - As

For the Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Juae 30, Sept. 30,
- 2006 Mar 31, 2006 . June 30, - 2006 Sept. 30,
As 2006 As 2006 As 2006

Previously As Previously As*
Reported | Restated Reported  Restated Reported  Restated

ASSEIS . ... " ‘

_ Amounts in thousands, except per share data (unandited)

' .

$ 2861 $2861 $5906 $5942 $ 4381 $ 4345

8,572 8572 8633 8633, 8722, 88l

11433 11433 145390 14575 13,103 13,156

609 451 761 761 832 832
2306 2287 2446 2426 ' 2539 2515

33 33 U330 33 34 34
3950 3,749 5359 5221 4514 4325
2,620 2,570 2322 - 2,189 2853 2718
2343 2289 2668 2383 2779 2,587
(36) 10 — — — -
11,825 11,389 . 13,589 13,013 13551 13,01

(392) 44 - 950 - 1,562 (448) - 145
(658) (658) (253) (253) 85 85
— © (337 (1,032) (695) (166) (166)

(1.050) (951)  (335) 614 - (529) 64
@8 (@8 (48 48 | (53 (5B

$(L,078) '$ (979) $ (383) § 566 $ .(582) $ . 11
$ (0.03) $-(0.03) $ (0.01) $ 0.02 $ (0.02).$ 0:00

33,924 33924 34296 34,296 34570 34,570
$ (003 5 (003 % (001 $ 002 $ (0.02y $ 0.00

33,924 33,924 34296 34,754 34,570 35,647

(1) Includes employee stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:

Costofservices ..........................
Sales and marketing .......................
Research and development ..................
General and administrative . ... ..............

For the Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30,
2006 Mar, 31, 2006 June 30, 2006 Sept. 30,
As 2006 As 2006 As 2006

Previously As Previously As Previously As
Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported  Restated

Amounts in thousands (enaudited)

$ 74 $ 54 357 337 $ 8 § 62

358 190 299 123 373 222
221 92 187 58 161 102
303 44 267 41 958 1,099

$956 $380 $810 $259  $1,578 §$1,485
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Note 15. Subsequent Events

On March 23, 2007, the Company settled its litigation with Polaris IP, LLC. In exchange for payment of a
quarterly license fee through 2011, the Company received a perpetual license to certain patents, including those
at issue in the litigation, and the parties agreed to dismiss their claims against each other with prejudice. The
terms of the settlement included the release and dismissal of the Company’s customers named in the litigation.
The expense related to this settlement has been recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
of December 31, 2006 and was not considered material.

On February 27, 2007, the Company entered into ari Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement
with Bridge under which the Company has access to a Loan facility of $10.0 million (“Loan”). This Loan is a
formula based revolving line of credit based on 80% of eligible receivables subject to two sub limits; a sub limit
of $2.5 million that is available for stand-by letters of credit, settiement limits on foreign exchange contracts
(FX) or cash management products and a maximum amount of $5.0 million available as a Term Loan. The total
combined borrowing under the Loan and sublimits cannot exceed $10.0 million. The Loan is collateralized by all
of the Company’s assets and expires February 27, 2009 at which time the entire balance under the formula based
line of credit will be due. The Company has a twelve month period to draw down against the Term Loan, which
is repaid over a 36 month period. Interest for the Formula Based Revolving Line of Credit accrues at the Wall
Street Journal’s (“WSI™) Prime Lending Rate plus 1.25% while interest for the Term Loan accrues at the W5J’s
Prime Lending Rate plus 1.75%. The Loan Facility contains certain restrictive covenants including but not
limited to certain financial covenants such as maintaining profitability net of stock-based compensation and
maintenance of certain key ratios. If we are not in compliance with the covenants of the Loan Facility, Bridge
Bank has the right to declare an event of default and all of the outstanding balances owed under the Loan Facility
would become immediately due and payable.

On January 24, 2007, RightNow Technologies, Inc. (“RightNow™) filed a suit against the Company and four
former RightNow employees who had joined the Company in 2007 in the Eighteenth Judicial District Court of
Gallatin County in Montana, alleging violation of certain provisions of their employment agreements,
misappropriation of trade secrets, as well as other claims, and seeking damages. The Company is undertaking to
defend itself and the named individuals to the extent required by applicable laws. The Company believes it has
meritorious defenses to these claims and intends to defend against this action vigorously.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE : Lo g

In January 2006, Deloitte & Touche LLP (“D&T”) informed us that it would resign as our independent
registered public accounting firm upon the completion of its review of our financial statements for the quarter
and six months ended June 30, 2005. : ' : o

In March 2006, we appointed Burr, Pilgér_ & 'Mayer LLP as our r{ew'independent fegi:r,:tered public
accounting firm. ' ' ' -

4 ¥ * ' ¢ . ot

D&T did not include in their report on the Compa.ny $ ﬁnanc:al statements .as of December 31, 2004 and for
the year then ended an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, or a qualification or modification as 10
uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principle, nor were there disagreements between the Company and D&T
on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or audltmg scope or procedure,
which disagreements, if not resolved to D&T’s satisfaction, would have caused D&T to make reference to the
subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report on the Company s financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2004. In the course of the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, D&T identified and reported material weaknesses in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. First, we had weaknessés in its general accounting processes
related to insufficient documentation and analyses to support its consolidated financial statements, failure to
properly evaluate estimates of royalties due, inadequate reconciliation of inter-company accounts, insufficient
staffing in the accounting and reporting function, which was exacerbated by changes in management and
accounting personnel, and insufficient training of its accounting department. Second, there was no independent
review of journal entries, and insufficient documentation or support for journal entries and consolidation entries.
In a number of cases, this required adjustments to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2004. Third, we had multiple and inconsistent: travel and entertmnmem pollmes and
inadequate processes and procedures for review of expense relmbursement requests that were also a material
weakness in internal controls.

' . R

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. !

Evaluation of Disclosure Contrels and Procedures

-

Regulations under the Exchange Act require public companies, including our company, to maintain
“disclosure controls and procedures,” which are defined as controls and other procedures that are designed to
ensure that informaticn required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, ‘controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or
submits under the Act'is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, inclading its principal
executive and principal financial officers, of persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer performed an
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by.this report and found
that they were not effective as a result of the material weaknesses described below. ,

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

0

Regulations under the Exchange Act require public companies, including our Company, to evaluate any
change in our “internal control over financial reporting” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule
15d-15¢f) of the Exchange Act. In connection with their evaluation of our disclosure controls and-procedures as
of the end of the period covered by this report, our. Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer did not
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identify any change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth fiscal quarter that materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting other than the
changes noted below:

- The new processes and internal controls developed and implemented during the quarters ended

March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006 were tested and determined to be effective.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, there were no changes that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. '

During the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we had the following changes that materially affected, or is
reasonable likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting:

On May 16, 2006, we replaced our Domestic Controller with a Director of Finance who is a Certified
Public Accountant and has 17 years of financial management experience in high-tech companies to
address shortfalls in staffing and to assist with accounting, finance, internal audits and information
technology. This change addressed the internal control weakness related to insufficient staffing in the
accounting and reporting functions.

As of June 30, 2006, we implemented a policy of review of all domestic journal entries, including
consolidated entries, for adequate document support by our Director of Finance before the entry is
posted. This change was made to address the internal control weakness related to independent review
of journal entries and insufficient documentation or support for journal entries and consolidation

. entries. '

As of June 30, 2006, we relocated our worldwide consolidation activities from our Netherlands office
to our corporate headquarters in Menlo Park, California. This change was made to address the internal
control weakness related to our insufficient documentation and analysis to support the consolidated
financial statements. By preparing the worldwide consolidation in our headquarters, there is greater
control and visibility over the consolidation process.

As of June 30, 2006, we implemented a policy under which our management performs a top level
balance sheet and income statement “flux analysis” comparing the changes from the prior period’s
financial statements and analyzing the differences. This change was made to address the general
weakness in our general accounting processes related to documentation and analyses to support the
consolidated financial statements. By performing a higher level management review of financial
statements, we have greater assurance of the overall accuracy of the financial statements.

As of June 30, 2006, we implemented a program to train our accounting: staff to perform monthly
analyses on general ledger accounts comparing the changes from the prior period’s financial statements
and analyzing the differences. This change was made to address the internal control weakness related
to insufficient training in the accounting department.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2006, we had the following changes that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting:

On February 8, 2006, we hired our Vice President of Finance who is a Certified Public Accountant and
has over 30 years of financial management experience including over 20 years working in SEC
reporting companies. This change addressed the internal control weakness related to insufficient
staffing in the accounting and reporting function. Additionally, we engaged service providers on a
permanent basis to address shortfails in staffing and to assist with accounting, finance, internal audits
and information technology. ' '

As of March 31, 2006, we transferred the responsibility for accounting for royalties to a member of the
general accounting team to establish a separation of duties between the revenue and order processing
function and calculating royalties related to customer shipments. This change was made to address the
internal control weakness related to the failure to property evaluate estifates of royalties due.
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During the quarter ended December 31, 2005, there were no changes that materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
! . ’ [ ! * R
During the quarter ended March 31, 2005, we had the following changes that materially affected, or are .
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting:

v +

"« Asof March 31, 2005, managemcnt adopted a single, comprehenswe travel and emertammem
reimbursement policy and implemented enhanced procedures and controls for the submission and
review of expense reimbursement requests. This change was made to address the internal control
weakness related to erronecus expense reimbursements as a result of inconsistent travel and

" entertainment policies, inadequate review o‘f expense reimbursc'zment requests and carelessness.

Material Weaknesses and Corrective Action Plans | : .

As previously disclosed by us in our Form NT-10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 1, 2005, during the first quarter of 2005, our Audit Committe€ (the “Audit Comnmittee”)
completed an examination of certain of our internal controls relating to travel and enteriainment expenses and
implemented a series of measures designed to enhance our internal controls with respect thereto.

As a result of the investigation, the Audit Committee concluded that during the 2002—2004 period, our then
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, Chuck Bay, had received reimbursement for
approximately $137,000 in expenses that did not comply with the Company policies, that lacked sufficient
documentation, or that were otherwise erroneous or duplicative. The Audit-Committee also concluded that
certain other qucu[ive officers received travel, entertainment, and other cxpense' reimbursements in lesser
amounts that 'did not comply with the Company’s policies, lacked sufficient documentation, or were otherwise
erroneous or duplicative, The Audit Committee did not conclude that the excess reimbursements were the result
of willful misconduct on the part of Mr. Bay, or any other KANA employee. Rather, the Audit Committee
primarily attributed the excess reimbursements to the existence of multiple and inconsistent travel and
entertainment policies, inadequate review of expense reimbursement requests and carelessness.

i
.

During the first quarter of 2005, the Audit Committee adopted various remedial measures, including a
requirement that Mr. Bay and others immediately repay the amounts that the Audit Committee determined were
inappropriate. Mr. Bay and the other individuals have repaid these amounts in full. The Audit Committee has
also directed that management adopt a single, comprehensive travel and entertainment reimbursement policy and
implement enhanced procedures and controls for the submission and review of expense reimbursement requests.
Management has implemented these measures, and the Audit Committee will continue (0 monitor the
effectiveness of these remedial measures. In addition, our independent directors determined that it would be
advisable to separate the roles of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. Accordingly,
Mr. Bay resigned from his position as Chairman of the Board of Directors, effective May 23, 2005, but he
retained his positions as a director and as Chief Executive Officer. Subsequently, on August 25, 2005, Mr. Bay
resigned from his position as Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Bay § position as a dlrector expired at the Annual
Stockholders Meeting held in November 2005.

'We have determined that the dollar amounts involved in the excess reimbursements were not material for
the 2002-2004 financial periods. However, the éxistence of multiple and inconsistent travel and entertainment
policies and inadequate processes and procedurés for review of expense reimbursement requests represented a
material weakness in our internal controls. A material weakness in internal control is a significant deﬁc1ency, or
a combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

In the course of the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004,
our former independent registered public accounting firm identified and reported additional material weaknesses
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in our internal control over financial reporting. First, we had weaknesses in our general accounting processes
related to insufficient documentation and analyses to support our consolidated financial stalements, failure to
properly evaluate estimates of royalties due, inadequate reconciliation of inter-company accounts, insufficient
staffing in the accounting and reporting function, which was exacerbated by changes in management and
accounting personnel, and insufficient training of our accounting department. Second, there was no independent
review of journal entries, and insufficient documentation or support for journal entries and consolidation entries.
In a number gf cases, this required adjust}nehts to our financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2004. '

Our management has determined that the material weaknesses as of December 31, 2004 continued to exist
during 2005. As a result, we concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of
December 31, 2005. We believe that these material weaknesses did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements included in this report due to the fact that we performed substantial analysis on
the December 31, 2005 and prior period financial statement balances, including performing historical account
reconciliations, having account balance analyses reviewed by senior management, and reconstructing certain
account balances. However, these mat.erial weaknesses increase the risk that a transaction will not be accounted
for consistently and in accordance with established policy or accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, and they increase the risk of error.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, has addressed these
material weaknesses and has implemented controls to remediate. these internal control weaknesses. Management
believes that it has corrected the material weakness relating to travel and entertainment expense reimbursement
by the end of the first quarter of 2005. New processes.and internal controls have been approved and implemented
and management has concluded that as of December 31, 2006, these controls are operating effectively.,

During the 2006 year-end close we identified and reported a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting related to stock-based compensation. A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or a
combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstaternent
of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected. This material weakness related to our failure to
complete a proper analysis of historical stock option vesting data within our system, which resulted in a net
overstatement of our stock-based compensation during the interim reporting periods of fiscal year 2006.. As a
result of this material weakness, quarterly results of operations have been restated, as provided in Note 14 of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, and prior period pro-forma informational disclosure of
expenses in accordance with SFAS 123 have also been restated as provided in Note 7 of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. ' . ; -

R

As-a result, we are unable to conclude that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2006. ' B : :

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, has begun to address this
material weakness and is committed to effective remediation of this material weakness as expeditiously as
possible. Management has implemented a procedure to review the stock option reports on a quarterly basis to
assure that only current employee options that are expected to vest are included in the employee stock-based
compensatioﬁ expense for such period. This material weakness will not be considered remediated until new
internal conirols are developed and implemented throughout the Company, are operational for a périod of time
and are tested, and management concludes that these controls are operating effectively. '

'

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.
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PART IH

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS-AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE..” S

Information regarding executive officers may be found in the section captioned “Executive:Officers of the
Registrant” (Part I, Item 4A) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Information regarding our directors, Code of
Ethics and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act may be found in sections captioned “Proposal
One — Election of Directors,” “Code of Ethics and Conduct” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” respectively, appearing in the definitive Proxy | Statement to be delivered to stockholders in ,, *
connection with the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Thrs mformatlon is 1ncorporated herem by reference
Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethlcs and Conduct apphcable to a]l of our dlréctors ofﬁcers
and employees, as required by applicable securities laws and ‘the rules of the SEC and hslmg standards of The '
NASDAQ Stock Market. A copy of our Code of Ethics and Conduct is posted in the Corporate Governance

section of our Internet website, atwww. kana com under lnveslor Relanons “ ) v

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Information with respect to this item may be found in the sections captioned “Executive C‘ompenéalion and
Related Information™ and “Compensation Discussion and Analysis™ appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement
to be delivered to stockholders-in'connection with'the 2007 Annual Meenng of Stockholders Tl'us mformatron is
incorporated herein by reference.

‘|.', . . i ]l..

ITEM 12. SECURITY- OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICLAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Information with respect to this item may be found in the sections captioned “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive Compensation and Related Information appearing in the
definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection with the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders Thls mformatlon is 1ncorporated herein by reference. Cu .

- RN A Tl e

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE. N o

Information with respect to this item may be found in the section captioned +Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and Director Independence” appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to
stockholders in connection with the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This information is incorporated

herein by reference. . .
©tF ! M. T e e R

14 e ‘ | et

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES v =0

Information with respect to this item may be found in-the section captioned *‘Principal Accountant Fees and
Services” appearing in the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders:in connection w1th the 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This information is incorporated herein by reference. -~ - . .,

Wi o - U Tl te ’ . [ S
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
{a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. Financial Statements:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ............ .. o i 55
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ... 56
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2006and 2005 ........ ..ot 57
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 ......... 58
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
L 0o 1570 S 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 ........ 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . ... .o. ittt enrom e ca it inata et inananaaarns 61
2. Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule  Title ' , Page
I1 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts _ 100

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the
information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes there.

3. Exhibits:
‘ Incdrporated by Reference
Exhibit ) Filing Filed
Number  Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
3.01 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-27163 3.1 5/4/00

Incorporation as amended By the Certificate of
Amendment dated April 18, 2000.

3.02 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended  S-8 33364552 4.02 7/3/01
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated '
- April 18, 2001,

3.03 Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended  5-3 333-77068 4.03  1/18/02
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on
December 11, 2001. .

3.04 Centificate of Amendment to the Second Amended  8-A 000-27163 3.04 1/31/06
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated
November 21, 2005. .

3.05 Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended 10-K  000-27163 3.05 3/28/03
October 12, 2001.
3.06 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior 8-K 000-27163 3.01 1/31/06

Partictpating Preferred Stock, as filed with the
Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27,
2006.

4.01 Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate. S-1/A  333-82587 4.01 9/21/99
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o Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit : Filing Filed
Number ) Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit - Date Herewith
4.02  Form of Rights Certificate. 8-K - 000-27163 4.0t .1/31/06
403 Rights Agreement, dated as of January 26,2006, 8-K' - 000-27163 ' 4.02  1/31/06
by and between Kana Software, Inc. and U.S. I : Lo , "
Stock Transfer Corporation. SR '

10.01  Kana Software, In¢c. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, 10-Q 000-27163 10.01 11/14/06
as amended . ** - L : !

1002 Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock US4/ 33359754 1023 518001
Purchase Plan, as amended.** o

10.03  Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Special Stock Option S-8 333-32460 9901  3/14/00
Plan,** N \ ' .

10.04  Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Specnal Stock Option ~  S-8 +333-32460 99.02 = 3/14/00
Plan—Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option S
Agreemem—4 -year vestmg *x . ‘

10.05  Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Special Stock Option . S-8- .  333-32460 99.03  3/14/00
Plan—Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option .

Agreement—30-month vesting. ** Vil T

10.06  Broadbase Software, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive 10-Q 000-27163  10.02* 11/14/06
Plan, as amended. ** - | . o "W L ce ‘

10.07  Broadbase Software, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive - S-8x  +333-38480  4.09~ 6/02/00
Plan, as amended, related forms of agreements.** Che et c

. ‘| 1. " .

10.08  Broadbase Software, Inc, 1999 Equity Incentive ‘S-41Ai -4896 409 11/05/00

Plan, as amended November 2, 2000.*%*
¥ N : ot ‘. . . g [ . ' . Lt

10.09 Leas'e Agreement dated December 23, 1999, .; 10:Q+  000-27163 10.03  5/11/00
between Broadbase Software, Inc. and Bohannon St '
Trusts Partnership 11 . A

10.10  Lease Agreement, dated August 11, 2000, 10-Q+. 000-27163 - . 10.4 - 11/13/00
between Broadbase Software, Inc. and J. Robert . N
S. Whea[ley and Roger A. Flelds dba R&R '
Piopertiés. L Co v

S - .

10.11  Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of 8K, 00027163 99.1  11/21/02
Lease dated November 11, 2002 between the gy e
Registrant and J. Robert S. Wheatley and Roger Lo :

A. Fields, d.b.a. R &R Propertles '

1012 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated $3 7 33377068 412 1/18/02
August 7, 2001, between Kana Communications, . o ST
Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation, Lt e '

S A TR o

10.13  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated S-3 333-77068 _ 4.13 . 1/18/02
SeptemberS 2001, between Kana . N
Commtinications, Inc. and Banta 121 ' renoe

10.14  Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana 990] A2/ lS/Oi

Software, Inc., TCV IV, L.P, and TCV IV
Strategic Partners, L.P., dated as of November -
28, 2001,

95

§-K/A, .000-27163

-

PRI . "
- b




Exhibit _
Number+
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Incorporated by Reference

Form File No. Exhibit

Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Form of Contingent Warrant to purchase
Common Stock issued in conjunction with the |
Share Purchase Agreement dated November 28,
2001 between the Registrant and the Investors
named therein.

Form of Commitment Warrant to purchase
Common Stock issued in conjunction with the
Share Purchase Agreement dated November 28,
2001 between the Registrant and the Investors
named therein. :

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated
September 5, 2001 between Kana Software, Inc.
and IBM.

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2005, by and
among Kana Software, Inc., Nightwatch Capital
Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners 1I, LP
and RHP Master Fund, Ltd. :

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June
25, 2005, by and among Kana Software, Inc. and
Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch
Capital Partners II, LP and RHP Master Fund,
L. ' '

Form of Stock Purchagse Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to NightWaléh Capital Partners,
LP, NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP and RHP
Master Fund, Ltd. in connection with the
Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2005.

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of Septerber 29, 2005, by
and among Kana Software, Inc., Nightwatch =~
Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital
Partners I, LP and RHP Master Fund, Ltd.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of
September 29, 2005, between Kana Software,
Inc., Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP, )
NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP and RHP
Master Fund, Ltd. ‘

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP
and NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP in
connection with the Common Stock and Warrant
Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 29,
2005.
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Number.

Exhibit Description -

Incorporated by Reference

File No.

Exhibit

Filing
-Date

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to RHP Master Fund, Ltd., in .
connection with the Common Stock and Warrant
Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 29,
2005.

Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement,

dated September 29, 2005.

Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase
Warrant issued by Kana Software, Inc. to
Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP and
NightWatch, dated Septembet 29, 2005.

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant
issued by Kana Software, Inc. to RHP Master
Fund, L1d., dated September 29, 200_5: ‘

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to NightWatch Capital Partners,
LP, dated October 25, 2005, in connection with
the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005.

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to NightWatch Capital Partners 11,
P, dated October 25, 20035, in connection with
the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005,

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana
Software, Inc. to RHP Master Fund, Ltd., dated
October 25, 2005, in connection with the
Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005,

Second Amendment to Registration Rights
Agreement, dated May 8, 2006, by and among
Kana Software, Inc., NightWatch Capital
Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP
and RHP Master Fund, Ltd.’

First Amendment to Registration Rights
Agreement, dated May 8, 2006, by and among
Kana Software, Inc., NightWatch Capital
Parmers LP, NightWatch Capital Partners I, LP
and RHP Master Fund, Ltd.

Offer letter to John M. Thompson dated October
8, 2004 .*# .

Employment Offer Letter, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Michael S. Fields, dated as of
September 9, 2005.**
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Number
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Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44
10.45

10.46

1047

21.01

Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software,
Inc. and Michael S. Fields, dated as of July 25,
2005.+*

Business Financing Agreement, dated as of
November 30, 2005, between Bridge Bank,
National Association and Kana Software, Inc.

Business Financing Agreement, dated as of
December 29, 2005, between Bridge Bank,
National Association and Kana Software, Inc.

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of December 29, 2005, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association.

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of March 30, 2006, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association,

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of March 30, 2006, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association.

Employment Termination, Release and
Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software,
Inc, and Alan Hubbard, dated February 14,
2006.%*

Description of Director Cash Compensation
Arrangements, adopted April 20, 2006,**

Employment Termination, Release and
Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software,
Inc. and Brian Kelly, dated May 31, 2006.%*

Kana Software, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan.**

Letter Agreement, dated as of September 29,
2005, by and among Kana Software, Inc.,
NightWatch Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch

8-K/A
8-K

10-K

10K

10-K |

8-K

8-K

S-1
10-Q

Capital Partners I LP and RHP Master Fund Lid. ~ ~

Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software,
Inc. and William T. Clifford, dated October 30,
2006.**

Offer Letter to Jay A.I Jones, dated as of August
14, 2006.**

List of subsidiaries of Registrant.
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

File No.

Filed
Herewith

23.01
353:.02
2._?4.01
3 1:01
31.02

32.01

32.02

Consent of Independent Registeted Public
Accounting Firm. -

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (included on page 87 of this
Annual Repo.rkt'on Form 10-K).

Centification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, *

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, *

X

X

*  These certifications accompany KANA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K; they are not deemed “filed” with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of KANA

under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the

date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
** Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Filed by Broadbase Software, Inc.
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUAL[FYING ACCOUNTS
KANA SOFTWARE, INC.

Balance Amounts
at recorded in Bzlance
Beginning  Write-off and at End

of Year Expenses Deductions  of Year

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Year ended December 31, 2006 $ 149 $ 90 . § (84 $155
Year ended December 31, 2005 $ 586 $ 26 $(463)  $149
Year ended December 31, 2004 $1,187 8(569) $ (32) $586
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requlrements of Sectlon 13or lS(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Reglstram
has duly caused this report to be signed on ifs behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of
Menio Park, state of California, on March 30, 2007."

PR I !

' Kana Software, Inc.

/s/ MICHAEL S. FIELDS

Michae! §. Fields
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Michael S. Fields and John M. Thompson, and each of them, his or her true lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granted unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform each an every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his, her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 30, 2007 By /s/ MICHAEL S. FIELDS

Michael S. Fields
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 30, 2007 By /s/ JouN M. THOMPSON

John Thompson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 30, 2007 By /s/JERrRY R. BATT

Jerry R. Batt
Director

Date: March 30, 2007 By /s/ STEPHANIE VINELLA

Stephanie Vinella
Director

Date: March 30, 2007 By /s/ MICHAEL J. SHANNAHAN

Michael J. Shannahan
Director




Date: Mar_ch .301 2007 By Is/ WILL_IAM T. CLlFFQRD

William T. Clifford
Director

s +

Date: March 30, 2007 ] - By /[s/JonNF. NEMELKA

John F. Nemelka
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filed
Herewith

' Filing
Date

3.01

3.02

3.03

3.04

3.05

3.06

4.01
4.02
4.03

10.01

10.02

10.03

10.04

10.05

10.06

10.07

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation as amended by the Certificate of
Amendment dated April 18, 2000.

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated
April 18, 2001.

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on
December 11, 2001.

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated
November 21, 2005.

Amended and Restated.Bylaws, as amended
October 12, 2001.

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior
Participating. Preferred Stock, as filed with the
Secretary of State of Delaware on January 27,
2006.

Form of Specimen Common Stock Certificate.
Form of Rights Certificate.

Righis Agreement, dated as of January 26, 2006,
by and between Kana Sofiware, Inc. and U.S.
Stock Transfer Corporation.

Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Pian, as
amended. **

Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, as amended. **

Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Special Stock Option
Plan **

Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Special Stock Option
Plan—Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option
Agreement—4-year vesting **

Kana Software, Inc. 1999 Special Stock Option
Plan—Form of Nenstatutory Stock Option
Agreement-—30-month vesting **

Broadbase Software, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended.**

Broadbase Software, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended, related forms of agreements.**
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3.04

3.05

3.01

4.01
4.01
4,02
10.01
10.23

99.01

99.02
99.03

10.02

4.09

402

5/4/00

713101

1/18/02
1/31/06

3/28/03
"1/31/06

©
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1/31/06
1/31/06°
11/14/06
5/18/01

3/14/00

3/14/00
3/14/00

11/14/06
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Filed
Date Herewith

10.08

10.09

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Broadbase Software, Inc, 1999 Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended November 2, 2000.%*

Lease Agreement, dated December 23, 1999,
between Broadbase Software, Inc. and Bohannon
Trusts Partnership 11,

Lease Agreement, dated August 11, 2000,
between Broadbase Software, Inc. and J. Robert
S. Wheatley and Roger A. Fields, d.b.a. R & R
Properties.

Assignment Agreement and First Amendment of
Lease dated November 11, 2002 between the
Registrant and J. Robert S. Wheatley and Roger
A. Fields, d.b.a. R & R Properties.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated
August 7, 2001, between Kana Communications,
Inc. and General Electric Capital Corporation.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated
September 5, 2001, between Kana
Communications, Inc. and Banca 121.

Share Purchase Agreement by and among Kana -
Software, Inc., TCV IV, L.P., and TCV IV
Strategic Partners, L.P., dated as of November 238,
2001,

Form of Contingent Warrant to purchase
Common Stock issued in conjunction with the
Share Purchase Agreement dated November 28,
2001 between the Registrant and the Investors
named therein.

Form of Commitment Warrant to purchase
Common Stock issued in conjunction with the
Share Purchase Agreement dated November 28,
2001 between the Registrant and the Investors
named therein.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock; dated
September 5, 2001 between Kana Software, Inc.
and IBM.

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase
Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2005, by and
among Kana Software, Inc., Nightwatch Capital
Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP
and RHP Master Fund, Ltd.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June
25, 2005, by and among Kana Software, Inc. and
Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch
Capital Partners II, LP and RHP Master Fund,
Ltd.
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10.03
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99.1
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99.02

99.03

10.20

10.01
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Number

Exhibit Description Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing
Date |

Filed
Herewith

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant is-sugd by Kana 8-K
Software, Inc. to NightWatch Capital Partners, LP, .
NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP and RHP Master | -
Fund, Lid. in connection with the Common Stock

and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of june

25, 2003.

Common Stock and Wasrant Purchase Agreement, 8K
dated as of September 29, 2005, by and among Kana L
Software, Inc., Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP, .
NightWaich Capital Partners II, LP and RHP Master

Fund, Lid.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of 8-K
September 29, 2005, between Kana Software, Inc.,
Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch

Capital Partners II, LP and RHP Master Fund, Litd.

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana | ., 8K
Software, Inc. to Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP

and NightWatch Capital Partners 11, LP in

connection with the Common Stock and Warrant -
Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 29,

2005.

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software,
Inc. to RHP Master Fund, Ltd., in connection with -+ *
the Common Stock and Warrant Purchase

Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005,

Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement,
dated September 29, 2005, C

Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase  *
Warrant issued by Kana Software, Inc. to
Nightwatch Capital Partners, LP and NightWatch, -
dated September 29, 2005,

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant
issued by Kana Software, Inc. to RHP Master Fund,
Ltd., dated September 29, 2005.

8-K

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software, - -8-K
Inc. to NightWatch Capital Partners, LP, dated

October 25, 2005, in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of

September 29, 2003,

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software, 8-K
Inc. to NightWatch Capital Partners 11, LP, dated

October 25, 20035, in connection with the Common

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of

September 29, 2005.
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Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing
Date

Filed
Herewith

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

Stock Purchase Warrant issued by Kana Software,
Inc. to RHP Master Fund, Ltd., dated October 25,
2005, in connection with the Common Stock and
Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated as of
September 29, 2005,

Second Amendment to Registration Rights
Agreement, dated May 8, 2006, by and among
Kana Software, Inc., NightWatch Capital Partners,
LP, NightWatch Capital Partners 11, LP and RHP
Master Fund, Lid.

First Amendment to Registration Rights
Agreement, dated May 8, 2006, by and among
Kana Software, Inc., NightWatch Capital Partners,
LP, NightWatch Capital Partners II, LP and RHP
Master Fund, Ltd.

Offer letter to John M. Thompsen dated October 8,
2004 **

Employment Offer Letter, between Kana Software,
Inc. and Michael S. Fields, dated as of
September 9, 2005.%*

Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software,
Inc. and Michael S. Fields, dated as of July 25,
2005.%*

Business Financing Agreement, dated as of
November 30, 2005, between Bridge Bank,
National Association and Kana Software, Inc.

Business Financing Agreement, dated as of
December 29, 2005, between Bridge Bank,
Nationa! Association and Kana Software, Inc.

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of December 29, 2005, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association,

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of March 30, 2006, between Kana
Software, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association.

Business Financing Modification Agreement,
dated as of March 30, 2006, between Kana
Software, [nc. and Bridge Bank, National
Association.

Employment Termination, Release and Consulting
Agreement, between Kana Software, Inc. and Alan
Hubbard, dated February 14, 2006.**
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Exhibit Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith

1042 Description of Director Cash Compensation 8-K  000-27163 10.01  4/25/06
Arrangements, adopted April 20, 2006.**

1043  Employment Termination, Release and Consulting  8-K  000-27163 1001  &/13/06
Agreement, between Kana Software, Inc. and Brian
Kelly, dated May 31, 2006.*%*

1044  Kana Software, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan ** §-1 333-82587 10.1 7/09/97

10.45  Letter Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2005,  10-Q 000-27163 10.08  7/06/06
by and among Kana Software, Inc., NightWatch
Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners
1 LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd.

1046  Consulting Agreement, between Kana Software, B8-K  000-27163 10.01  11/03/06
Inc. and William T. Clifford, dated Qctober 30,
2006.**

10.47  Offer Letter to Jay A. Jones, dated as of August 14,  10-Q 000-27163 10.03  11/14/06
2006 **

21.01  List of subsidiaries of Registrant. X

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting Firm.

23.02  Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting Firm.

2401  Power of Attorney (included on page 87 of this . X
Annual Report on Form 10-K). * :

3101 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to X
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

31.02  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to X
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

32.0!1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to X
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

3202  Centification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to X

18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 .*

*  These certifications accompany KANA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K; they are not deemed “filed” with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of KANA
under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the
date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.

** Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+  Filed by Broadbase Software, Inc.
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EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE QFFICER PURSUANT.TO
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY, ACT OF 2002

I, Michael S. Fields, Chief Executive Officer of the registrant, certify that: .,

1! : . i

L. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of KANA Software, Inc e i

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a-material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in hght of the crrcumstances under Wthh such
statements were made, not mtsleadrng with respect to the penod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included i In thts report,
fairly, present in all material respects the financial condltlon results of operatlons and cash ﬂows of the
registrant as of, and for, the perlods presented in this report

LT e T o . L Y]

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establtshmg and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d 15(e)) for the regrstrant and
have:

(a} Designed such disclosure controls, and procedures, .or caused such dtsc]osure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervrsron to ensure that materlal mformatlon relatmg to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known o us bx olhers wrthln those entmes
particularly during the pcnod in which. thns report is being prepared ‘

Hhe o, . ‘,-‘,4.'.;,
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regisirant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effecnveness of the dtsclosure comrols and procedures as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluatmn and

o - [

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial repomng that
4occurred durmg,the registrant’s most recent ﬁscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth ﬁscal quarter in the case of
an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably. hke]y to matenally affcct the reglstrant ]
internal control over financial reporting.

! 1 : J .
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting, to the reglstrant 5 audltors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functlcms)

' ot

.. {a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of mtemal control
over financial reportmg whtch are reasonably hkely to adversely affect the registrant’s abr]rty to record
process, summarize and report financial information; and . . ' P

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other ernployees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 30,2007 - = . . /s MICHAEL S. FIELDS | L

Michael S. Fields
Chief Executive Officer

L]




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John M. Thompson, Chief Financial Officer of the registrant, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Réport on Form 10-K of KANA Software, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances undcr which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the penod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in‘this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; .

4. The registrant’s other cemfymg ‘officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and’
procedures to be designed under our superwsmn to ensure that material iiformation relating to the
registrant, including its consolidatéd subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the reglstmm s internal control Gver financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting. L

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our inost recent evaluation of
internal contro! over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commlttee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

{a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which dre reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstram s ability to record
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves managcment or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 30, 2007 | - : fsf JOHN M. THOMPSON

John M. Thompson
Chief Financial Officer




: EXHIBIT 32,01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Repont of KANA Software, Inc. (the “Registrant”™) on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2006 as;filed with the Securities-and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report™), 1, Michael S. Fields; Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify, in,accordance with
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act.of 1934:and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of my.
knowledge:

(1) The Report, to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.01, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

{2) The information contained in the Report fairty presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Registrant. . ot -

Dated: March 30, 2007 - ot fsi MICHAEL 8. FIELDS : .

v Michael S. Fields
et Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and 18 U.5.C. Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and
Sfurnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission.or its staff upon request. “. .




EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Kana Software, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report’™), 1, John M. Thompson, Chief Financial Qfficer of the Registrant, certify, in accordance
with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of my -
knowledge:

(1) The Report, to which this certification is attached as Exhibit 32.02, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Dated: March 30, 2007 ‘ ‘ sf JOHN M. THOMPSON

John M. Thompson
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14(b} of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




KANA

KANA SOFTWARE, INC.
181 CONSTITUTION DRIVE
MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA 94025

June 11, 2007

Dear Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Kana Software, Inc. to be
held at our headquarters, 181 Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, California, on July 26, 2007, at 9:00 a.m., Pacific
Time.

The matters expected to be acted upon at our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are: (i) the election of
one Class I director to our Board of Directors; (ii} the election of three Class H directors to our Board of
Directors; and (jii) the ratification of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. Each of these proposals is described in detail in the
accompanying Notice of the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement.

Please use this opportunity to take part in our affairs by voting on the business to come before this annual
meeting. Whether or not you plan to attend our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, please complete,
date, sign and promptly return the accompanying proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope prior
to our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders so that your shares will be represented at our 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. Returning the proxy card does not deprive you of your right to attend our 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockhelders and to vote your shares in person.

We hope to see you at our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Sincerely,

i

Michael S. Fields
Chief Executive Officer

This Proxy Statement is dated June 11, 2007 and will first be mailed to KANA stockholders on or
about June 15, 2007.




KANA

KANA SOFTWARE, INC.
181 CoNSTITUTION DRIVE
MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA 94025

NOTICE OF THE 2007 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Dear Stockholders:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Kana Software, Inc. will be
held at our headquarters, 181 Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, California, on July 26, 2007, at 9:00 a.m., Pacific
Time.

At this annual meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote upon the following matters:

1. The election of one Class I director of KANA, to serve until our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and until a successor has been elected and qualified, or until earlier resignation, death or removal. Our
Board of Directors has nominated Stephanie Vinella as a nominee for election as our Class [ director.

2. The election of three Class i directors of KANA, to serve until our 2010 Annua} Meeting of
Stockholders and until a successor has been elected and qualified, or until earlier resignation, death or
removal. Our Board of Directors has nominated Jerry R. Ban, William T. Clifford and Michael J.
Shannahan as nominees for election as our Class I directors.

3. A proposal to ratify the selection of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as our independent registered public
accounting firm for fiscal year 2007.

4, To transact such other business as may properly come before our 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders or any adjournment of our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this notice.
Only stockholders of record at the close of business on May 30, 2007 are entitled to notice of and to vote at our
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or any adjournment of our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

_———

Michael S. Fields
Chief Executive Officer

Menlo Park, California
June 11, 2007

WHETHER QR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND OUR 2007 ANNUAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS, PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND PROMPTLY RETURN THE
ACCOMPANYING PROXY CARD IN THE ENCLOSED POSTAGE-PAID ENVELOPE PRIOR TO
THE 2007 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS SO THAT YOUR SHARES WILL BE
REPRESENTED AT THIS ANNUAL MEETING.




KANA

KANA SOFTWARE, INC. |
181 CONSTITUTION DRIVE
MENLO PARK, CALIFORNIA 94025

‘PROXY STATEMENT

June 11, 2007

The accompanying proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors of Kana Software, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, for use at our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at our headquarters, 181 Constitution
Drive, Menlo Park, California, on July 26, 2007, at 9:00 a.m., Pacific Time. This Proxy Statement, the
accompanying Notice of the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and form of proxy will first be mailed to our
stockholders on or about June 15, 2007. Our stockholders are encouraged to review the information provided in
this Proxy Statement in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006, a copy of which also accompanies this Proxy Statement. References in this Proxy Statement to “KANA;” -

“Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” collectively refer to Kana Software, inc. and our predecessor, and our
subsidiaries and their predecessors.

VOTING INFORMATION

Record Date and Quorum

A quorum is required for our stockholders to conduct business at the annual meeting. The holders of a majority
of the shares of our common stock outstanding entitled to vote on the record date, present in person or represented
by Proxy, will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the annual meeting. Only holders of our
cominon stock of record at the close of business on May 30, 2007, the record date, will be entitled to vote at the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. At the close of business on the record date we had 36,326,603 shares of
common stock outstanding and entitled to vote that were held by approximately 1,239 stockholders of record.

Voting Rights

Only holders of our common stock are entitled to vote and are allowed one vote for each share held as of the
record date. Shares may not be voted cumulatively. If stockholders abstain from voting, including brokers holding
their customers’ shares of record who cause abstentions to be recorded, these shares are considered present and
entitled to vote at the annual meeting and these shares will count toward determining whether or not a quorum is
present. However, these shares will not be counted as voting either “for” or “against” any of the proposals.

If a stockholder does not give a proxy to its broker with instructions as to how to vote the shares, the broker
has authority under stock market rules to vote those shares for or against certain “routine” matters: All of the
proposals to be voted on at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are generally considered “routine” matters
for this purpose. If a broker votes shares that are not voted by its customers “for” or “against™ a “routine”
proposal, these shares are considered present and entitled to vote at the annual meeting, will count toward
determining whether or not a quorum is present and the brokers’ votes will be taken into account in determining
the outcome of all of the “routine” proposals.

When a matter is not “routine,” a broker generally would not be entitled to vote its customers’ unvoted
shares. These shares would be considered present and would count toward determining,whether a quorum is
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present, but would not be considered entitled to vote on the “non-routine” matter. Accordingly, these shares
would not be taken into account in determining the outcome of any of the proposals that are “non-routine.”

Required Votes

Proposal One. The director is elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and entitled to vote on the election of a Class I
director. This means that the Class I director nominee for election to the Board of Directors who receives the
highest number of affirmative votes at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be elected to fill the one
open seat for a Class | director.

Proposal Two. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented
by proxy at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and entitled to vote on the election of Class II directors.
This means that the Class II director nominees for election to the Board of Directors who receive the three
highest number of affirmative votes at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be elected to fill the three
open seats for Class II directors.

Proposal Three. Ratification of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 requires the affirmative vote of the majority of shares present
in person or represented by proxy at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

All votes will be tabulated by the inspector of elections appointed for the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, who will separately tabulate, for each proposal, affirmative and negative votes, abstentions and
broker non-votes.

Voting Electronically via the Internet

If your shares are registered in the name of a bank or brokerage, you may be eligible to vote your shares
electronically over the Internet or by telephone. A large number of banks and brokerage firms are participating in
the ADP Investor Communication Services online program, which provides eligible stockhelders who receive a
paper copy of the proxy statement with the opportunity to vote via the Internet or by telephone. If your bank or
brokerage firm is participating in ADP Investor Communication Services online program, your voting form from
the bank or brokerage firm will provide instructions. If your voting form does not reference Internet or telephone
information, please complete and return the accompanying paper proxy card in the enclosed self-addressed,
postage paid envelope.

Voting of Proxies

The proxy card accompanying this Proxy Statement is solicited on behalf of our Board of Directors for use
at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Our stockholders are asked to complete, date and sign the
accompanying proxy card and promptly return it in the enclosed envelope or otherwise mail it to us. Al
executed, returned proxies that are not revoked will be voted in accordance with the included instructions. Signed
proxies that are returned without instructions as to how they should be voted on a particular proposal at the 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be counted as votes “for” such proposal (or, in the case of the election of
directors, as a vote “‘for” election to the Board of Directors of all of the nominees presented by our Board of
Directors). We are not aware of any other matters to be brought before the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. However, as to any business that may properly come before the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, the proxies that are executed and returned prior to the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will
be voted in accordance with the judgment of the persons holding such proxies.

In the event that sufficient votes in favor of the proposals are not received by the date of the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, the persons named as proxies may propose one or more adjournments of the 2007
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Annual Meeting of Stockholders to permit further solicitation of proxies. Any such adjournment would require
the affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares present in person or represented by proxy at the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

We are paying the expenses of soliciting the proxies to be voted at'the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Following the original mailing of the proxies and other soliciting materials, we will request that
brokers, custodians, nominees and other record holders of our common stock forward copies of the proxy and
other soliciting materials to persons for whom they hold shares-of common stock and request authority for the
exercise of the proxies. In these cases; we may, upon their request, reimburse such record holders for their
reasonable expenses. Proxies may also be solicited by some-of our directors, officers and regular employees,
without addmonal compensatlon in person or by telephone.

Revocability of Proxies

Any person signing a proxy in the form accompanying this Proxy Statement has the power to revoke the
proxy prior to the 2007 Annual Meetmg of Stockholders, or at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders prior to
the vote to which the proxy relates. A proxy may be revoked by any of the following mcthods

* a wntten instrument delivered to us statmg that the proxy is revoked;

» asubsequent proxy that is signed by the person who signed the earlier proxy and is presented at the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholdcrs or

= attendance at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and voting in person.

Please note, however, that if your shares are held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee and you wish
to vote at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, you must bring to the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
a letter from the broker, bank or other nominee confirming your beneficial ownership of the shares and that such
broker, bank or other nominee is not voting your shares.

. ¢

Communicating with Members of the Board of Directors

You may submit an e-mail to our Board of Directors or any member of our Board of Directors at
bod @kana.com. E-mails to this address are routed to our General Counsel, who will forward the message to the
full Board of Directors unless the sender indicates that they would like the message to be forwarded solely to
non-management members or the chairperson of a particular committee of the Board of Directors. Members of
our Board of Directors may, at their option, attend our annual meetings of stockholders. None of the members of
our Board of Directors attended our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. We did not hold an annual meeting in
2006.
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PROPOSAL ONE—ELECTION OF CLASS I DIRECTOR

QOur Board of Directors is presently classified in three classes and consists of six members, one of whom is
to be elected at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders as a Class I director. Qur directors are to be elected for
a full term of three years with the term expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders held in the third year
following the year of their election. We did not hold an annual meeting of stockholders in 2006 to re-elect the
Class I directors, who continued to serve on our Board of Directors in accordance with our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws until either they are re-elected and take office or their
successors are elected and take office. In addition, on March 16, 2007, Dixie L. Mills, a Class 1 director, resigned
from our Board of Directors and chose not to stand for re-election. Thus, our stockholders are being asked to vote
for the election of one Class I director at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to serve for a two-year period
until the annual meeting of stockholders in the year 2009 and until a successor has been elected and qualified, or
until earlier resignation, death or removal. The Class ! director seat vacated by Ms. Mills will remain vacant until
a new director is appointed or elected in accordance with our current certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

The nominee for election as a Class I director is Stephanie Vinella, who curvently serves as a Class I director
of our Board of Directors. Shares represented by the accompanying proxy will be voted “for” the election of
Ms. Vinella unless the proxy is marked in such a manner as to withhold authority to so vote. In the event that
Ms. Vinella is unable to serve for any reason, the proxies may be voted for such substitute nominee as the proxy
holder may determine. Ms. Vinella has consented to being named in this Proxy Statement and to serve if elected.
Ms. Vinella will be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at
the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and entitled to vote in the election of a Class [ director. Should there
be more than one nominee for the election of a Class I director at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the
nominee who receives the greatest number of votes cast in the election of the Class 1 director at the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, with a quorum being present, will become our Class I director at the conclusion of the
tabulation of votes.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of the nominated Class I director.




PROPOSAL TWO—ELECTION OF CLASS I DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors is presently classified in three classes and consists of six members three of whom
are to be elected at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders as Class directors. Our directors are to'be elected
for a full term of three years with the term expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders held in the third year
following the year of their election, The Class II directors elected at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
will hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders in the year 2010 and until a successor has been elected
and qualified, or until earlier resignation, death or removal.

The nominees for election as Class II directors are Jerry R. Batt, William T. Clifford and Michael J.
Shannahan, each of whom currently serves as a Class II director on our Board of Directors. Shares represented by
the accompanying proxy will be voted “for” the election of Messrs. Batt, Clifford and Shannahan unless the
proxy is marked in such a manner as to withhold authority to so vote. In the event that either Mr. Batt,

M. Clifford or Mr. Shannahan is unable to serve for any reason, the proxies may be voted for such substitute
nominee as the proxy holder may determine. Messrs. Batt, Clifford and Shannahan have consented to being
named in this Proxy Statement and to serve if elected. Messrs Batt, Clifford and Shannahan will be elected by a
plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and entitled to vote in the'election of Class II directors. Should there be more than three nominees
for the election of the Class II directors at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the three nominees who -
receive the greatest number of votes cast in the election of the Class 11 directors at the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, with a quorum being present, will become our Class II directors at the conclusion of the tabulation

of votes.
1

’

o
The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of the nominated Class II directors.
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Board of Directors and Nominees

The following table sets forth the names of the director nominees and our continuing directors and
information about each (including their ages as of February 28, 2007):

Nominees
Commiittee .
Name Age Memberships Principal Occupation Director Since
Class I Director: -
Stephanie Vinella. . .............. 52 Audir, Chief Financial Officer of 2004
Governance & Nextance Inc.
Nominating : '

Class I1 Directors:
JerryR.Batt ... ... ... ... 56 Compensation, Vice President and Chief 2003
Governance &  Information Officer of Pulte
Nominating  Homes, Inc,

William T. Clifford .............. 60 Compensation Chairman and Chief Executive 2005

Officer of Aperture Technologies,
Inc.
Michael J. Shannahan ............ 58 Audit Chief Financial Officer of 2005

Medsphere Systems Corporation

Continuing Directors

Committee
Name E Memberships Principal Occupation Director Since
Class III Directors:
Michael S.Fields ................ 61 N/A Chairman and Chief Executive 2005
Officer of KANA
JohnF.Nemelka ................ 41 Compensation Managing Principal of NightWatch 2005

Capital Group, LLC

Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes as nearly equal in size as possible with staggered three-
year terms. The term of office of our Class I directors will next expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2009. The term of office of our Class II directors will next expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to
be in 2010. The term of office of ocur Class 1II directors will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2008. At each annual meeting of stockholders, the successors to the directors whose terms will then
expire will be elected to serve from the time of their election and qualification until the third annual meeting
following their election or until their successors have been duly elected and qualified, or until their earlier
resignation or removal. Ms. Vinella 1s currently a Class I director; Messrs. Batt, Clifford and Shannahan are
Class II directors and Messrs. Fields and Nemelka are Class III directors. On March 16, 2007, Ms. Milis, a
Class [ director, resigned from our Board of Directors and chose not to stand for re-election. The Class 1 director
seat vacated by Ms, Mills will remain vacant until a new director is appointed or elected in accordance with our
current certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

Our Board of Directors met seven times in 2006, including telephone conference meetings. During 2006, no
current director attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate of the total number of meetings of the Board of
Directors and the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board of Directors on which such
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director served during the time period for which each such director served on the Board of Directors. The Board
of Directors has determined that Messrs. Batt, Clifford, Nemelka and Shannahan and Ms. Vinella each meet the
requirements for independent director status under the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market.

Our Board of Directors has three standing committees: the audit committee, the compensation commitiee
and the governance and nominating commiitee.

Nominee for Election—Class 1 Director (Term to Expire in 2009)

Stephanie Vinella. Ms. Vinella joined our Board of Directors in November 2004. Since January 2005,
Ms. Vinella has served as Chief Financial Officer of Nextance Inc., a provider of enterprise contract management
solutions. Since April 2005, Ms. Vinella has served as a venture partner of Swan Ventures, a venture capital firm.
From November 1999 to August 2004, Ms. Vinella served as Chief Financial Officer of AlphaBlox Corporation,
a business analytic software company. From 1990 to 1999, Ms. Vinella served as Chief Financial Officer of
Edify Corporation, a software company. Ms. Vinella holds a B.S. degree in Accounting from the University. of
San Francisco and aM. B.A. degree from Stanford Umversny

Nominee for Election—Class 11 Directors (Term to Expire in 2010)

Jerry R. Batt. Mr. Batt joined our Board of Directors in August 2003. Mr. Batt has served as Vice President
and Chief Information Officer of Pulte Homes, Inc., a national home building and construction company, since
September 2003. From July 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Batt was the Chief Information Officer and Vice President of
Sprint PCS, a communications company. From April 2000 to July 2001, Mr. Batt co-founded and was Chief .
Executive Officer of Foxfire Consulting, an IT consuiting and systems integration firm specializing in the
telecommunications industry. From 1973 to January 2000, Mr. Batt held positions where he was responsible for
consumer long distance account management, billing and customer service platform at AT&T, a communications
company. Mr. Batt holds B.S. degrees in Industrial Engineering and Operations Research from Virginia Tech
University. ' o S

William T. Clifford. Mr, Clifford joined our Board of Directors in December 2005. Since August 2005,
Mr. Clifford has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Aperture
Technologies, Inc., an enterprise software solution company. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Clifford served as 2
general partner of The Fields Group, a venture capital and management consulting firm. From 1993 to 2000,
M. Clifford held'a number of executive positions at Gartner Group, Inc., an information technology research and
market company, inchiding President and Chief Execiitive Officer, Prior to these positions, Mr. Clifford was
President of the central ‘and national account divisions and Corporate Vice President, Information Systems
Development at Automatic Data Processing, Inc., a transaction processing and data communication services
company. Mr. Clifford holds a degree in Economics from University of Connecticut. Mr. Clifford also serves on
the Board of Directors of two privately-held companies, Crucian Global Services, Inc. and GridApp Systems,
Inc. ' ' ' ‘

Michael J. Shannahan. Mr. Shannahan joined our Board of Directors in June 2005. Since February 2005,
Mr. Shannahan has served as Chief Financial Officer of Medsphere Systems Corporation, a software company in
the healthcare industry. Mr. Shannahan has also served as Chief Financial Officer of Chordiant Software, Inc., a
management software company, from August 2003 to October 2004; Sanctum Inc., a web applications sécurity
company, from October 2001 to November 2002 and Broadband Office, Inc., a communication services
company, from January 2001 to September 2001. From August 1999 to January 2001, Mr.- Shannahan served as
Chief Financia! Officer of mySimon, Inc., an e-commerce company. Prior to these positions, Mr. Shannahan
spent eighteen years with KPMG Peat Marwick, an accounting firm, as a partner in the Information,
Communication and Entertainment practice. Mr. Shannahan holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration with
a concentration in Accounting and a B.A. degree from Rockhurst College. Mr. Shannahan also serves on the -
Board of Directors of Critical Path, Inc. and a privately-held company.
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Continuing Class I1I Directors {Ferm to Expire in 2008)

Michael S. Fields. Mr. Fields joined our Board of Directors in June 2005 and since July 2003, has been
serving as our Chairman of the Board of Directors, From July 2005 to August 2005, Mr. Fields served as acting
President of KANA. In August 2005, Mr. Fields was appointed Chief Executive Officer of KANA. Mr. Fields
has been the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Fields Group, a venture capital and management
consulting firm, since May 1997. In June 1992, Mr. Fields founded OpenVision Technologies, Inc., a supplier of
computer systems management applications for open client/server computing environments, and served as its
Chief Executive Officer from July 1992 to July 1995 and its Chairman of the Board of Directors from July 1992
to April 1997, Prior to these positions, Mr. Fields managed sales organizations at Qracle U.S.A., Inc., where he
served as President, Applied Data Research and Burroughs Corporation. Mr. Fields also serves on the Board of
Directors of Imation Corporation and two privately-held companies, ViaNovus, Inc. and Crucian Global
Services, Inc.

John F. Nemelka, Mr. Nemelka joined cur Board of Directors in October 2005. Mr. Nemelka founded
NightWatch Capital Group, LLC, an investment management business, and has served as its Managing Principal
since the formation in July 2001. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Nemelka was a Principal at Graham Partners, a private
investment firm and affiliate of the privately-held Graham Group. From 2000 to 2001, Mr. Nemelka was a
Consultant to the Graham Group. Mr. Nemelka holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration from Brigham
Young University and a M.B.A. degree from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Mr. Nemelka also serves on the Board of Directors of a privately-held company.”

Cominittees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. We have a standing audit commitiee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee™)
established in accordance with Rule 10A-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act™), and currently comprised of Mr. Shannahan and Ms. Vinella, each of whom meets the
independence and other requirements to serve on our Audit Committee under applicable securities laws and the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market.
Cur Board of Directors has determined that Ms. Vinella and Mr. Shannahan are “audit committee financial
experts” as defined in the rules of the SEC. The Audit Committee met nine times in 2006. The report of the Audit
Committee is provided below, beginning on page 15.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, a copy of which is posted in
the Corporate Governance section of our Internet website {at http://www kana.com under Investor Relations) and
is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix A. The principal functions of the Audit Committee are 10 oversee
our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial statements, oversee our
relationship with our independent auditors, including selecting, evaluating and setting the compensation of, and
approving all audit and non-audit services to be performed by, the independent auditors, and facilitate
communication among our independent auditors and our financial and senior management.

Compensation Committee. The current members of our standing compensation committee of the Board of
Directors {the “Compensation Committee”) are Messrs. Batt, Clifford and Nemelka, each of whom meets the
independence and other requirements to serve on our Compensation Committee under applicable laws and
regulations, including the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market. The
Compensation Committee met seven times in 2006. The report of the Compensation Committee is provnded
below, beginning on page 19.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Compensation Committee, a copy of which is
posted in the corporate governance section of our Internet website (at http://www kana.com under “Investor
Relations”). The Compensation Committee has responsibilities relating 1o the performance evaluation and the
compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, the compensation of our executive officers and directors and our
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significant compensation arrangements, plans, policies and programs, including our stock compensation plans.
Certain of our executive officers, our outside counsel and consultants may occasionally attend the meetings of
the Compensation Committee. However, no officer of KANA is present dunng discussions or deliberations
regarding that officer’s own compensanon . : . - .

Governance and Nominating Commiftee: We have a standing governance and nominating committee of the
Board of Directors (the “Governance and Nominating Committee”) that is currently comprised of Mr. Batt and
Ms. Vinella, each of-whom meets the independence requirements to serve on our Governance and Nominating
Committee under applicable securities laws and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ
Stock Market. The Govemance and Nominating Cornmmee did not’ meet in 2006. ' .

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Govemance and Normnatmg Committee, a
copy of which is posted in the Corporate Governance section-of our Internet website (at http://www. kana.com
under “Investor Relations”). The Governance and Nominating Committee considers the performance of the
members of our Board of Directors and nominees for director positions and evaluates and oversees corporate
governance and related issues. . o . '

The goal of the Governance and Nominating Committee is to ensure that the members of our Board of
Directors possess a variety of perspectives and skills derived from high-quality business and professional
experience. The Governance and Notninating Committee seeks to achieve a balance of knowledge, experience
and capability on our Board of Directors. To this end, the Governance and Nominating Committee seeks
nominees with the highest professional and personat ethics and values, an understanding-of our business and
industry, diversity of business experience and expertise, a high level of education, broad-based business dcumen
and the ability to think strategically. Although the Governance and Nominating Committee uses these and other
criteria to evaluate potential nominees to our Board of Directors, it has no stated minimum criteria for such
nominees. The Governance and Nominating Committee does not use different standards to evaluate nominees
depending on whether they are proposed by our directors and management or by our stockholders. To date, we
have not paid any third parties to assist us in this process. '

The Governance and Nominating Committee will consider stockholder recommendations for director ‘
candldates The Governance and Nominating Committee has established the following procedure for
stockholders to submit such recommendations for which there has been no material change: the stockholder
should send the name of the individual and related personal and professional information, including a list of-
references to our Governance and Nominating Committee, in care of the Corporate Secretary at our principal
executive offices, sufficiently in advance of the annual meeting to allow the Governance and Nominating
committee apprepriate time to consider the recommendation.

Compensation for Directors

In 2006, the Company paid each non- employee director (i) an annual fee of 310, 000 and (ii) an additional
$2,500 for each of the four (4) regularly scheduled Board of Directors meetings that such director attends. The
Company paid the chairperson of the Audit Committee an additional $15,000 and the chairpersons of the .,
Compensation Committee and the Governance.and Nominating Committee an additional $5,000.

Our non-employee directors are eligible to receive discretionary stock option grants and stock issuances
pursuant to the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. When a non-employee director is first elected or
appointed as a member of the Board of Directors, he or she is automatically granted a stock option grant to
purchase 40,000 shares of common stock. On the date of each annual stockholders meeting, each continuing
non-employee director will automatically be granted a stock option grant to purchase 10,000 shares of common
stock, provided that such director has served as a non-employee director for at least six (6) months. The
non-employee directors are also eligible to receive other types of awards under the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended, that are discretionary and not automatic. In 2003, the Board of Directors recommended an
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additional stock option grant to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock to the chairperson of the Audit
Committee and an additional stock option grant to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock to the chairpersons of
the Governance and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee. Each of the above-mentioned
stock option grants is immediately exercisable with a repurchase right by the Company that will lapse in a series
of eight (8) semi-annual installments over a period of 48 months. Since the Company was not authorized to issue
stock options until September 2006 due to the Company’s delay in filing its periodic reports, all directors were
not granted their 2005 initial, arnual and discretionary stock option grants until September 2006. Moreover, the
Company did not hold its annual stockholders meeting in 2006, and thus, in lieu of the automatic annual grant
that would have been granted to the non-employee directors at the annual stockholders meeting in 2006, the
Board of Directors approved a stock option grant to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock to its
non-employee directors in March 2007. All options granted to non-employee directors have an exercise price
equal to the current fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant, and are nonqualified stock
options. In the event of a merger or sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets, the vesting of all options
issued to our directors will accelerate and such options will become exercisable in full.

The Company reimburses its directors for reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in connection with
attending the meetings of the Board of Directors.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR 2006

The table below summarizes the compensation paid by the Company to non-employee directors for fiscal
year ended December 31, 2006.

Fees Earned or Option All Other

M Paid in Cash Awards (2) Compensation Total

JerryR.Batt ... ... $25,000 $24,276 $ 49,276
William T. Clifford .. ......... ... .. ... .. $30,000 $80,920 $59,900(3) $170,820
DixieL.Mills{(4) ....... ... .. i $25,000 $24,276 $ 49,276
JohnF.Nemelka ................... P $20,000 564,736 $ 84,736
Michael J. Shannahan ... ... .. .. .. .. .o, $35,000 $97,104 $132,104
Stephanie Vinella ............. . ..ot $20,000 $16,184 $ 36,184

(1) Mr. Fields, KANA’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, is not included in this
table as he is an employee of KANA and thus, received no compensation for his services as Chairman of the
Board of Directors. The compensation received by Mr. Fields as an employee of KANA is shown in the
Summary Compensation Table on page 27,

(2) Amounts reported represent the compensation cost recognized by KANA for financial reporting purposes in
accordance with SFAS 123R utilizing the assumptions discussed in Note 7 to our consolidated financial
statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, without giving effect
to estimated forfeitures.

(3) Amount shown reflect Mr. Clifford’s fee for services as a consultant to KANA in advising management on
strategic planning and business for a period of one year commencing in January 2006.

(4) Ms. Mills resigned as a member from the Board of Directors effective March 16, 2007.

10




The aggregate number 'of option awards outstanding for each of our non-employee directors.as of -
December 31, 2006 is provided in the table below. = ° '

‘ e § .+ Number of Options
Non-Employee Director | ‘ ) ] ) ) . Qutstanding
JeryR.Batt ...... e e DR g s B . 125,000,
William T. Clifford .. ........... ey e e e Liae.w. 50,000
Dixie L-Mills (1)« cecoeevvnneennnnnns ST U ST U e, . 125,000
John F o Nemelka . :. vt s e e [T 40,000
Michael J. Shannahan ... ............. D e oo e ., 60,000 -
Stephanie Vinella ............. e TP R e ;o 110,000, -

(1) Ms. Mills resigned as a member from the Board of Directors effective March 16, 2007 and, as of June 1,
2007, exercised 114,500 \_'ested options.‘ )

‘"p i | . . [ ot Lo i"'

1 PR . . . 3 Y §
. . . [ €
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PROPOSAL THREE—RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our Board of Directors has selected Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as KANA’s independent registered public
accounting firm to perform the audit of our financial statements for 2007, and our stockholders are being asked to
ratify this selection. Qur organizational documents do not require that our stockholders ratify the appointment of
Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. We are submitting the
appointment of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP to our stockholders for ratification because we believe it is a matter of
good corporate practice. We anticipate that representatives of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP will be present at the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, will have the opportunity to make a statement at the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders if they wish and will be available to respond to appropriate questtons.

I

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the selection of Burr, Pilger & Mayer
LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm.
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- RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Change in Certifying Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

In January 2006, Deloitte & Touche LLP (“D&T"} informed us of their resignation as our independent
registered public accounting firm upon the completion of their review of our financial statements for the quarter
and six months ended June 30, 2005.

In February 2006, we appointed Burr, Pilger.& Mayer LLP (“BPM") as our new independent registered
public accounting firm. .

D&T did not include in their report on the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and for
the year then ended an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, or a qualification or modification as to
uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principle, nor were there disagreements between the Company and D&T
on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure,
which disagreements, if not resolved to D&T’s satisfaction, would have caused D&T to make reference to the
subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report on the Company’s financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2004. In the course of the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, D&T identified and reported material weaknesses in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. First, we had weaknesses in its general accounting processes
related to insufficient documentation and analyses to support its consolidated financial statements, failure to
properly evaluate estimates of royalties due, inadequate reconciliation of inter-company accounts, insufficient
staffing.in the accounting and reporting function, which was exacerbated by changes in management and
accounting personnel, and.insufficient training of its accounting department. Second, there was no independent
review of journa! entries, and insufficient documentation or support for journal entries and consolidation entries.
In a number of cases, this required adjustments to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2004. Third, we had multiple and inconsistent travel and entertainment policies and
inadequate processes and procedures for review of expense reimbursement requests that were also a material
weakness in internal controls.

Fiscal 2006 and 2005 Audit Firm Fee Summary

Through fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and the subsequent interim period until June 9, 2006, D&T
served as our independent registered public accounting firm. Since February 23, 2006, BPM has served as our
current independent registered public accounting firm and has reviewed our financial statements for the quarter
and nine months ended September 30, 2005 and for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. Set forth
below are the aggregated fees (in thousands) billed for the services of D&T from January I, 2005 through June 9,
2006 and BPM from February 23, 2006 through December 31, 2006.

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005
AUdItfEES . . o e e e $447 $1,303
Audit-refated fees (includes review of Form S-1 filing) ....... 63 —
TaX S ..ot e e e — —
Allother fees .. .. . i e — —
Total fE88 .. oottt e e $510 $1,303

Our Audit Committee considers at least annually whether the provision of non-audit services by our
independent registered public accounting firm is compatible with maintaining auditor independence. This process
includes: ‘

+  Obtaining and reviewing, on at least an annual basis, a letter from the independent registered public
accounting firm describing all relationships between the independent registered public accounting firm
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and the Company required to be disclosed by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, reviewing
the nature and scope of such relationships, discussing these relationships with the independent
registered public accounting firm and discontinuing any relationships that the Audit Committes
believes could compromise the independence of the registered public accounting firm.

= Obtaining reports of all non-audit services proposed to be performed by the independent registered
public accounting firm before such services are performed, reviewing and approving or prohibiting, as
appropriate, any non-audit services not permitted by applicable law. The Audit Committee may
delegate authority to review and approve or prohibit non-audit services to one or more members of the
Audit Commiitee, and direct that any approval so granted be reponted to the Audit Committee at a
following meeting of the Audit Committee.

All services provided by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firms in fiscal years 2005
and 2006 were approved in advance by the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy -

All audit and permitted non-audit services to be performed for the Company by its independent registered
public accounting firm must be pre-approved by the Audit Commiltee to assure that the provision of such
services do not impair the firm’s independence. The Audit Committee does not delegate its responsibility to
pre-approve services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm to management.

The annual audit services engagement terms and fees are subject to the specific pre-approval of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee will approve, if necessary, any changes in terms, conditions and fees resulting
from changes in audit scope or other matters. All other audit services not otherwise included in the annual audit
services engagement must be specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The material in this report is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be
incorporated by reference in any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, whether made before or after the date of this Proxy Statement and irrespective of any general
incorporation language therein.

The Audit Committee’s purpose is to assist the Board of Directors in its oversight of KANA's financial
accounting, reporting and controls. The Board of Directors, in its business judgment, has determined that all
members of the Audit Committee are “independent” as required by applicable listing standards of The NASDAQ
Stock Market (please see “Committees of the Board of Directors” on page 8 of this Proxy Statement). The Audit
Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which, as amended, has been approved by the Board of Directors in
April 2003. The Audit Committee meets with KANA’s management and with our independent registered public
accounting firm, with and without management present, to discuss the scope and plans for their audit, the results
of its examinations, its evaluations of KANA's internal controls and the overall quality of KANA's financial
reporting. The Audit Committee held nine meetings during 2006.

During fiscal year 2006, the Audit Committee consisted of Michael J. Shannahan, Dixie L. Mills and
Stephanie Vinella. Ms. Mills resigned from the Audit Committee on March 16, 2007. The Audit Committee
currently consists of Mr. Shannahan and Ms. Vinella

In performing its oversight role during the period since its last report, the Audit Committee considered and
discussed KANA’s audited financial statements with KANA’s management and independent registered public
accounting firm. The Audit Committee also discussed with KANA’s independent registered public accounting
firm the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with
Audit Committees. The Audit Committee received the written disclosures and the letter from our independent
registered public accounting firm required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, Independence
Discussions with Audit Committees. The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision of non-audit
services by the independent registered public accounting firm is compatible with maintaining their independence
as KANA's auditors, and has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm their
independence as KANA’s auditors. Based on the discussions with management and the independent registered
public accounting firm, the Audit Commitiee recommended to the Board of Directors that KANA's audited
financial statements that were reviewed by the Audit Committee and discussed with management and our
independent registered public accounting firm be included in KANA's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors also recommended the
selection of Burr, Pilger & Mayer LLP as KANA’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
years ending December 31, 2006 and 2007.

The members of the Audit Committee rely on the information provided to them and on the representations
made to the Audit Committee by KANA’s management and independent registered public accounting firm
without conducting independent verification of the accuracy of such information and representations.
Accordingly, the Audit Committee's oversight does not ensure that management has maintained appropriate
accounting and financial reporting principles or appropriate internal controls and procedures designed to assure
compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, the Audit Committee’s
considerations and discussions referred to above do not ensure that any audit of KANA's financial statements
conducted by independent registered public accounting firm has been carried out in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards, or that the financial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Michael J. Shannahan (Chairman)
Stephanie Vinella
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OTHER BUSINESS

Qur Board of Directors does not presently intend to bring any other business before the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, and we are not aware of any matters to be brought before the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders except as specified in the notice of the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. As to any business
that may properly come before our annual meeting, however, it is intended that the proxies, in the form enclosed,
will be voted in respect thereof in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such proxies.




P ... EXECUTIVE OFFICERS : s

In addition to Michae!'S. Fields, our Chief Executive Officer whose biographical information appears in
“Board of Directors and Nominees—Continuing Class Il Directors (Term to Expire in 2008),” the following
individuals are current executive officers of KANA: o ‘ ‘

- TS ot N . . L . n ‘- .
John M. Thompson. Mr. Thompson joined KANA in October 2004 and currently serves as our Executive. -

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. From January 2003 to October 2004, Mr. Thompson was Chief
Financial Officer of Veraz Networks, Inc., a provider of Voice Over IP solutions to the telecom industry. From
May 2001 to January 2003, Mr. Thompson was Chief Financial Officer of Interwise, Inc., a provider of
web-based communication products. From December 1998 to January 2001, Mr. Thompson was Chief Financial
Officer of Manage.com, a software company. Mr. Thompson holds B.S. degrees in Mathematics and Industrial
Management from Purdue University and a M.S. degree in Industrial Administration from Carnegie-Mellon

University.

Jay A. Jones. Mr. Jones joined KANA in September 2006 and currently serves as our Senior Vice President
and Chief Administrative Officer. Mr. Jones served as Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer of
VERITAS Software Corporation, an enterprise storage and performance company, from September 2004 to July
2005. From January 1999 to September 2004, Mr. Jones served as Chief Administrative Officer of VERITAS
Software Corporation, and from March 1993 to January 1999, Mr. Jones served as Vice President, General
Counsel & Secretary of VERITAS Software Corporation and OpenVision Technologies, Inc., a systems
management software company which was acquired by VERITAS Software Corporation. Prior 10 OpenVision
Technologies, Inc., Mr. Jones was senior corporate counsel for Oracle Corporation. Mr. Jones holds a B.S.
degree in architecture from Howard University, a M.S. degree in City Planning from University of California at
Berkeley and a J.D. degree from University of California at Berkeley. Mr. Jones is also a member of the
California Bar.

William Rowe. Mr. Rowe joined KANA in January 2006 and currently serves as our Senior Vice President,
Global Sales and Service. From May 2004 to January 2006, Mr. Rowe served as Vice President of Sales and
Marketing for Global Card Services, a credit card middleware solutions and services company. From July 2002
to February 2004, Mr. Rowe held various sales and marketing positions with Winvista Corporation, a software
and network management tools company. From November 1997 to June 2001, Mr. Rowe was a sales director
with BearingPoint, Inc. (formerly KPMG Consulting LLC), an accounting firm. Mr. Rowe holds a B.A. degree in
Business from Trinity University.

William A. Bose. Mr. Bose joined KANA in September 1999 as corporate counsel and since August 2006
currently serves as our Vice President and General Counsel. From May 2005 to August 2006, Mr. Bose served as
our General Counsel. Prior to September 1999, Mr. Bose held the position of attorney at Robert Half
International, Inc. Mr. Bose holds a B.A. degree from University of California at Santa Barbara and a 1.D. degree
from Santa Clara University School of Law. Mr. Bose is also a member of the California Bar.
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SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

The members of our Board of Directors, our executive officers and persons who hold more than 10% of our
outstanding common stock are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, which
requires them to file reports with respect to their ownership of our common stock and their transactions in such
common stock. Based on our review of reporting forms we have received from our executive officers and
directors, we believe that such persons have filed, on a timely basis, the reports required under Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act for fiscal year 2006.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s compensation
philosophy, and for implementing that philosophy with respect to our named executive officers. For fiscal year
2006, our “named executive officers” are our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and three other
most highly compensated executive officers listed in our Summary Compensation Table on page 27:

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Compensation Committee believes that the most effective exccutive compensation program is one that
achieves the Company's annual strategic goals, rewards performance and innovation, promotes accountability
and aligns employee interests with those of the Company’s stockholders. Our executive compensation program is
structured to provide incentives and reward both short-term and long-term performance, and is designed to
motivate executive officers to achieve the Company’s strategic goals. Our executive compensation program has
four primary elements: (i) base salary, (ii) cash bonuses under a performance-based, non-equity incentive plan,
(iii) stock awards under long-term equity incentive plans, and (iv) other benefits.

Setting Executive Compensation

In furtherance of our executive compensation program objectives, the Compensation Committee has
previously engaged Compensia, Inc. (“Compensia™), an outside compensation consulting firm that focuses
primarily on technology companies, (o provide us with market survey data, comparative analysis and
recommendations regarding competitive market practices in our market. Compensia provides a third-party
perspective on our executive equity compensation and utilizes data from the AON/Radford Executive
Compensation Salary Benchmark Data for the Bay Area to help assess our positioning and practices against the
competitive market, which we use to evaluate certain elements of compensation for our executive officers. We
also review compensation levels provided by our peer companies in setting compensation levels for new hires,
but to date, we have not used benchmarking against market indices or peer groups in establishing the
compensation of our executive officers. We do intend to use benchmarking to a greater extent in the future.

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions

Our Board of Directors has delegated to the Compensation Committee the primary authority to recommend,
review and approve each element of our executive compensation program, including performance-based awards
and long-term incentive awards to our executive officers, including our named executive officers. The
Compensation Committee annually reviews the performance of our executive officers and assesses each
component of their compensation, as well as their overall compensation package. When deciding on the elements
of our executive officers’ compensation (other than our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation), the
Compensation Committee considers the recommendations of our Chief-Executive Officer. In 2006, our Chief
Executive Officer approved the management by objectives (“MBO”) bonuses for the executive officers who
directly reported to him; however, in the future, the Company anticipates that the MBO bonuses, as well as all
other executive compensation components, will be presented to the Compensation Committee for approval. The
Compensation Committee has recently begun to review the Company’s 2007 merit-based incentive program (the
“2007 Merit Plan™), as well as bonuses for the executive officers.

In 2006, we created and our Compensation Committee approved a performance-based, non-equity
compensation plan that encouraged our named executive officers and other executive officers to support the
Company’s-goal of increasing profit and operating the Company with sustainable profit and cash (the “Executive
Compensation Plan”). The Executive Compensation Plan included input from certain executive officers,
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including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, Chief Technology
Officer, Vice President and General Counsel, Chief Marketing Officer, Senior Vice President of Global Sales and
Service and Senior Vice President of Sales and Services for International Operations (the “Executives™).
Recognizing the importance of expanding the Company’s cash reserves, we also included in the Executive
Compensation Plan a special incentive for extraordinary performance in generating non-GAAP net profit on a
quarterly and annual basis that was suggested by the Executives and approved by the Compensation Committee.

1.

2006 Executive Compensation Elements .-
For 2006, the elements of compensation for our named executive officers were:
+ base salary;
* cash bonuses under a performance-based, non-equity incentive plan;
* equity awards under long-term equil'y incentive plans; and

« other benefits.

Our Compensation Committee reviews each of the above compensation elements, as well as the overalt
compensation for each named executive officer.

Base Salary

The Company provides its named executive officers with a base salary to compensate them for services
rendered during the fiscal year. The base salary for our named executive officers is determined based on the
scope of the position, level and experience. The Compensation Committee also fixes our named executive
officers’ base salary at a level that enables the Company to competitively attract and retain employees and to
reward individual performance and contribution to the Company’s business goals. The Compensation
Committee, with the assistance of Compensia, considers the base salaries paid by the companies we believe are
similar to us or that are competing with us when setting the base salary of our named executive officers. The
Compensation Committee reviews the base salary levels each year and determines base salary increases (if any)
based upon the named executive officer’s performance, the Company’s financial performance, internal review of
the named executive officer’s compensation, both individually and in relation to other employees, and the AON/
Radford Executive Compensation Salary Benchmark Data for the Bay Area,

Cash Bonuses Under a Performance-Based, Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Executive Compensation Plan

The Executive Compensation Plan’s performance-based incentives motivate our executive officers,
including our named executive officers, to support the Company’s annual financial and business goals and to
align their performance with the strategic interests of our stockholders. The Executive Compensation Plan, which
was approved by the Compensation Committee in April 2006, awards cash bonuses to our executive officers,
including our named executive officers, based on the Company’s achievement of established annual and
quarterly targets in the areas of profit, revenue, operating unit revenue and positive cash. For the Executive
Compensation Plan purposes, (i) profit is defined to mean the net profit target shown in the Company’s 2006
budget approved by the Board of Directors (which excludes certain non-cash expenses such as stock based
compensation expenses, registration rights penalty and warrant liability expense); (ii) revenue is defined to mean
the total revenue target in the Company's 2006 budget; and (iii) positive cash is defined to mean the growth in
ending net cash (gross cash and cash equivalents less any draw down on the bank line of credit for operating
uses) from quarter to quarter. The Executive Compensation Plan also includes a MBO component for the
executive officers, including our named executive officers other than our Senior Vice President, Global Sales and
Service, that was set by our Chief Executive Officer (other than his own MBO, which was set by our Board of
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Directors) based on such officer’s specific position and responsibilities-and was approved by our Compensation
Committee. Last; the Executive Compensation Plan includes a cash award component that is to be paid if the -
Company’s profit is 10% above its quarterly or annual target. : . ‘

Under the Executive Compensation Plan, if the Company achieves 1009 of its profit, revenue, operating
unit revenue, positive cash and MBO targets, the executive officers, including our named executive officers, can
receive a fixed, minimum cash bonus award that is equal to a certain percentage of their individual annual base
salary (the “Base Bonus Amount™). The percentage of the annual base salary that constitutes the Base Bonus
Amount is based on the executive officer's and named executive officer’s experience,,position and ‘
responsibilities and the Company’s offer letters. For 2006, the Compensation Committee reviewed and approved
our Chief Executive Officer’s recommendation for our Vice President and General Counsel’s Base Bonus
Amount and ad]ustmenls to the Base Bonus Amounts for our Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President,
Global Sales and Service. The Base Bonus Amount for our named executive ofﬁcers for fiscal year 2006 were as
follows: $234,000, or 65% of his annual base salary for our Chief Executive Officer; $117,000, or approximately
50% of his annual base salary for our Chief Financial Officer; $105,000, or 50% of his annual base salary for our
Chief Administrative Officer; $172,479, or approximately 99% of his annual base salary for our Senior Vice
President of Global Sales and Service; and $50,000, or appr0x1mately 289 of his annual base salary for our Vice
President and General Counsel. _ .

~ The allocation of the Executive Compensatlon Plan’s five targets wnthm the Base Bonus Amounts differs
according to the exctutive officers’ experience, position and responmblhtles The table below provides the
allocation of the Executwe Compensatxon Plan’s five targets within our named executive officers’ Base Bonus
Amounts. i

1

Base Bonus Amount

' ¢ ,Operating
Unit Positive
. " Profit ' Revenue Revenue Cash * MBO '
Name Position Target  Target Target Target Target Total
Michael S. Fields .:....... Chief Executive Officer 50% 25% 0% 10% 15% 100%
John M. Thompson . ..."..." Executive Vice President 50% 25% 0% 10% 15% 100%
and Chief Financial ' ‘
. ~ Officer . . _ o .
Jay A Jones (1) ............ Senior Vice Presidentand - 50% 25% 0% 10% = 15% .100%
‘  Chief Administrative .
Officer . . .
William Rowe ............ Senior Vice President, 20%' - - 10% 65% 5% 0% 100%
Globat Sales and Service _
William A. Bose .......... Vice President and General ~ 50% izs'%, T 0% 0% 15% 100%
Counsel ' '

(1) Mr. Jones did not pamcnpalc in the Executlve Compensation Plan until September 2006 whén he joined
KANA. "

Once allocation of the Executive Compensation Plan’s five targets is made to the Base Bonus Amounts, the
five targets are further allocated quarterly and annually, as applicable. If the Company achieves the Executive
Compensation Plan’s profit target for the first, second, third and fourth quarters and the year, then the named
executive officers will receive a cash bonus of 10%, 10%, 15%,10% and 55% of their allocated profit target
amount, respectively. If the Company achieves the Executive Compensation Plan’s revenue target for the first,
second, third and fourth quarters and the year, then the named executive officers will receive a cash bonus of +
10%, 10%, 15%, 10% and 55% of their allocated revenue target amount, respectively. If the Company achieves
the Executive Compensation Plan’s positive cash target for the second, third and fourth quarters, the named
executive officers will receive a cash bonus of 40%, 30% and 30% of their allocated positive cash target amount,
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respectively. If the named executive officers achieve their MBO targets for each quarter, then they will receive a
cash bonus of 25% of their allocated MBO target amount for each quarter. The operating unit revenue target
differs from the other targets in that it is split among sub-targets — license, maintenance and services. If the
Senior Vice President, Global Sales and Service (the only named executive officer with the operating unit
revenue target) achieves its license, maintenance and services sub-targets, then he will receive a cash bonus of
60%, 25% and 15% of his allocated operating unit revenue target amount. The Company does not need to
achieve its targets for all the quarters and the year for the named executive officers to earn their cash bonus.
Instead, the cash bonuses are earned for each quarter or year when the Executive Compensation Plan’s target for
the quarter or the year is achieved by the Company.

The total 2006 cash bonus awards for our executive officers, including our named executive officers, ¢can
exceed their Base Bonus Amounts because the Executive Compensation Plan awards additional cash bonuses if
the Company achieves more than 10% of the Company’s quarterly and annual profit target, which is not included
within the Base Bonus Amount. The 10% profit target increments are calculated such that the additional bonus
awards are expensed before the calculation is done. Specifically, an additional 5% of the Base Bonus Amount
can be paid to our named executive officers and other executive officers at the end of each quarter for each time
the Company's quarterly profit exceeds the Executive Compensation Plan’s quarterly profit target by more than
10% (so that if we exceeded our quarterly profit target by 20%, each officer would receive a payment equal to
10% of their Base Bonus Amount). The 5% Base Bonus Amount multiplier was not capped in the first and
second quarter of 2006; however, the Compensation Committee capped it starting from the third quarter of 2006
so that the maximum amount the named executive officers and other executive officers could receive each r
quarter when the Company exceeds its quarterly profit target by 10% is 15% of their Base Bonus Amount.
Moreover, an additional 10% of the Base Bonus Amount is paid to our named executive officers and other
executive officers at the end of the year for each time the Company’s annual profit exceeds the Executive
Compensation Plan’s annual profit target by more than 10%. The 10% Base Bonus Amount multiplier was
uncapped in 2006, but the Compensation Committee capped it at 60% beginning in 2007.

The Compensation Committee and the Executives believed that the Executive Compensation Plan’s five
targets were sufficiently challenging for our named executive officers and other executive officers to achieve
because it represented significant profit, revenue growth and cash increase relative to the Company’s 2005
performance. In 2006, the Company achieved its profit target only in its second and third quarters; its revenue
targets only in its second and fourth quarters; and its cash target only in its third and fourth quarters. The
Company also exceeded its quarterly profit for the second and third quarters of 2006 by more than 10% and its
annual profit target by more than 10%. Due to a closing of a large transaction in the second quarter of 2006, the
Company exceeded its profit target for the second quarter of 2006 and thus, the cash bonus award for that quarter
and fiscal year 2006 was larger than expected.

In order for our named executive officers and other executive officers to receive their cash bonus award for
the Executive Compensation Plan’s profit, revenue, cash and operating revenue targets, the Company must meet
or exceed those targets on a quarterly or annual basis, as applicable. In certain rare cases, our named executive
officers and other executive officers may still be able receive a portion of their MBO bonus award even though
they do not meet their MBO targets. For 2006, all of our named executive officers who had MBO components in
their Base Bonus Amounts met their targets. In 2000, our named executive officers earned the following cash
bonus awards under the Executive Compensation Plan: our Chief Executive Officer earned $455,715 with
payment of $286,065 occurring in 2007, our Chief Financial Officer earned $227,858 with payment of $143,033
occurring in 2007, our Chief Administrative Officer earned $68,519 with payment of $40,250 occurring in 2007,
our Senior Vice President of Global Sales and Service earned $45,707 with payment of $35,358 occurring in
2007 and our Vice President and General Counsel earned $97,375 in bonuses with payment of $61,125 occurring
in 2007.
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2007 Merit Review and Compensation Plan

In 2007, the Compensation Committee and the Chief Administrative Officer began the process of creating
and refining the 2007 Merit Plan and the compensation levels under the 2007 Merit Plan (with input from
Compensia). The 2007 Merit Plan witl be a performance-based, incentive plan that includes a component for
equity awards based on performance. b

. \ o

Equity Awards Under Long-Term Equity Incentive Plans
Equity Incentive Program

We believe that equity awards are a critical component in our ability to recruit and retain our employees.
The Company’s equity incentive program strives to retain our named executive officers, to motivate them to
achieve the Company’s annual strategic-goals and to align ‘the pérformance of our named executive officers with
the interests of our stockholders through grants of several forms of equity, siich as stock options, performance
based stock options and restricted stock. et ' :

The Company maintains the KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, the KANA 1997 Stock Option Plan, the
KANA 1999 Special Stock Option Plan and equity compensation plans assumed pursuant to acquisitions of
certain companies. The Company may grant several different forms of an equity award under the KANA 1999
Stock Incentive Plan. In 2006, however, the only form of equity award that the Company granted was stock
options. Our stock options typically provide for vesting over a fous-year period with a six-month cliff, generally
expire ten years from the date of grant and vary in amount based on the discretion of the Compensation
Committee. For instance, the Compensation Committee considers factors such as the named executive officer’s
position with the Company, past performance, anticipated future contributions and prior stock option grants when
deciding the amount of stock options to grant the named executive officers. The Compensation Committee is
responsible for approving equity grants for our named executive officers, including option grants for new hires
and re-fresh option grants. Stock options are typically granited to our named executive officers when they first
join the Company and in connection with annual re-fresh stock option grants based on merit and performance.
The Compensation Committee also consults with Compensia in determining the appropriate amount of stock
options to grant our named executive officers. '

The aggregate amount of stock options that we granted in 2006 was higher than in 2005 since the Company
was unable to grant stock options from April 2005 through September 2006 due to the Company’s delay in filing
its periodic and annual reports with the SEC. As a result, our stock option grants for 2006 included a catch-up for
options that the Company would have granted in 2005 (and in the first nine months of 2006) had it been able to
do so. In 2006, we granted options for an aggregate_humber of shares that was equivalent to 11.5% of our
outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2006, as a result of this catch-up. We expect our overall option
grant levels in 2007 to continue to remain high, reflecting option grants to new hires as we expand our
organization, However, we intend to reduce our aggregate new option grant levels in 2008. '

The Company has implemented a standardized program for granting stock options. If there aré stock options
grants to consider, then on Monday of the second full week of each month, the Company providesa
recommendation to the Compensation Committee regarding stock option grants for the named executive officers
and other employees. The Compensation Commitiee then reviews the proposed stock option grants and renders a
recommendation and approval, generally on the Thursday of such week, with the exercise price of such stock
option grants being the closing price of the Company’s common stock on that Thursday. We also do not time our
stock option grants in coordination with the release of material non-public information; however, in early 2007,
the Compensation Committee decided to defer the annual stock option grants 10 the non-employee directors until
the third business day after the Company released its financial results for fiscal year 2006.
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Accounting Implications

Cur stock aption grant policies have been affected by the implementation of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004}, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)™), which we.
adopted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006 using the modified prospective method as permitted by the
pronouncement. Under this transition method, we were required to value all stock-based compensation awards
granted prior to but not yet vested as of December 31, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, as adjusted for estimated forfeitures.

Other Benefits
401( k) Renremem Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan, which covers substantially all employees Ellglble employees
may make salary deferral (before tax) contributions up to a specified amount. The Company, at its discretion,
may make additional matching contributions on behalf of the participants of the retirement plan, but has not
elected to make any matching contributions.

Other Benefits

The Company offers its employees, including the named execﬁtivq, officers, a range of benefits including
life, medical, dental, vision and disability programs in the geographical location where they are based. In
providing these benefit programs, the Company aims to provide an attractive set of benefits, while managing
business costs.

Perquisites

The Company does not typically offer cash or non-cash perqulsnes to our named executive officers that are
not available to other employees. During fiscal year 2006, the Company did not provide any special benefits or
perquisites to any named executive officer that exceeded $10,000; however, in the future, there may be times
when a specific situation requires additional compensation to be given to a named executive officer that exceeds
$10,000.

Ownership Guidelines

The Company curréntly has not adopted stock ownership guidelines; however, the Company, in conjunction
with the Compensation Committee and Compensia, s in the process of developing and implementing stock
ownership guidelines. Thé Committee believes that stock ownership guidelines will further align the interests of
our named executive officers and other executive officers with the interests of our stockholders by requiring that
they maintain a minimum ownership interest in the Company.

Severance or Change of Control

Our severance and change of control agreements are designed to facilitate our ability to attract and retain
exccutive officers in a marketplace where such protections are commonly offered. Our severance provisions are
designed to ease our named executive officer’s transition due to an unexpected termination of employment for
on-going changes in the Company’s employment needs. For a description of the severance and change in control
arrangeéments with our named executive officers, please see the sections below entitled “Materials Terms of
Employment Agreements” and “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control.”

&

Tax Implications

As part of its role, the Compensation Committee reviews and considers the deductibility of executive
compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, which provides that the Company may not
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deduct compensation of more than $1.0 million that is paid to certain individuals. The Company believes that
compensation paid under the executive compensation programs is generally fully deductible for federal income
tax purposes. However, in certain situations, the Compensation Committee may approve compensation that will
not meet these requirements in order to ensure competitive levels of total compensation for its executive officers.

Fl

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and, based on such review and
discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 and Proxy Statement. .

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
. Jerry R. Batt (Chairman)

William T. Clifford

John F. Nemelka

25




COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs. Batt, Clifford and Nemelka. From January 2006
to April 2006, Ms. Vinella served on the Compensation Committee, No members of our Compensation
Committee in 2006 were aiso employees of KANA or its subsidiaries during 2006 or at any time prior to 2006,
None of our executive officers serves on the Board of Directors or Compensation Cornmittee of any entity that
has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

In May 2006, we entered into a transaction with NightWatch Capital Partners, LP and NightWatch Capital
Partners II, LP in which we were a participant, the amount exceeded $120,000 and Mr. Nemelka had an indirect
material interest. With the approval of a majority of the non-interested members of the Board of Directors, we
amended the Registration Agreements related to our June and September 2005 private placements with
NightWatch Capital Partners, LP, NightWatch Capital Partners I, LP and RHP Master Fund Ltd. (collectively
referred to as “Invesiors™) to extend the registration deadline of the shares of common stock and underlying
shares of common stock of the warrants issued to the Investors from January 27, 2006 to September 30, 2006, in
exchange for the issuance of an aggregate of 593,854 shares of common stock to the Investors (the
“Amendments”). The shares were valued at approximately $1.0 million based on the fair market value of the
Company’s stock on the date of the amendment less a 10% discount to reflect the fact that the shares were
initially unregistered and therefore, not freely transferable. This amount was recorded as a non-operating expense
during the second quarter of 2006. The September 30, 2006 registration deadline was not met and in accordance
with the terms of the Amendments, an aggregate of 59,383 shares of common stock were issued to the Investors,
The shares were valued at approximately $166,000 based on the fair market value of the Company’s common
stock on September 30, 2006 less a 10% discount to reflect that the shares were unregistered stock. This amount
was fecorded as a non-operating expense during the third quarter of 2006. On November 9, 2006, we completed
the registration of the shares of common stock and the shares of common stock underlying the warrants issued to
the Investors. Mr. Nemelka is managing member of JFN Management, LLC, which is the managing member of
NightWatch Management, LLC, which is the managing member of NightWatch Capital Group, LLC, which is
the managing member of NightWaich Capital Advisors, LLC, which is the managing member of NightWatch
Capital Management, LLC, which is a managing member of NightWatch Capital Partners, LP and NightWaich
Capital Partners II, LP.
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2006 SUMMARY. COMPENSATION TABLE

The table below summarizes the total compensation paid to or earned by each of the named executlve

officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Non-Equity
‘ Option Incentive Plan

Name and Principal Position Year Salary' Awards (1)  Compensation (2) Total

Michael S. Fields G R 2006 $360,000  $2,249.477 $455,715 $3,065,192
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

Board of Directors - .

John M. Thompson ....................... 2006 $235,000 $ 113,288 $227.858 $ 576,146

Executive Vice President and Chief . ‘ .
. Financial Officer .

Jay A Jones(4) ... ... ... 2006 $ 68,519 $ 323,680. 3 43313 $.435512

Senior Vice President and Chlef , . ‘ ;
Administrative Officer

William Rowe ....... e e 2006 $424,594(5) $ 404,600 $ 45,707 $ 874,901

Senior Vice President, Global Sales and ' : I
Service : : - ‘

Willam A.Bose . ... ..o e 2006, $180,000 § 129472 $ 97,375 $ 406,847
Vice Premdent and General Counsel - 1 '

(1) Amounts reported represent the compensation cost recogmzed by KANA for ﬁnancnal reportmg purposes in
accordance with SFAS No. 123R (“SFAS 123R”) utilizing the assumptions discussed in Note 7 to our
consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31,

2006, without giving effect to estimated forfeitures: "
(2) Amounts shown to reflect the named executive officers’ bonus based entirely on KANA’s financial

(3)

(4)
&)

performance and the executive officers’ performance against his or her specified individual objectives'and
pursuant to the 2006 Executive Compensation Plan approved by the Compensallon Commltlee on Apnl 20,
2006. - . s
Mr. Fields is Chairman ‘of our Board of Directors and did not receive any compensation for his service as a
director. :

Mr. Jones became an executive officer in September 2006 upon joining KANA., '
Amount shown includes $256,886 for sales commissions for fiscal year 2006 paid by KANA,

W . . » N P
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2006 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The table below summarizes the incentive plan awards and option grants made to each of the named

executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Estimated Future Grant Date Fair
Estimated Possible Payouts  Payouts Under  Exercise or Base  Value of Stock
Grant Under Non-Equity Equity Incentive  Price of Option and Cption
Name Date Incentive Plan Awards Plan Awards Awards Awards (1)
Target Target

Michael S. Fields ...... 9/8/2006 $234.000 1,000,000(2) $2.95 $1,618,400
9/8/2006 389,939(3) $2.95 $ 631,077

John M. Thompsoen . . ... 9/8/2006 $117,000 70,000(2) $2.95 $ 113,288
Jay A Jones .......... 9/8/2006 $105,000 200,000¢2) $2.95 $ 323,680
William Rowe ......... 9/8/2006 $172,479 250,000(2) $295 $ 404,600
William A. Bose ....... 9/8/2006 $ 50,000 80,00002) $2.95 $ 129,472

(1} The amounts in this column represent the full grant date fair value computed in accordance with SFAS 123R

of all awards to the named executive officer in 2006.
(2) Grant made under KANA 1999 Stock Incentive Plan.

(3) Grant made under Broadbase Software, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan that was assumed by KANA on
June 29, 2001 pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among KANA, a wholly owned

subsidiary of KANA and Broadbase Software, Inc.

MATERIAL TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

Michael S. Fields Offer Letter. In November 2005, we formally entered into an employment offer letter with
Mr. Fields for the position of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, effective as of
August 26, 2005. Pursuant to the employment offer letter, Mr. Fields® annual salary is set at $360,000, payable
semi-monthly with an annual target bonus for the first year equal to 65% of Mr. Fields’ annual salary; provided,
that the Board of Directors has the authorization to award an additional bonus of up 10 20% based on

extraordinary performance.

Initially our Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors recommended that Mr. Fields be granted
options to purchase 768,000 shares of our common stock divided into two grants and subject to a “reference
collar,” which means that if the closing price of our common stock on the date on which Mr. Fields’ options are
granted is greater than the closing price of our commeon stock on Mr. Fields’ Start Date ($1.63), then the number
of shares for which Mr. Fields” options may become exercisable will be increased by the relative percent
difference in the grant date price and $1.63. Conversely, if the closing price of our common stock on the grant
date is less than $1.63, then the number of shares for which Mr. Ficlds” options may become exercisable will be
decreased by the relative percent difference in the grant date price and $1.63. The first grant of options was
supposed to become exercisable for 25% of the shares upon the completion of six months of service and the

remaining shares were supposed to become exercisable over eighteen equal monthly installments. The second
grant of options was supposed to become exercisable for 12.5% of the shares upon the completion of six months
of service and the remaining shares were supposed to become exercisable over forty-two equal monthly

installments.

Since we were not authorized to issue options until September 2006, the initial recommendation described
above was no longer applicable and the Compensation Committee granted Mr. Fields in September 2006 options
to purchase an aggregate of 1,389,939 shares of common stock with (i) 25% of 384,000 options vesting after six
months starting on August 26, 2005 and the remaining options becoming exercisable over 18 equal monthly
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installments and (ii) 12.5% of 1,005,939 options vesting after six months starting on August 26, 2005 and the
remaining options becoming exercisable over 42 equal monthly installments. In the event of a change of control
of 50% or,;more of the outstanding stock of the Company and Mr. Fields-is not offered a similar position in the
combined entity as held prior to the change of control, then 100% of the unvested shares held by Mr..Fields will |
immediately vest. If Mr. Fields is terminated for other than cause, then we will pay Mr. Fields an amount equal to
six.months salary in effect at the time of termmatmn . -

PR - p.,._.t
it

John M Thompson Ojffer Letter In October 2004 we entered mto an employment offer letter with PR
Mr. Thompson. Under the terms of the employment offer letter, Mr. Thompson will receive an anpual salary of .,
$235,000 and will be ehglble for an incentive bonus of an additional $65,000 per year based on the achievement
of objectives. We also agreed to recommend to our Board of D1rec}ors that Mr. Thompsen be gramed an option
to purchase 350,000 shares of our common stock that is subject to an acceleration of vesting upon a change of
control and if Mr. Thompson is not offered the same or similar posmon in the combined entity prior to the
change of control. ., L e

Jay A. Jones Offer Letter. In August 2004, we entered into an employment offer letter with Mr. Jones. '
Under the terms of the employment offer letter, Mr. Jones will receive an annual salary of $210,000 and will be -/
eligible for an incentivé bonus of an additional $105,000 per year based on the achievement of objectives and our
financial performance. We also agreed to'recommend to our Board of Directors that Mr. Jones be granted an
option to purchase 200,000 shares of our common stock that is subject to a six (6) months acceleration of vesting,
of any remaining unvested shares and a separation pay equal 10 six (6) months of his annual base salary upen a
change of control and if Mr. Jones is not offered the same of Slmllaf position in the combined entity prior to the
change of control. v et

I M ' 4 Y. vy

William Rowe Offer Létter. In January 2006, we entered into an employment offer letter with Mr. Rowe.
Under the terms of the employment offer letter, Mr. Rowe will receive an annual salary of $175,000 and will be
eligible for an annual targeted compensation at 100% of his quota, which will be $350,000 (including base salary
and vanable pay). We also agreed to recommend to our Board of Dlreclors that Mr. Rowe be granted an option to
purchase 100 000 shares of our common stock that is subject to an acceleration of vesting and to pay a separation
pay of four months of annual salary upon a change of control and if Mr. Rowe is not offered the same or similar
position in the combined entity prior to the change of control: In addition, in the event-Mr, Rowe’s. employmem
is terminated without cause, then four (4) months of Mr. Rowe’s unvested shares will lmmedlar.ely vest and
Mr. Rowe will receive a separation pay of four {(4) months of annual base salary.to be paid over a period, of four
months., . o . S e P L T N R

‘ IR o B O 140 1t
thham A. Bose Oﬁer Letter In November 2001, we entered into an employmem offer.letter with;Mr.,Bose.
Under the terms of the employment offer letter, Mr. Bose's annual salary was initiallyset at $84,000, but y
increased to $105,000 in January 2002 and incrementally thereafter. We also agreed to 're_cqmmend to our Board
of Directors that Mr. Bose be granted an option to purchase 38,573 shares of our common stock. .; - -
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2006

The table below summarizes outstandlng equlty awards held by each of our named executive officers at
December 31, 2006. :

Option Awards

Number of Securities Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised Underlying Unexercised Option Exercise (Option Expiration

Name . _ - Options Exercisable Options Unexercisable Price Date
Michael S. Fields .......... - 256,000 128,000 $ 2.95(1) 9/7/20t6
s ) 331,835 674,104 $ 2.95(2) 9/7/2016
JohnM Thompson . .......... 189,584 160,416 $ 1.73(3) 10/17/2014
7,656 9,844 $1.591(4) 3/1/2015
15,600 — $ 1.837(5 3/23/2015
11,667 58,333 $ 2.95(6) - 9/7/2016
Jay A Jones ................ — 200,000 $ 2.95(7) 9/7/2016
William Rowe .............. 22,917 77,083 $ 2.95(8) 9/7/2016
' 8,333 ' 41,667 $ 2.95(9) 91772016
—_— . 100,000 $ 2.95(10) 91712016
William A.Bose . ............ 3,000 — $17.00(11)  12/10/2011
" 2,500 — $14.41(11) 12/12/2011
2,100 ’ — $ 9.48(11) 4/30/2012
525 — 3 1Le3(1) 713172012
4,533 — $ LIS 9/22/2012
' 3917 .83 $ 3.3244) 172072013
14,583 5,417 $.4.74(4) 1/28/2014
8,750 11,250 $1.5914) 3/172015
3,300 — $ 1.87(11) 3/23/2015
13,854 - 21,146 $2095(12) . 9712016
7,500 37.500 . % 295013 91712016

(1) Starting from August 26, 2005, option vests as to 25% of the shares of common stock underlying it after 6
months and thereafter, the balance of the shares of common stock underlying it vests in equal successive
monthly installrents over 18 months.

(2) Starting from August 26, 2005, option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlymg it after 6
months and thereafter, the balance of the shares of common stock underlying it vests in equal successive
monthly installments over 42 months.

(3) Option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlying it after 6 months from the date of grant
and thereafier, the balance of the shares of common stock underlying it vests in equal successive monthly
installments over 42 months.

(4) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years.

(5) Option is fully vested and immediately exercisable. The price of the option granted is in excess of the fair
market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant, such fair market value being $1.67.

(6) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years, starting on April 20, 2006.

(7} Option vests as to 12.5% of the shares of common stock underlying it after 6 months from September 5,
2006 and thereafter, the balance of the shares of common stock underlying it vests in equal successive
monthly installments over 42 months.

(8) Option vests in equal successive monthly instailments over 4 years, starting on January 16, 2006.

(9) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years, starting on April 20, 2006.

(10) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years, starting on September 8, 2006.

(11) Option is fully vested and immediately exercisable.

(12) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years, starting on May 1, 2005.

(13) Option vests in equal successive monthly installments over 4 years, starting on April 20, 2006.
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Options Vested and Stock Vested

None of the named executive officers exercised stock options dunng 2006 and none of the named executive
officers hold restricted stock.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UpON TERMINATION OR CHANGE OF CONTROL

Pursuant to the terms of the employment offer letters, options held by certain named executive officers
provide for acceleration of ves‘ting and exercisability with respect to unvested shares upon a change of control
and if that named executive officer is not offered a similar or same position in the combined entity. The
following table summarizes the potential payments and benefits payable to each of our named executive officers
upon termination of employment or a change of control under each situation listed below, assuming, in each
situation, that our named executive officers were terminated on December 31, 2006 and the per share price of our
common stock is $3.15, the closing price on December 29, 2006. The amounts shown do not include the value of
payments or benefits that would have been eamed or any amounts associated w1th equity awards that would
have vested absent the mggenng event.

Voluntary No Change  Following Change

Termination of Control of Control
or ' ' Termination Termination
Termination  Other Than . Other than

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination for Cause = for Cause for Cause Death  Disability
Michael S. Fields ' . ) . o

Base Salary ............ e © $—  $ 180,000 § 180,000 $— @ $—

Bonus ... ... ... . .. — — — —_ —

Medical Continuation . ................. — — — — —

Value of Accelerated Stock Oprions .. ... .. —_ — 4,378,307 — —
John M. Thompson

-BaséSalary .............. .. ... . ..... $— $ 235000 -$ 235000 $— 5—

Bonus ... — — - —_ _—

Medical Continuation ... ... ... ......... — —_ — — —

Value of Accelerated Stock Options . ... ... — 1,076,446 1,521,765 — —
Jay A. Jones .

Base Salary ........ e 5 — $ — $ 105,000 $— $

Bonus ....... ... ... .. e — — — — —

Medical Continuation . ................. _ — — — —

Value of Accelerated Stock Options .. ... .. — — 127,764 —_ =
William Rowe '

BaseSalary .................... e $— $ 58333 $ 58333 $— $—

Bonus . ... ... .. .. .. . — — — — —

Medical Continuation .................. — — — — —

Value of Accelerated Stock Options ... . . .. — 187,532 1,102,500 — —
William A. Bose

BaseSalary ........... ... .......... . $— $ — $ — $— 55—

Bonus ... ... .. ... ... e — — — -— —_

Medical Continuation . ................. — . — —_ — —

Value of Accelerated Stock Options .. . . ... — — — — —
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The table below sets forth information regarding the ‘beneﬁcial ownership of our common stock as of
May 15, 2007, by the following individuals or groups:

* each person or entity who is known by us to own beneficially more than five percent of our outstanding
stock; '

* each of those officers and former officers of KANA whose summary compensation information is
provided under “Summary of Cash and Certain Other Compensation for Executive Officers” (referred
to as the “Named Executive Officers'™;

¢ each of our current directors; and

» all current directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment
power with respect to securities. Applicable percentage ownership in the following table is based on 36,210,790
shares of common stock outstanding as of May 15, 2007, as adjusted to include options and warrants exercisable
within 60 days of May 15, 2007 held by the indicated stockholder or stockholders.

Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each of the stockholders below is c/o Kana Software,
Inc., 181 Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, CA 94025. Except as otherwise indicated, and subject to applicable
community property laws, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of common stock held by them. To determine the number of shares beneficially owned by
persons other than our directors, executive officers and their affiliates, we have relied on beneficial ownership
reports filed by such persons with the SEC.

Number of Percentage

Shares of Shares

Beneficially Beneficially
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner ; Owned . Owned (%)
Executive Officers and Directors:
Michael §. Fields (1) .. ... it e i 844,100 2.3%
John M. Thompson (2) ... . oo e 344,559 *
Jay A Jomes (3) ... e e e e 45,339 *
Willlam Rowe (4) .. . e 70,551 *
William A, BoSe (5) ... e e e 82,200 *
Jerry R.Batt (6) .. ... o e 132,500 *
William T. Clifford (7) . ... . i e e et et 31,000 *
John F. Nemelka (B) ... . . i e e e e e 7,937,725 21.9%
Stephanie Vinella (9) . . .. ..o i i e 86,762 *
Michaei J. Shannahan (10) .. ... . e 50,000 *
All current directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons) (11) ............. 9,624,742 25.4%
5% Stockholders: ‘
NightWatch Capital Management, LLC (12} ....... ... .. .. ... iiiiiiiiinan. 7,912,725 21.9%
Empire Capital Partners, L.P. (13} ... ... 1,474,384 4.1%
Empire Overseas Funds / Charter Qak Funds (14) ..................... ... ... .... 1,555,616 4.3%

*  Less than one percent of KANA’s outstanding common stock

(1) Represents options that will be exercisable as to 844,100 shares as of July 14, 2007.

(2) Represents 60,000 shares held by Mr. Thompson and options that will be exercisable as to 284,559 shares as
of July 14, 2007.

(3) Represents options that will be exercisable as to 45,339 shares as of July 14, 2007,
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(4)
)

(6)
M

8

9

Represents options that will be exercisable as to 70,551 shares as of July 14, 2007.

Represents 165 shares held by Mr. Bose and options that will be exercnsable as to 82,041 shares as of
July 14, 2007.

Represents options that will b;a exercisable as to 132,500 shares as of July 14, 2007.

B

Represents 1,000 shares held by Mr. Clifford and optlon Lhat wnll be exercisable as to 30,000 shares as of
July 14, 2007. ‘ .

Represents options that will be exercisable as to 25,000 shares as of July’14, 2007 granted to Mr. Nemelka.
For 7,912,725 shares, based solely on information contained in an amended Schedule 13D/A filed by
NightWatch Capital Management, LLC (“NWCM") on May 22, 2007 with the SEC. Includes 6,317,273
shares of common stock held by NightWaich Capital Partners, LP and NightWatch Capital Partners 11, LP
(cotlectively, “NW Funds™) and warrants to purchase 1,595,452 shares of common stock by NW Funds.
Pursuant to Advisory Agreements with NW Funds and acting through its managing member, NightWatch
Capital Group, LLC (“"NWCG™), NightWatch Capital Advisors, LLC, (“NWCA”™) has the sole power to vote
or direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordingly, NWCA may be
deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Acting through its managing member, NightWatch
Management, LLC (“NWM™), and in its capacity as the managing member of NWCA, NWCG has the sole
power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordingly,
NWCG may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Actmg through its managing member,
JFN Management, LLC (“JFNM"), and in its capacity as the managmg member of NWCG, NWM has the
sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the dlsposmon of these securties.
Accordingly, NWM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Acting through its
managing member, Mr. Nemelka, and in its capacity as the managing member of NWM, JFNM has the sole
power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordlng]y,
JFNM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. In his capacity as managing member of
JFNM, Mr. Nemelka has the sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the
disposition of these securities. Accordingly, Mr. Nemelka may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of
these securities. Mr. Nemelka and each of the aforementioned NightWatch entities disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares held by NW Funds except to the extent of any indirect pecuniary interest (within the
meaning of Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act).

Represents 262 shares held by Ms. Vinella and options that will be exercisable as to 86,500 shares as of
July 14, 2007,

(10) Represents options that will be exercisable as to 50,000 shares as of July 14, 2007.

(11) Represents 7,974,152 shares held and options that will be exercisable as to 1,650,590 shares as of July 14,

2007.

(12) For 7,912,725 shares, based solely on information contained in an amended Schedule 13D/A filed by

NightWatch Capital Management, LL.C (“NWCM™) on May 22, 2007 with the SEC. Includes 6,317,273
shares of common stock held by NightWatch Capital Partners, LP and NightWaich Capital Partners 11, LP
(collectively, “NW Funds™y and watrants to purchase 1,595,452 shares of common stock by NW Funds.
Pursuant to Advisory Agreements with NW Funds and acting through its managing member, NightWatch
Capital Group, LLC (“NWCG™), NightWatch Capital Advisors, LLC, (“NWCA”) has the scle power to vote
or direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordingly, NWCA may be
deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Acting through its managing member, NightWatch
Management, LLC (“NWM?™"), and in its capacity as the managing member of NWCA, NWCG has the sole
power to vole or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordingly,
NWCG may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Acting through its managing member,
JFN Management, LLC (“JFNM™), and in its capacity as the managing member of NWCG, NWM has the
sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities.
Accordingly, NWM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. Acting through its
managing member, Mr. Nemelka, and in its capacity as the managing member of NWM, JFNM has the sole
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power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the disposition of these securities. Accordingly,
JFINM may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities. In his capacity as managing member of
JFNM, Mr. Nemeika has the sole power to vote or to direct the vote and to dispose or to direct the
disposition of these securities. Accordingly, Mr. Nemelka may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of
these securities. Mr. Nemelka and each of the aforementioned NightWatch entities disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares held by NW Funds except to the extent of any indirect pecuniary interest (within the
meaning of Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act). The principal business address of NWCM is 5314 River Run
Drive, Suite 350, Provo, Utah 84604.

(13) Based solely on information contained in an amended Schedule 13G filed by Empire Capital Partners, L.P.

{*Empire Capital”), Empire GP, L.L.C. (“Empire GP”), Empire Capital Management L.L.C., Scott A. Fine
and Peter J. Richards on February i4, 2007 with the SEC. Empire Capital, Empire GP and Messrs. Fine and
Richards share voting and dispositive power over 1,474,384 of these shares. By reason of the provisions of
Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act, each may be deemed to beneficially own 1,474,384 of these shares of
common stock directly owned by Empire Capital. The principal business address of Empire Capital, Empire
GP and Messrs. Fine and Richards is 1 Gorham Island, Westport, CT 06880.

(14) Based solely on information contained in an amended Schedule 13G filed by Empire Capital Partners, L.P.,

Empire GP, L.L.C., Empire Capital Management L.L.C. (“Empire Management”), Scott A. Fine and Peter J.
Richards on February 14, 2007 with the SEC. Empire Management and Messrs. Fine'and Richards share
voting and dispositive power over 1,555,616 of these shares. By reason of the provisions of Rule 13d-3 of
the Exchange Act, each may be deemed to beneficially own 1,555,616 of these shares of common stock
directly owned by Empire Capital Partners, Ltd., Empire Capital Partners I, Ltd. (the “Empire Overseas
Funds”), Charter Oak Partners, L.P. and Charter Qak Partners II, L.P. (the “Charter Oak Funds™). The
principal business address of Empire Management and Messrs. Fine and Richards is 1 Gorham Island,
Westport, CT 06880.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

We maintain the KANA.1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the #1999 Stock Incentive Plan”), which
has been approved by our stockholders, and the KANA 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Stock Option Plan™),
the KANA 1999 Special Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Special Stock Option Plan”) and equity compensation
plans assumed by us pursuant to acquisitions of cerain companies described further below, which have not been
approved by our stockholders. PO . . PR TR : -

1 . . - . N lad [
i . - . L ] . o . 1

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity C;)mpensa'tio'n Plans C

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2006:

(c}

(b} Number of securities
(a) Weighted- average remaining available for
Number of securities to be  exercise price of future issuance under
issued upon exercise of outstanding equity compensation plans
outstanding options, options, warrants (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders (1) {3) ............... 6,693,658 § 4064 1,689,230
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders 2} (3) ............... 50,383 $150.44 —
Total . ... e 6,744,041 $ 573 1,689,230

(1) Under the terms of the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, on the first trading day of January of each year, the
aggregate number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance thereunder is increased
automatically by a number of shares equal to 4.25% of the total number of shares of our outstanding
common stock on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year, up to a
maximum of 10,000,000 shares per year.

(2) Includes outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock under the 1997 Stock Option Plan and
1999 Special Stock Option Plan and excludes options, warrants and other equity rights assumed by us in
connection with mergers and acquisitions. Please see below for a description of our equity compensation
plans that do not require the approval of, and have not been approved by, our stockhotders.

(3) This table excludes an aggregate of 2,457,880 shares of our common stock that are outstanding upon the
exercise of options and an aggregate of 6,614,610 shares of our common stock that are available for future
issuance upon the exercise of options, with a weighted-average exercise price of $7.20 per share, under
equity compensation plans of the following entities that we have acquired: Broadbase, Software, Inc.,
Silknet Software, Inc., NetDialog and Connectify Inc. We assumed these options in connection with the
acquisition of these companies and have also assumed the following equity compensation plans: Broadbase
Software, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, Broadbase Software, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, Silknet
Software, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Silknet Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Option and Stock
Incentive Plan, Silknet Software, Inc. 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, Silknet Software,
Inc. Employee Stock Option Plan and Insite Marketing Technology, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan.

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved By Stockholders

KANA 1997 Stock Option Plan. Our 1997 Stock Option Plan provides for stock options to be granted to
employees, independent contractors, officers and directors. Options are generally granted at an exercise price
equivalent 1o the estimated fair market value per share at the date of grant, as determined by our Board of
Directors. All options are granted at the discretion of our Board of Directors and have a term not greater than 10
years from the date of grant. Options are immediately exercisable and generally vest over four years, 25% one
year after the grant date and the remainder at a rate of 1/36 per month thereafter. All outstanding options under

35




our 1997 Stock Option Plan were transferred to the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, and no further option grants will
be made or were made under the 1997 Stock Option Plan after such transfer. The transferred options will
continue 10 be governed by their existing terms, unless the Compensation Commmee decides to extend one or
more features of the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan to those options.

KANA 1999 Specwl Stock Option Plan. In December 1999, our Board of Directors approved the 1999
Special Stock Option Plan and 1,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan.
The 1999 Special Stock Option Plan has similar terms as those of the 1997 Stock Option Plan, except that
options may be granted with an exercise price less than equa] to or greater than the fair market value of the
option shares on the grant date. '

—r

36




CODE OF ETHICS AND CONDUCT

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct applicable to all directors, officers and
employees of KANA, as required by applicable securities laws and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of
The NASDAQ Stock Market. A copy of the Code of Ethics and Conduct is posted in the Corporate Governance
section of our Internet website at hitp://www kana.com under Investor Relations.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Stockholder proposals intended to be presented at our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be
received by KANA at its principal executive offices no later than February 17, 2008, in order to be included in
KANA’s proxy materials relating to that annual meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of Regulation 14A of the
Exchange Act. Stockholders wishing to bring a proposal before the 2008 Annuat Meeting of Stockholders (but
not include it in KANA's proxy materials) must provide written notice of such proposal to the Secretary of
KANA at the principal executive offices of KANA no later than 120 days prior to the date of the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to our bylaws. For more information about the procedure for submitting
proposals for consideration at a stockholder meeting, you may request a copy of our current bylaws from the
Corporate Secretary at the address set forth above. Our current bylaws have also been filed with the SEC on
March 28, 2003 as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are available at the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov.

Whether or not you plan to attend the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, please complete,
date, sign and promptly return the accompanying proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope so
that your shares will be represented at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

37




APPENDIX A

KANA SOFTWARE, INC.
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

I. Purpose

The principal functions of the Audit Committee (the “Commlttee”) of the Board of Directors (lhe “Board”)
of Kana' Software, Inc. (the “Company ") are to: !

*  Oversee the accounlmg and ﬁnancnal repomng processes of the Company and the audits of the
“financial statements of the Company,

v

« Oversee the Company's relationship with its independent auditors, including selecting, evaluating and
setting the compensation of, and approving all audit and non-audit services to be performed by, the
independent auditors; and

_« Facilitate communication among the Company’s independent auditors and the Coi'npaoy’g financial
and senior management. =

The Committée will fulfill these functions primarily by carrying out the activities enumerated in Part IV of
this charter. In order to serve these fubctions, the Committee shall have unrestricted access to Company
personnel and documents, shall have authority to direct and supervise an investigation into any matters within the
scope of its duties, and shall have authority to retain such outside counsel, experts and other advisors as it
determines to be necessary to carry out its responsibilities. The Company shall provide appropriate 'funding to the
Committee, as determined by the Committee, for payments of compensation to (i) the independent auditors for
audit services, and for any permitted non-audit services approved by the Committee, and (ii) any advisors
employed by the Commitiee as provided by this charter.

While the Commitree has the responsabzhues and powers set forrh in this charrer it Is not the duty of the
Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s financial statements are complete and
accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This is the responsibility of
management and the Company's independent auditors. '

’ n ¥

I Membership o .
All memberé of the Committee will be appointed by, and shall serve at the discretion of, the Board. Unless a

chair is elected by the full'Board, the members of the Committee may desngnate a Chalr by majority vote of the
Committee membership. . .

ta

The Committee shall consist of three or more members of the Board, with the exact number being
determined by the Board. Each member of the Committee shall bé “indeperident” as defined by the rules of The
Nasdaq Stock Market, as they may be amended from time to timé, and by rules and regulations promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) from time to time, except as otherwise
permitted by such-rules and regulations: Each member of the Committee shall have the ability to read and
understand fundamental financial statements and at least one member shall be a “financial expert” (as defined in
Item 401 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act) and have prior experience in accounting,
financial management or financial oversight, as required by The Nasdaq Stock Market rules.

III. Meetings ' - L

The Committee shall meet at least once each quarter and more ffequently as determined to be appropriate by
the Committee. The Committee shall meet at least once each quarter with the independent auditors out of the
presence of management about the Company’s internal controls, and procedures for financial reporting and any
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other matters that the Committee deems appropriate. The Committee members, or the Chairman of the
Committee on behalf of all of the Committee members, shall communicate with management and the
independent auditors at least once per quarter in connection with their review of the Company’s financial
statements.

IV. Responsibilities and Duties

The following shall be the principal recurring processes of the Committee in carrying out its oversight
responsibilities. These processes are set forth as a guide with the understanding that the Committee may
supplement them as appropriate and may establish policies and procedures from time to time that it deems
necessary or advisable in fulfilling its responsibilities.

A. Financial Reporting

1. Review and discuss with the Company’s management the Company’s quarterly and annual financial
statements, including any report or opinion by the independent auditors, prior to distribution to the public or
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. Review the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of the Company’s Forms 10-Q and 10-K
prior to filing with the SEC and discuss with management and the independent auditors.

3. In connection with the Committee’s review of the annual financial statements:

» Discuss with the independent auditors and management the financial statements and the results of
the independent auditors’ audit of the financia! statements.

¢ Discuss any items required to be communicated by the independent auditors in accordance with
SAS 61, as amended. These discussions should include the independent auditors’ judgments about
the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting principles and their assessment of the adequacy
and effectiveness of its internal controls, the reasonableness of significant judgments, the
procedures for financtal reporting and any significant difficulties encountered during the course of
the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of work or access to required information.

4. Recommend to the Board whether the annual financial statements should be included in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K, based on (i) the Committee’s review and discussion with management of the annual
financial statements, (ii) the Committee’s discussion with the independent auditors of the matters required to
be discussed by SAS 61, and (iii) the Committee’s review and discussion with the independent auditors of
the independent auditors’ independence and the written disclosures and letter from the independent auditors
required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1.

5. In connection with the Committee’s review of the quarterly financial statements:

* Discuss with the independent auditors and management the results of the independent auditors’
SAS 71 review of the quarterly financial statements.

+ Discuss significant issues, events and transactions and any significant changes regarding
accounting principles, practices, judgments or estimates with management and the independent
auditors, including any significant disagreements among management and the independent
auditors,

6. In connection with the Committee’s review of the quarterly and annual financial statements, discuss
with management and the independent auditors the Company’s selection, application and disclosure of
critical accounting policies, any significant changes in the Company’s accounting policies and any proposed
changes in accounting or financial reporting that may have a significant impact on the Company.
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7. Review and discuss .with the independent auditors the reports delivered to the Committee by the
independent auditors regarding: o . .

«  All critical accounting policies, estimates and practices used; | : o

+  All alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles
that have been discussed with management, the ramifications of the alternative, and the treatment
preferred by such independent auditors; and oL TR

. . . . .o ) C L St . St
»  Other material written communications between such independent auditors and Company
' management,-such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted differences. )

8. DISCLISS any comments or recommendations of the 1ndependent audltors ‘outlined in their annual
managemenl letter. Approve a schedule for 1mplemenlmg any 'recommended changes and monitor
compliance with the schedule,

9. Discuss with the independent auditors and management their periodic reviews of the adequacy of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting processes and systems of mtemal controls.

10. Consult with the independent auditors at least once per quarter out of the presence of management
about the Company’s internal controls, and procedures for financial reporting and any other matters that the
Committee deems appropriate. “ P . . caoe

. .
. : . : t

B. Oversight of Independent Auditors.

1. Select, appoint, determine the compensation of, and oversee the independence and performance of
the independent auditors. The Committee shall have the sole authority to appoint and discharge the outside
audntors The'Committee’s oversight of the mdependem auditors! performance shallificlude: -

+ ]

» Reviewing the mdependent audltors overall audll scope and plan and i e

¢ Communicating with the independem-auditors‘about the Company’s expectations‘.regardiﬁg its
relationship with them, including the (i) independent auditors’ ultimate accountability to the Board
and the Committee, and (ii) the ultimate authority and responsibility of the Committee to select,
evaluate and, where appropriate, replace the independent auditors.

2. Review and approve processes and procedures to ensure the continuing independence of the
Company’s independent auditors. These processes shall include:

« Obtaining and reviewing, on at least an annual basis, a letter from the independent auditors
describing all relationships between the independent auditors and the Company required to be
disclosed by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, reviewing the nature and scope of
such relationships, discussing these relationships with the independent auditors and discontinuing
any relationships that the Committee believes could compromise the independence of the auditors;
and

» Obtaining reports of all non-audit services proposed to be performed by the independent auditors
before such services are performed, reviewing and approving or prohibiting, as appropriate, any
non-audit services permitted by applicable law, and prohibiting any non-audit services not
permitted by applicable law. The Committee may delegate authority to review and approve or
prohibit non-audit services to one or more members of the Committee, and direct that any approval
so granted be reported to the Committee at a following meeting of the Committee.

C. Legal and Regulatory Compliance

Fow T . . . .
«, 1, Reyiew with management, at least annually, the Company’s program for promoting and monitoring
“~compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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2. Review on at least a quarterly basis the status of any legal matters that could have a significant
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

3. Review and approve or prohibit, as appropriate, any proposed related-party transactions with the
Company.

4. Annually prepare a report to the Company’s stockholders for inclusion in the Company's annual
proxy statement as required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, as
they may be amended from time to time.

5. Establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal accounting controis or auditing matters, and for the confidential, anonymous
submission by Company employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

D. Committee Governance

1. Maintain minutes of meetings and periodically report to the Board on significant matters related to
the Committee’s responsibilities.

2. Review and reassess the adequacy of the Commitiee’s charter at least annuaily. Submit the charter to
the Board for review and approval and include a copy of the charter as an appendix to the Company’s proxy
statement as required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, as they may
be amended from time to time (currently, once every three years).

E. Other Activities

1. Perform any other activities required by applicable law, rules or regulations, including the rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and any stock exchange or market on which the Company’s
Common Stock is listed, and perform other activities that are consistent with this charter, the Company’s
Bylaws and governing laws, as the Committee or the Board deems necessary or appropriate.

END




